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Financial Highlights
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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hEMBEHE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
2\ ZE-NE —E-TF —E--F| ZEZZE
HK§'milion ~ HKS'milion ~ HKS'million HK$'milion | - HK$'million
HEAT BHEAT BEATL BEAT HEAT
Revenue Wzs i
Restaurant, food and hotel &8~ & m KB /& 813 856 768 706 676
Property investment and WERERER
development 120 114 263 90 105
933 970 1,031 796 781
Profit Attributable to BARIEAA
owners of the Parent FE1G 5 F 317 278 14 81 4
Basic Earnings per Share BREAZRF
(HK cents) (7&1L) 25.27 22.12 1.12 6.44 0.25
Net Assets BEFE 3,958 3,830 3,563 3,831 4,078
Total Assets BEE 6,306 6,262 6,393 6,772 7,082
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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MA, Kai Cheung, PhD, SBS, BBS
(Honorary Chairman)

MA, Kai Yumn, PaD (Chairman)

MA, Hung Ming, John, PaD, BBS, JP
(Vice-chairman)

LIANG, Rui (Chief Executive Officer)
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DIRECTORS
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

LO, Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman)
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CHEUNG, Wah Fung, Christopher

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

WONG, See King (Chairman)
LO, Ming Chi, Charles
CHEUNG, Wah Fung, Christopher

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

MA, Kai Yumn, PaD (Chairman)

LO, Ming Chi, Charles

WONG, See King

CHEUNG, Wah Fung, Christopher

COMPANY SECRETARY
CHAN, Francis Ping Kuen

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda

i CHEUNG, Wah Fung, Christopher was appointed as an
independent non-executive director, a member of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee
with effect from 15 July 2021

WONG, See King was appointed as the chairman of the
remuneration committee with effect from 15 July 2021
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | would like
to present the Annual Report of Carrianna Group Holdings
Company Limited for the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s turnover was
HK$781,170,000 (2021: HK$796,026,000), slightly decreased
by 2% as compared to last year. The Group’s profit attributable
to shareholders was HK$3,822,000 (2021: HK$81,004,000),
decreased by 95% from last year. While the Group’s turnover
maintained approximately the same level as last year, the
decrease in profit attributable to shareholders was mainly
due to significant property revaluation gain recorded last year
and the government subsidies received by the restaurant
and bakery business last year, which was partly offset by the
improvement in the share of results of associates during the
year.

Although the pandemic gradually stabilized in Hong Kong and
the Mainland in the first half of the financial year, which situation
sustained into the third quarter, the occasional outbreak of
COVID-19 in the Mainland had caused disruptions to the
business intermittently.

However, with the outbreak of the fifth wave of the COVID-19
in the fourth quarter, the Group’s restaurant and hotel business
was severely affected. The city lockdowns and government
dine-in restrictions led to significant loss of operating days and
business in the restaurant and hotel business in Hong Kong
and the Mainland.

Construction of the 13 storeys commercial building situated
at the vibrant central district of the Guangzhou South high
speed train station in Panyu, Guangzhou was completed and
the property was delivered in October 2020. The addition
of the property to the investment properties portfolio in the
Mainland will bring additional rental income to the Group. The
office premises have achieved 100% occupancy to date. The
property has a guaranteed 4% annual investment return for 3
years.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

I

In Hong Kong, the Group’s 50% owned residential property
re-development project at Haitan Street, Sham Shui Po has
entered its construction stage of development. The project has
a buildable gross floor area of 42,500 sq.ft.. The commercial/
residential building comprises 115 residential units and 2 floors
of commercial shops. The pre-sale of the residential units has
commenced in July 2022. The project is expected to complete
by mid-2023.

The Group’s another 50% owned residential property
re-development project at Castle Peak Road, Sham Shui Po
is progressing well in schedule. The project has a buildable
gross floor area of 42,400 sq.ft.. As at today, the associate
has successfully acquired approximately 90% of the property
ownerships of the Phase 1 development, and it is expected all
the remaining units will be acquired by compulsory auction sale
by the third quarter of 2022. Site investigation and demoalition
works will commence thereafter. The project is expected to
complete by mid-2024.

Due to COVID-19, the Group had given rental concessions to
the tenants during the year. Still, the Group had recorded an
increase of 10% in rental income for the year. The increase
in rental income was mainly due to the addition of new rental
properties at Guangzhou South Station and Hainan to the
investment properties portfolio as well as the increase in the
rental income of other investment properties in the Mainland.

The food and restaurant business is another core business
of the Group. The business segment recorded a decrease of
4% in turnover from last year. Although there was a recovery
of the restaurant, bakery and hotel business in the first
three quarters as a result of slow-down of COVID-19, the
business was severely hit by the fifth wave of COVID-19 in the
fourth quarter of the financial year, resulting in a decrease in
turnover. Segment profit decreased by 51% from last year. The
significant decrease was due to the disruptions of the fifth wave
of COVID-19 to the restaurant, bakery and hotel business in
the fourth quarter and the significant decrease of COVID-19
government subsidies received by the restaurant and bakery
business as compared to last year.
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Food business turnover recorded a slight increase of 1%
from last year. While Carrianna mooncake sales amount
maintained at around the same level as last year, the increase
mainly came from the increase in turnover of the bakery
business. The bakery business in Hong Kong recorded an
increase of 16% in sales from last year. Profit Smart group
has recorded a decrease in profit of 49% from last year, which
was mainly due to the support of government subsidies of
“Anti-epidemic Fund” and “Employment Support Scheme” last
year. The factory direct sales business has continued to grow.
Management will continue to strengthen product development
and introduce more new products with the aim to boost sales.
Management has planned to increase the production capacity
by acquiring additional equipment in the coming year.

The Group’s overall restaurant turnover decreased by 10%
from last year. While there was the relaxation of government
policies on social distancing and restrictions on restaurant
business including number of diners and dining hours of
restaurants as the COVID-19 stabilised during the first three
quarters, the restaurant business was severely disrupted by
the fifth wave of COVID-19 in the fourth quarter of the financial
year, resulting in a decrease in turnover. Restaurant business
has recorded an operating loss during the year as compared
to a profit last year which was mainly due to severe disruptions
to the restaurant business of the fifth wave of COVID-19 in the
fourth quarter.

The new restaurant business line “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine
restaurants continued to perform well during the year. China’s
economy rebounded quickly during the first two quarters and
the Group captured the opportunity by opening the fifth “Shun
Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurant in Shenzhen in November 2021.
“Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurants will continue to contribute
in sales growth and profit for the Group.

In Hong Kong, the Carrianna traditional Chao Zhou restaurant
at Wanchai was closed for renovation in the February 2022 and
reopened in May 2022. The renovated restaurant will provide
new luxurious dining atmosphere and variety of Chao Zhou
dishes to the customers.
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Chairman’s Statement

I

As a result of increased vaccinations, the COVID-19 is easing
down and market is gradually recovering. However, there are
still economic uncertainties-inflation, rise of interest rate and
Ukraine-Russia War situation. Management remains positive
and cautious about the prospects of the Group’s business in
the coming year.

Management will continue to focus its business development
in the Greater Bay Area. Management is of the view that
consumer spending will remain strong in the area. The Group
will leverage on the branding and reputation of the “Carrianna”
Chao Zhou and “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine and will continue to
expand its restaurant business in a steady pace in the region.

On the property development side, while the investment
property portfolio in the Mainland continues to provide steady
income flow to the Group, there are stringent government
policies in place on the property industry. In Hong Kong,
Management believes that the limited land supply and strong
end-user demand will continue to provide support to the
residential property market. The Group remains cautiously
optimistic about the property business. The new Guangzhou
South Station Property and the two Shum Shui Po property
re-development projects will provide additional income return
to the Group in the short and medium term. The Group will
continue to look out for new commercial/residential projects
with investment value in the Greater Bay Area, in particular in
Hong Kong.

Building on the strong foundation of the Group’s food business
and capacity of the production facilities, the Group will continue
to expand its food business in the Mainland market. Besides
the Carrianna mooncake, the bread production line of the
advanced Hainan food factory has commenced its operation.
The factory is also expected to produce packaged Hainan-
style food and Chinese-style dry meat products. The Group
will introduce more new products and elements in the sector.
Management believes that food business will become the
Group’s another key driver of profitability and growth in the next
few years.
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The Group will continue to implement effective cost control
measures and adjust its business strategies in response to
market changes to increase its competitiveness. It is hoped that
COVID-19 will soon stabilize and business restrictions reduce,
and the new government regime and the Mainland government
will soon reach the arrangement of reopening the border
between the Mainland and Hong Kong, so that the economy
can recover as a result.

In addition, building on its solid fundamentals, the Group will
allocate additional resources to enhance its well-established
brand reputation in order to drive further business growth.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation
to the Board, management team and staff for their support
and dedication to the Group and to shareholders, customers,
suppliers and other business partners for their unfailing
support.

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2022
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EFERERERANAGE

HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MA Kai Cheung, PnD, SBS, BBS, aged 80, is the co-founder
of the Group. Mr. Ma has been appointed as Honorary
Chairman and re-designated as Non-Executive Director of the
Group since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma was re-designated as
Executive Director on 10 December 2020. Mr. Ma has over
30 years’ experience in the restaurant business and property
development. He was a committee member of the 9th,
10th and 11th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. He is the consultant of the
All-Chinese Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese, the
permanent honorary president of the Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese International Association, the permanent honorary
president of the Federation of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Community Organizations Ltd., the permanent honorary
president of the Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce
Limited and the permanent honorary president of the Hong
Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association. Mr. Ma is the
elder brother of Mr. Ma Kai Yum.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Kai Yum, PhD, aged 71, a co-founder of the Group,
has been an Executive Director of the Group since 1984,
and Chairman of the Group since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma
accumulated many years of management experience from
garment business, property development, hotel and catering
business. Mr. Ma is currently responsible for the important
decision-making and business development of the Group. Mr.
Ma is a former member of Guangdong Provincial Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
also serves as the life honorary president of Hong Kong &
Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association, the supervisor of Hong
Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association Secondary
School, the executive chairman of Hong Kong Changsha
Chamber of Commerce, the vice president of the Federation
of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organization, the vice-
chairman of the Chinese Manufacturers Association of Hong
Kong and the chairman of the Hong Kong Commerce, Industry,
and Professionals Association. Mr. Ma is the younger brother of
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.

Director and Senior Management’s Biographies
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

MA Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS, JP, aged 55, is an Executive
Director of the Group since May 2009. Mr. Ma joined the
Group in 1990 and was appointed Vice-chairman on 28
June 2019. He has been the Managing Director of Carrianna
Holdings Limited since April 2002 and is currently responsible
for the Group’s property development operations. He has
extensive experience in the catering industry, as well as
property management and development. Mr. Ma was awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from The Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003,
appointed Justice of the Peace (JP) in 2015 and a Honorary
Doctorate of Philosophy degree by Morrison University in
2004. In 2011, he was awarded the honorary citizen by the
Shenzhen government. He was the chairman of Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals for the year 2002. He is a member of Tung
Wah Group of Hospitals Advisory Board, a member of the
Standing Committee of Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and also serves as
the executive vice chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong
Guangdong Community Organisations, the vice president of the
Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce and the chief
president of the Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce, Qianhai.
Mr. Ma is an independent non-executive director of Liu Chong
Hing Investment Limited, the shares of which are listed on Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Ma is
the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies

EHERGRERABGHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

LIANG Rui, aged 47, is the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director of the Group since 2 January 2021. He is
a representative of Shenzhen Municipal People’s Congress.
He holds a doctoral degree in technical economics and
management from the School of Economics and Business
Administration of Chongging University and a postdoctoral
degree in applied economics from the School of Economics and
Finance of Xi'an Jiaotong University. Since 2000, Mr. Liang has
worked for the Shenzhen Luohu District People’'s Government
for nearly 17 years, serving various senior posts including
deputy director of the Letters and Calls Bureau, director of the
District Committee (Government) Office, director of the District
Civil Affairs Bureau, and secretary and director of the Party’s
Working Committee of Nanhu Street Office. He has served
as the chief executive officer of Shuibei Jewelry Group since
October 2017. Mr. Liang is currently a non-executive director of
Coolpad Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He
has served as the executive director of Coolpad Group Limited
from January 2018 to December 2020 and also their chief
executive officer from September 2019 to December 2020.

CHAN Francis Ping Kuen, aged 63, is the Executive Director,
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group.
Mr. Chan joined the Group as the Group Financial Controller
in June 2019 and was appointed Company Secretary of the
Company in November 2019. He was appointed Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Group on 1 March
2020. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Chan has held senior finance positions in a number
of listed companies and multinational corporations. He was
also the director of an investment and business consultancy
firm and has extensive experience in corporate finance and
investment in the Mainland and Hong Kong. He also possesses
substantial working experience in public accountancy practice
with an international accounting firm. Mr. Chan holds a
bachelor’s degree in Economics from the University of Sydney
in Australia. He is a member of the Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan is currently an
independent non-executive director of Ev Dynamics (Holdings)
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO Ming Chi, Charles, aged 72, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group
in 1991. Mr. Lo is a member of the CPA Australia and fellow
member of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia. Mr.
Lo is an independent non-executive director of Cash Financial
Services Group Limited. He was an executive director of
Winshine Science Company Limited from 3 October 2009
until 10 November 2014 when he was re-designated as non-
executive director and served until 18 December 2017. All
these companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. He has more than 30 years of professional and
business experience in financial and investment services in
Australia, Hong Kong and other Asian countries.

WONG See King, aged 60, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in August
2007. Mr. Wong is currently the chief financial officer of HAGER
Asia Limited, a subsidiary of the HAGER Group which is a
market leader of selling building hardware products in the
US market, being engaging for building hardware business in
China and Hong Kong. Mr. Wong had also worked as financial
and business executive in various Australian, UK and US
multi-national companies. He has over 20 years of working
experience in corporate finance, building hardware, consumer
goods manufacturing and distribution business in Hong Kong
and China and property development business in Australia.
He holds a bachelor's degree in Economics from Macquarie
University, Australia and is a member of the CPA Australia.
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

CHEUNG Wah Fung, Christopher, S5S, Jr, aged 70, is
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Cheung joined the Group in July 2021. Mr. Cheung
was formerly a member of the Legislative Council (Financial
Services) of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
He is currently the Chairman of Christfund Securities Limited.
He obtained an EMBA degree from the City University of
Hong Kong in 2007. Mr. Cheung has extensive experience
in the financial market and securities industry for over 40
years. He serves as a member of the National Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, the
honorary president of the Hong Kong Securities Professionals
Association, an elected director of the Hong Kong Chinese
General Chamber of Commerce, the president of the Hong
Kong China Chamber of Commerce, the honorary president
of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Association, the deputy
secretary of the Friends of Hong Kong Association, and the
vice president of the Federation of HK Jiangsu Community
Organization. Mr. Cheung is currently an independent non-
executive director of Tongda Group Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MA Hung Man, Raymond, aged 46, is the Executive Director
of the China Food Division of the Company. Mr. Ma graduated
from the University of California, Davis with a bachelor of
Science degree in Civil Engineering and he holds a professional
engineer license in civil engineering in USA. Mr. Ma has
substantial experience in food and beverage business. Mr. Ma
is the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.

LEE Chor Kwing, aged 55, is the Managing Director of the
China Food Division of the Group, Carrianna (Hainan) Catering
Service Co., Ltd. and Carrianna (Hainan) Food Processing Co.,
Ltd.. He has been serving the Group’s Carrianna (Chiu Chau)
Restaurant in Hong Kong since 1986. Mr. Lee has been in
charge of operation of Hainan Carrianna restaurant and food
business since 1993.

JIANG Benhua, aged 55, joined the Group in 1992 and was
promoted to executive chef of the Group in 1993. In 2016,
he was appointed as the Managing Director of Carrianna
restaurant group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiang worked
for a well-known restaurant group in Hong Kong. Mr. Jiang
has over 30 years of experience in restaurant operation and
management and has acquired honorary awards and positions
including Chinese Cooking Master, Golden Chef of Europe
Excellent Food Society, Shenzhen Top Ten Golden Chef and
Honorary Chairman of Asia Pacific Grandchef Society.

CHENG Ka Wah, aged 58, is the Managing Director of
Delicious Group Dining Services Limited and the founder of
the Delicious restaurant group. Mr. Cheng has more than 30
years’ experience in restaurant business. He is responsible
for business development and daily operation of the Delicious
restaurant group.

CHU Chun Fung, aged 61, is the founder of the Profit Smart
group and currently an Executive Director of Profit Smart Group
Limited. Mr. Chu has more than 35 years’ experience in bakery
business. He is responsible for business development and daily
operation of the Profit Smart group.
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Corporate Governance Report
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”), in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
which became effective on 1 January 2005. The corporate
governance principles of the Company emphasise a quality
board of directors (the “Board”), sound internal control,
principles and practices, transparency and accountability to
all shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed below,
the Company has complied with the CG Code throughout the
accounting period covered by this report.

In accordance with Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. Currently, the independent non-executive
directors are not appointed for a specific term. However, all the
directors (except Chairman) are subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the provision of the Bye-laws
of the Company and their terms of appointment are reviewed
when they are due for re-election.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the directors of the Company
have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard under the Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2022, the Board comprised eight directors,
including five executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The brief biographical details of the directors are set out in the
“Director and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 10
to 15 of this report.

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it has a good balance of expertise, skills, diversity of
perspectives and experience which can meet the requirements
of the business of the Company.

The directors of the Company have been appointed for a term
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company. According to Bye-law 102(A) of the
Bye-laws of the Company, director appointed to fill any casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting after their appointment and shall be subject to
re-election by the shareholders of the Company. According to
Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the
directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
(except Chairman or Managing Director) and shall be eligible for
re-election at each annual general meeting.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial
and internal controls and conduct of business in conformity
with applicable laws and regulations. All directors of the
Company have made full and active contribution to the affairs of
the Board and the Board has always acted in the best interests
of the Group.

The executive directors and senior management of the
Company are delegated with respective levels of authorities
with regard to key corporate strategy and policy and
contractual commitments. Management is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the Group with divisional heads
responsible for different aspects of the business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Company has adopted the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong in preparing the financial
statements, appropriate accounting policies have been
adopted and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgement and estimates have been made. The publication of
the financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board has reviewed the financial projections of the Group
and the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

The responsibility of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external
auditors, is set out on pages 78 to 86 of the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

BOARD MEETINGS

During the year, the Board met regularly and held four regular
board meetings. The attendance of the directors at the board
meetings was as follows:
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Number of
attendance
Directors BE= R E
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) BNBEE (E8FE) 15/15
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) ENREE(EE) 15/15
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) BBt E (BIEE) 15/15
Mr. Liang Rui (Chief Executive Officer) R T (TTHAEZL) 14/15
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen PoR A 1 5 A 15/15
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHITES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BRI L 15/15
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B 9/12
(resigned on 15 July 2021) (RZF=Z—F+HTHAFE)
Mr. Wong See King FEERAE 15/15
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher RER L 2/3

(appointed on 15 July 2021)

(RZF-_—F+ATHHAZRE)




BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate all directors’ attendance. Regular board meetings
are scheduled to be held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a board meeting
is given to all directors who are given an opportunity to include
matters for discussion in the agenda. If potential conflict of
interest involving a substantial shareholder or a director arises,
the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. The directors attend
meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.

Board papers are circulated approximately three days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary shall attend all regular
board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance, accounting and financial matters when necessary.
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary
shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a
package of orientation materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules, related
ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.
Updates are provided to directors when necessary to ensure
that directors are aware of the latest changes in the commercial
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) #EEE 50
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued) EEGER
According to the records of the Company, during the financial BEARRARFFLEE REE T - —F=
year ended 31 March 2022, the directors participated in the A=+—BIBHBEERN EEZLXEMUT
following trainings: -

Type of training
Directors BE= EIER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) BNBEE (E8FE) @)
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) (1.2
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) BB E (BlEE) M.
Mr. Liang Rui (Chief Executive Officer) R E (TTBHAEH) 1.2
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen PR 7 48 S A (1.2
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYkBITES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BEAS A M.
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B BEAE M.

(resigned on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=Z—F+A+AHEHF)

Mr. Wong See King BERBELE ()
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher SREW L L 1),

(appointed on 15 July 2021)

(1) Attending training sessions/seminars

(2)  Reading materials

(R—ZF-——F+AF+HHZET)
(1) HESEIEE e
2 BEMS



CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. For the year
ended 31 March 2022, Mr. Ma Kai Yum was the Chairman and
Mr. Liang Rui was the Chief Executive Officer, of which the roles
are separated and not performed by the same individual.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that
the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities,
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner. All directors have been consulted about any
matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. With the support
of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at any board
meeting and have received adequate and reliable information in
a timely manner.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors provide a wide range
of expertise and experience as well as checks and balances
to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders.
Their participation in the board and committee meetings brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company have been duly considered.

The Company has three independent non-executive directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. More than
one of the independent non-executive directors have the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
and considers that all the independent non-executive directors
are independent under the guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of
the Board and the Company’s affairs. All board committees
of the Company were established with defined written terms
of reference which have been uploaded to the website of
the Stock Exchange and that of the Company. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 1 April 1999 and
comprises three independent non-executive directors, including
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Wong See King and
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher.

A set of written terms of reference, which describes the
authority and duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by
the Board on 1 September 2004, amended and restated on 26
March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance with
the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
CG Code.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, internal
controls and review of the Group’s financial statements. The
Audit Committee is also provided with other resources to
enable it to discharge its duties fully.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and
the external auditors were in attendance. The attendance
records of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in
the table below:
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Number of
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attended/Total

number of

meetings

HEEERE

Directors BEx BEBRE

Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman) BRAR SE () 2/2

Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam EK@H&E 0N
(resigned on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=Z—F+A+AHHEHE)

Mr. Wong See King BERBELEE 2/2

Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher ?E%ﬂf%?ﬁi 11
(appointed on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=Z—F+AF+HAZF)

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company and Ernst & Young, the external auditors of the
Company, the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and has discussed auditing, internal controls and
financial reporting matters, including the review of the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration to Ernst & Young in respect of the services
rendered was as follows:

13 A
RRAB DB R RIS 2 BE 1T

2022 2021 2020

—E=-= —ET —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FET FHET

Audit fee Z RS 2,850 3,040 3,520
Non-audit service fees* IEAZ AR TS 80 240 145
Total 4=t 2,930 3,280 3,665

*

Non-audit services include taxation compliance and other
professional services provided

The Audit Committee had concluded that it was satisfied with
the findings of its review of audit service fee, process and
effectiveness, independence and objectivity.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 April 2005
and comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Wong See King (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles and Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher.

A set of written terms of reference, which describes the
authority and duties of the Remuneration Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 1 April 2005, amended and restated
on 26 March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance
with the code provisions of the CG Code.

The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of
remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key
executives to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that the remuneration policies and
systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and
strategies. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held two
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meetings. The attendance records of the members of the EFMKAEHEB AT
Remuneration Committee are set out in the table below:
Number of
meetings
attended/Total
number of
meetings
HESBRE
Directors BEx HERRE
Mr. Wong See King (Chairman) BERBEEE(LE) 2/2
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BB 11
(resigned on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=——F+H+7HEE)
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles B kAL 2/2
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher SREEE A 11
(appointed on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=Z—F+A+AHAZE)

During the year, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on executive directors’
remuneration packages and terms of employment. The
Remuneration Committee also formulated and evaluated the
remuneration policy and structure for the directors and senior
management of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of senior management by band

EW FHZEERATES HFMEFER

RGEFAEFTERELZZ -FMHZEST
%U.:T&HHEZIK AEFLEMRERABZH
PR R I A

EHERBREHEANEM

R KEEERTAD ZTAHEXFEB.1.5K
RE BE_T__F=-A=1t—BLHFE

for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below: REMWERE D 2 REBABNHESHI
LUl
Number of
individuals
A
Up to HK$1,000,000 % 171,000,0007% 7T 4
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7T 22,000,0007% 7T 4
HK$2,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 2,000,001 7T 25,000,000/ 7T 2
Further particulars in relation to the remuneration of directors HitbtEMEEME M AN FMES 2 1E S M

and the five highest paid employees’ remuneration as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in notes 8 and 9, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.

EMRELHRAME+NBETREZE—
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 26 March 2012
and comprises one executive director and three independent
non-executive directors, including Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman),
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Wong See King and Mr. Cheung
Wah Fung, Christopher.

A set of new written terms of reference, which describes
the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 26 March 2012 and the contents
of which are in compliance with the Code Provisions and
Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the nomination of directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including
reputation of candidates for integrity, accomplishment and
experience, professional and educational background.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting.
The attendance records of the members of the Nomination
Committee are set out in the table below:

"RHZEE®
RELEBEeN T —F=ZA -+ XBK
H—BWITEE N = RB Y IEITE B4R
BRERENMREE(EE) $HEXE - TR
B MOREIR S A

—heHzRAZEGEERESECS N
T-—F-A-+ANBEEEZSRMN HEA
REAZEGUZRREABE ETABARE
(BEEARTA) 2TABRXERRERERES
AR -

REZECAANEFRBERESR UERE
BEEAEEENENMERNEE AE AR
TEEZERERE RESFSFEHERM PR
H2PRET REZES2ENEERERE
ARBIEE KA RER EXRBEER-

FRN REZEEAF—XEH RLZES
REZHEREEMT

Number of

meetings

attended/Total

number of

meetings

HESERE

Directors BE= HERIE

Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) SNhREE (E/FE) 11

Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA 11

Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam & XA 1/1
(resigned on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=Z—F+A+HHFTE)

Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 11

Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher
(appointed on 15 July 2021)

RER A
(R=ZFZ—F+A+AHEHZE)



COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Chan Francis
Ping Kuen, who is also the Chief Financial Officer and Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree
in Economics from the University of Sydney in Australia and
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Chartered Accountants Australia and New
Zealand. Mr. Chan has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules for taking not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is overall responsible for maintaining an effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Group’s assets and its shareholders’ investments. The Board
oversees the operations of all the businesses units within the
Group and continuously reviews and makes improvements in
its risk management and internal control framework. Suitable
candidates are appointed by the Board to join in the boards of
all subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
to attend the board meetings and to oversee the operations
of such companies. The management of each business area
is accountable for these operation and performance of the
business under its area of responsibility. The Board conducts
reviews of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls
as well as the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the accounting and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board conducted semi-annual reviews on the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group covering
all material controls including financial, operational controls
and risk management pursuant to the Codes and considered
that all the material internal controls and risk management in
the Group were adequate and effective during the year. The
Board will keep reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems on a regular
basis to ensure that the systems in place are adequate.
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COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships
with the shareholders of the Company, the Company has
established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communications:

()  the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board;

(i)  updated key information of the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.carrianna.com to enable the
shareholders of the Company and the investor community
to have timely access to information about the Group;

@iy the Company’s website offers a communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and
investors;

(iv)  the rights of the shareholders of the Company are set out
in the Bye-laws of the Company; and

(v) the shareholders may put forward their proposals or
enquiries to the Board by sending their written requests to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Chairman and the directors are available at the annual
general meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders
of the Company or other interested parties.

CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)

The Board shall on the written requisition of shareholders of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at the SGM,
forthwith proceed duly to convene the SGM (“Requisition”). The
Requisition, which may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists, must state the
objects of the SGM and be deposited at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.

# ol R
BRTEBERREERNARERER ZIFEH
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CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)
(Continued)

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the Requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which SGM may be convened by the Board, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the aforesaid date of the deposit of the
Requisition.

All reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board to convene such a SGM shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Attendance of the directors at the last SGM which was held on
1 June 2021 was as follows:
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HEFERENBELZBEREREF —+—
BREXAFRABRRERIAE  AIREERD
ATHEPEARRE2BERALTARERE
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REZBRERNEFTEREAFZBRERAK
EMELEZMEGERX HERAKXRRM
WEEHAHE-

ESN_T—FX A-BRTZLRER
HRINEMEHRERAT :

Number of
attendance
Directors = R #
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) BNBiE (58FE) 0/1
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 11
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) BB EE (F/FE) 1/1
Mr. Liang, Rui (Chief Executive Officer) R (TTHAEZ) 0/1
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen BoR R e S A 1/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHITESE
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles B L 11
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B X E 0/1
(resigned on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=—F+A+AHHEE)
Mr. Wong See King HERBEE 11

Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher R EE IS S A

(appointed on 15 July 2021)
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PROPERTY

Turnover of property segment for the year ended 31 March
2022 was HK$105,026,000 (2021: HK$90,345,000), an
increase of 16% from last year. The increase was mainly
attributable to the sale of several property units at Lianyungang
and the addition of new rental properties at Guangzhou
South Station and Hainan to the investment properties
portfolio during the year. Segment profit for the year was
HK$56,990,000 (2021: HK$100,801,000), a decrease of 43%
from last year. The decrease in segment profit was mainly due
to the significant revaluation gain of the investment properties
recorded last year.

The Group’s rental income from investment properties for the
year was HK$94,298,000 (2021: HK$85,490,000), an increase
of 10% from last year. The increase in rental income was mainly
due to the addition of new rental properties at Guangzhou
South Station and Hainan to the investment properties portfolio
as well as the increase in the rental income of other investment
properties in the Mainland.

The Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town project is
in full operation, comprising the east tower of home furniture
and building materials centre with a total floor area of 109,000
sg.m. and the west and north towers of community, dining
and shopping mall with a total area of 164,000 sg.m.. The
associate is operating at a loss due to insufficient rental income
to cover the operating expenses. In an effort to improve the
operation of the shopping centres, the associate has entered
into a cooperation agreement with Kaisa Group Holdings
Ltd. (“Kaisa Group”) in September 2021 in relation to the
subcontracting out of the business operation and property
management of Phase 2 and Phase 3 of Dongguan Home
Town project to Kaisa Group. Since the introduction of Kaisa
Group, management has re-planned the building layout of
the entire Home Town project, resulting in an increase in the
leasable floor area. During the year, the Group recorded a share
of the associate’s property revaluation gain of approximately
HK$87,761,000. It is expected that there will be an increase in
the occupancy and value of the shopping centres.
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Carrianna Business Centre located at
Guangzhou South high speed train station
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Construction of the 13 storeys commercial building situated at
the vibrant central district of the Guangzhou South high speed
train station in Panyu, Guangzhou (“Guangzhou South Station
Property”) was completed and the property was delivered
in October 2020. The Guangzhou South Station Property is
a high grade commercial tower comprising the ground floor
lobby, all office units from 3rd to 13th floors and 75 car parking
spaces at the basement level. The total gross floor area of
the office units is 9,203 sg.m. The addition of the property to
the investment properties portfolio in the Mainland will bring
additional rental income to the Group. The office premises
have achieved 100% occupancy to date. The property has a
guaranteed 4% annual investment return for 3 years.

The Group’s 50% owned Haitan Street re-development
project, which is situated at 223-225A Haitan Street, Sham
Shui Po, Hong Kong has entered its construction stage of
development. The project comprises a site area of 4,729
sq.ft., buildable gross floor area of 42,500 sq.ft., and saleable
floor area of approximately 34,400 sq.ft.. The commercial/
residential building comprises 115 residential units and 2 floors
of commercial shops. The pre-sale of the residential units has
commenced in July 2022. The project is expected to complete
by mid-2023.

The Group’s another 50% owned Castle Peak Road re-
development project, which is situated at 300-306 Castle
Peak Road, Sham Shui Po, Hong Kong is progressing well in
schedule. The project comprises a site area of 4,709 sq.ft.,
buildable gross floor area of 42,400 sq.ft., and saleable floor
area of approximately 34,300 sqg.ft.. As at today, the associate
has successfully acquired approximately 90% of the property
ownerships of the Phase 1 development, and it is expected all
the remaining units will be acquired by compulsory auction sale
by the third quarter of 2022. Site investigation and demolition
works will commence thereafter. The project is expected to
complete by mid-2024.
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Red Star Macalline International Home Furniture Mall
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Hai Tai Street re-development project site at Sham
Shui Po
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Home Town Centre
REEERES

Home Town Furniture and Building Materials Mall
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Castle Peak Road re-development project site at
Sham Shui Po
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RESTAURANT, FOOD AND HOTEL

Turnover of restaurant, food and hotel segment for the
year ended 31 March 2022 was HK$676,144,000 (2021:
HK$705,681,000), a decrease of 4% from last year. Although
there was a recovery of the restaurant, bakery and hotel
business in the first three quarters as a result of slow-down of
COVID-19, the business was severely hit by the fifth wave of
COVID-19 in the fourth quarter of the financial year, resulting
in a decrease in turnover. Segment profit for the year was
HK$51,070,000 (2021: HK$105,049,000), a decrease of
51% from last year. The significant decrease was due to the
disruptions of the fifth wave of COVID-19 to the restaurant,
bakery and hotel business in the fourth quarter and the
significant decrease of COVID-19 government subsidies
received by the restaurant and bakery business as compared to
last year.

The Group’s overall restaurant turnover for the year was
HK$285,592,000 (2021: HK$318,675,000), a decrease of 10%
from last year. While there was the relaxation of government
policies on social distancing and restrictions on restaurant
business including number of diners and dining hours of
restaurants as the COVID-19 stabilised during the first three
quarters, the restaurant business was severely disrupted by the
fifth wave of COVID-19 in the fourth quarter of the financial year,
resulting in a decrease in turnover. Restaurant business has
recorded an operating loss of HK$19,389,000 as compared to
a profit of HK$10,298,000 last year which was mainly due to
severe disruptions to the restaurant business of the fifth wave of
COVID-19 in the fourth quarter.
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Newly renovated Carrianna Chao Zhou cuisine
restaurant at Wanchai, Hong Kong
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Newly opened “Shunyi” Shunde cuisine restaurant at
Futian, Shenzhen
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Yiyang Carrianna International Hotel
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Carrianna restaurant at Fuhua 1st Road in Shenzhen
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New commercial building at Kunming City, Yunnan
Province, with Carrianna Chao Zhou cuisine and
“Shunyi” Shunde cuisine restaurant and mooncake
exhibition centre
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Foshan Carrianna Hotel
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The new restaurant business line “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine
restaurants continued to perform well during the year. China’s
economy rebounded quickly during the first two quarters and
the Group captured the opportunity by opening the fifth “Shun
Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurant in Shenzhen in November 2021.
“Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurants will continue to contribute
in sales growth and profit for the Group.

In Hong Kong, the Carrianna traditional Chao Zhou restaurant
at Wanchai was closed for renovation in the February 2022 and
reopened in May 2022. The renovated restaurant will provide
new luxurious dining atmosphere and variety of Chao Zhou
dishes to the customers.

Food business turnover for the year was HK$368,361,000
(2021: HK$363,377,000), a slight increase of 1% from last
year. The increase in food business turnover mainly came from
the increase in turnover of the bakery business. Carrianna
mooncake sales amount maintained at around the same
level as last year. The advanced Hainan food factory has a
site area of 29,968 sg.m. and a total floor area of 58,114
sg.m. The advanced automatic mooncake production line is
in full operation and will significantly increase the production
capacity of mooncakes. The bread production line has also
commenced its operation. Besides, the factory is expected to
produce packaged Hainan-style food and Chinese-style dry
meat products. The Group will introduce more new products
and elements in the sector. Management believes that food
business will become the Group’s another key driver of
profitability and growth in the next few years.
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Gustation restaurant at Chung On Estate
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Hainanese Chicken Rice Set Malaysian Curry Beef Brisket
EEHBRES 55 2R 78 52 N E 4 il

37



Business Review

5 ¥ Il e

The bakery business in Hong Kong recorded an increase
of 16% in sales to HK$120,105,000 from last year. Profit
Smart group has recorded a profit of HK$6,102,000 (2021:
HK$11,942,000), a decrease of 49% from last year. The
decrease was mainly due to the support of government
subsidies of “Anti-epidemic Fund” and “Employment Support
Scheme” last year. The factory direct sales business has
continued to grow. Management will continue to strengthen
product development and introduce more new products with
the aim to boost sales. Management has planned to increase
the production capacity by acquiring additional equipment in
the coming year.

Hotel business has recorded a turnover of HK$22,191,000
(2021: HK$23,629,000), a decrease of 6% from last year.
The operating loss of the two hotels for the year was
HK$24,234,000 (2021: HK$15,685,000), increased by 55%
from last year. The refurbishment of hotel rooms of Foshan
Carrianna Hotel has completed in November 2020 and has
contributed to the increase in the room occupancy and thus
rental income. However, the operating results have been
affected by the occasional outbreak of COVID-19 and the
government restriction on the opening for business during the
year. Both hotels have achieved positive operating cash flows
during the year. The room rent and occupancy are gradually
increasing as COVID-19 has started to ease down.
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Newly opened Pal
BRILELUE LB RTE

Chocolate Paste Bun and Green Tea & Red Pork Tenderloin Hamburger and Chicken
Bean Bun Burger

RRORNBRERERALGE RINERREER

Taro Paste Bun Mooncakes from Empery Bakery
FES EES A Bt
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OUTLOOK

Although the pandemic gradually stabilized in Hong Kong and
the Mainland in the first half of the financial year, which situation
sustained into the third quarter, the occasional outbreak of
COVID-19 in the Mainland had caused disruptions to the
business intermittently.

However, with the outbreak of the fifth wave of the COVID-19
in the fourth quarter, the Group’s restaurant and hotel business
was severely affected. The city lockdowns and government
dine-in restrictions led to significant loss of operating days and
business in the restaurant and hotel business in Hong Kong
and the Mainland.

As a result of increased vaccinations, the COVID-19 is easing
down and market is gradually recovering. However, there are
still economic uncertainties— inflation, rise of interest rate and
Ukraine-Russia War situation. Management remains positive
and cautious about the prospects of the Group’s business in
the coming year.

Management will continue to focus its business development
in the Greater Bay Area. Management is of the view that
consumer spending will remain strong in the area. The Group
will leverage on the branding and reputation of the “Carrianna”
Chao Zhou and “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine and will continue to
expand its restaurant business in a steady pace in the region.

On the property development side, while the investment
property portfolio in the Mainland continues to provide steady
income flow to the Group, there are stringent government
policies in place on the property industry. In Hong Kong,
Management believes that the limited land supply and strong
end-user demand will continue to provide support to the
residential property market. The Group remains cautiously
optimistic about the property business. The new Guangzhou
South Station Property and the two Shum Shui Po property
re-development projects will provide additional income return
to the Group in the short and medium term. The Group will
continue to look out for new commercial/residential projects
with investment value in the Greater Bay Area, in particular in
Hong Kong.
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Advanced production facilities of the food factory in Hainan
78 B o R B 5% HE A E AR e

Food factory in Shenzhen Food factory in Kunming
RINE B EARmE
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Building on the strong foundation of the Group’s food business
and capacity of the production facilities, the Group will continue
to expand its food business in the Mainland market. Besides
the Carrianna mooncake, the bread production line of the
advanced Hainan food factory has commenced its operation.
The factory is also expected to produce packaged Hainan-
style food and Chinese-style dry meat products. The Group
will introduce more new products and elements in the sector.
Management believes that food business will become the
Group'’s another key driver of profitability and growth in the next
few years.

The Group will continue to implement effective cost control
measures and adjust its business strategies in response to
market changes to increase its competitiveness. It is hoped that
COVID-19 will soon stabilize and business restrictions reduce,
and the new government regime and the Mainland government
will soon reach the arrangement of reopening the border
between the Mainland and Hong Kong, so that the economy
can recover as a result.

In addition, building on its solid fundamentals, the Group will
allocate additional resources to enhance its well-established
brand reputation in order to drive further business growth.
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Festival

Well known Carrianna mooncake products
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OVERALL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s turnover was
HK$781,170,000 (2021: HK$796,026,000), slightly decreased
by 2% as compared to last year. The Group’s profit attributable
to shareholders was HK$3,822,000 (2021: HK$81,004,000),
decreased by 95% from last year. While the Group’s turnover
maintained approximately the same level as last year, the
decrease in profit attributable to shareholders was mainly
due to significant property revaluation gain recorded last year
and the government subsidies received by the restaurant
and bakery business last year, which was partly offset by the
improvement in the share of results of associates during the
year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s consolidated net
assets after deduction of non-controlling interests was
HK$4,078,405,000 (31 March 2021: HK$3,836,946,000) and
consolidated net assets after deduction of non-controlling
interests per share was HK$2.60 (31 March 2021: HK$3.05).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to HK$279,616,000 (2021: HK$413,573,000),
which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and
United States dollars of HK$77,237,000, HK$194,515,000
and HK$7,864,000 respectively. The Group’s free cash
and bank balances and structured deposits amounted to
HK$279,616,000 (2021: HK$563,222,000).
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As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s bank borrowings and
convertible bonds amounted to HK$1,629,186,000 (2021:
HK$1,638,199,000) and HK$58,171,000 (2021: HKS$NIl)
respectively. All interest-bearing bank borrowings bear interest
at floating rates. The convertible bonds bear interest at 3%
per annum. Netting off cash deposits pledged for borrowings,
the Group’s net bank borrowings were HK$1,643,884,000
(2021: HK$1,593,376,000). Net bank borrowings less free
cash and bank balances and structured deposits were
HK$1,364,268,000 (2021: HK$1,030,154,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was defined as the Group’s
interest-bearing bank borrowings and convertible bonds, net
of cash and bank balances, structured deposits, and pledged
time deposits as a percentage of the Group’s total equity, was
approximately 33.5% (2021: 26.9%).

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy in cash and
financial management. The objective of the Group’s treasury
policy is to maintain a sound financial position by holding an
appropriate level of cash to meet its operating requirements
and long-term business development needs.

The Group generally funds the operations from internal
resources, investment income and bank borrowings. The
liquidity needs mainly comprise general working capital,
capital expenditure and investment, and repayment of bank
borrowings and interest.

During the year under review, management closely monitored
the cash position of the Group from time to time to ensure
that it was adequate to finance the financial and operational
requirements. With the increase in the level of cash balance,
management will utilize it for appropriate investments in
accordance with the Group’s strategies and directions from the
Board.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN
RELATION TO THE SUBSCRIPTION OF
SHARES

On 8 March 2021, the Company entered into the Shares
Subscription Agreement with the Subscribers, Mr. Ma Kai
Cheung and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, pursuant to which, (i) the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and Mr.
Ma Kai Cheung has conditionally agreed to subscribe for the
94,281,565 Subscription Shares at the Subscription Price of
HK$0.45 per Subscription Share for a total consideration of
HK$42,426,704.25; and (i) the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, and Mr. Ma Kai Yum has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for the 94,281,565 Subscription Shares at
the Subscription Price of HK$0.45 per Subscription Share for
a total consideration of HK$42,426,704.25. The Subscription
Shares shall be allotted and issued pursuant to the Specific
Mandate.

The Subscription Shares represent approximately 15.00% of
the existing issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of the Shares Subscription Agreement and approximately
13.04% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged
by the allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares.

HERERRRERS

RZEBE-—F=ZANBH AARHERBEAS
NEEERBNRCETIRORERZ
Bt (VA ARE B GRt R EAL % R
MENEEECERFHRERREEER
R EE R 100.457 T 3R H894,281,565% 3R 8 IR
17 HRI(B HB42,426,704.25%8 70 ¢ R (i) AR 7
EBEGGERZERERET MENREE
EEGG TR ZIRREESTRAERD.45
& TC R 04,281,565 RIBAX 5 BRE A
42,426,704.257%8 Tt © 3R 88 IR 10 1§ AR 45 45 B 3%
RERL B R BT

REBROEERAR RN BERHE B H
ZHRBEDEITRARZ#15.00% % &8 B % &
HTRBRMOBEBRZARRDHEITRAZL
13.04% -



Upon completion of the Share Placing (which was completed
on 31 March 2021) and assuming all 125,708,754 Placing
Shares were placed by the Placing Agent, the shareholding
of the Subscribers and parties acting in concert with them in
the Company would decrease from approximately 49.69%
to approximately 45.17% of the issued share capital of the
Company. Upon completion of the Shares Subscription,
the shareholding of the Subscribers and parties acting in
concert with them in the Company would increase from
approximately 45.17% to approximately 51.75% of the issued
share capital of the Company. Assuming completion of the
Share Placing did not take place, upon completion of the
Shares Subscription, the shareholding of the Subscribers and
parties acting in concert with them in the Company would
increase from approximately 49.69% to approximately 56.25%
of the issued share capital of the Company. Given that the
Shares Subscription has the effect of increasing the holding of
voting rights in the Company by the Subscribers and parties
acting in concert with them by more than 2% from the lowest
percentage holding in the 12 month period ending on and
inclusive of the date of completion of the Shares Subscription,
unless the Whitewash Waiver is granted, the Subscribers
are under an obligation to make a mandatory general offer
to acquire all the issued Shares and other securities of the
Company not already owned or agreed to be acquired by the
Subscribers and parties acting in concert with any of them
pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code. An application
would be made to the Executive for the granting of the
Whitewash Waiver in respect of the allotment and issue of the
Subscription Shares. The Whitewash Waiver, if granted, would
be subject to, among other things, the approval by at least
75% of the votes cast by the Independent Shareholders by
way of poll in respect of the Whitewash Waiver and more than
50% of the votes cast by the Independent Shareholders by way
of poll in respect of the Shares Subscription and the Specific
Mandate, respectively, at the Special General Meeting (‘SGM”).
The aforesaid condition is not capable of being waived. If the
Whitewash Waiver is not granted, the Shares Subscription will
not proceed.
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As the Subscribers are executive Directors and substantial
Shareholders, the Subscribers are connected persons of the
Company as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Shares Subscription constitutes a connected
transaction on the part of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules and will be subject to announcement,
reporting and the Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements. The Subscribers and their respective associates
would abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions approving
the Shares Subscription, the Specific Mandate and the
Whitewash Waiver at the SGM.

As Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited charged
62,714,377 Shares in favour of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung as security
for the RMB50 Million Loan A and another 62,714,377 Shares
in favour of Mr. Ma Kai Yum as security for the RMB50 Million
Loan B, Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited shall also
abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions approving the
Shares Subscription, the Specific Mandate and the Whitewash
Waiver at the SGM.

Completion of the Shares Subscription took place on 8
June 2021 in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Shares Subscription Agreement. At the completion of
the Shares Subscription, 188,563,130 Subscription Shares
were duly allotted and issued as fully paid by the Company
to the Subscribers at the Subscription Price of HK$0.45 per
Subscription Share pursuant to the Specific Mandate obtained
at the SGM held on 1 June 2021, of which 94,281,565
Subscription Shares were duly allotted and issued to Mr. Ma
Kai Cheung and another 94,281,565 Subscription Shares were
duly allotted and issued to Mr. Ma Kai Yum. The Subscription
Shares represent approximately 12% of the enlarged fully paid
up issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the
Completion. The net proceeds from the Shares Subscription
(after deduction of relevant actual costs and expenses) are
approximately HK$83.3 million.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcements dated 8 March 2021, 10 May 2021, 1 June
2021 and 8 June 2021.
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PLACING OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 21 June 2021, the Company and the Placing Agent entered
into the CB Placing Agreement, pursuant to which the Placing
Agent has conditionally agreed to procure, on a best effort
basis, not less than six CB Placees who and whose ultimate
beneficial owners are Independent Third Parties to subscribe for
the Convertible Bonds of up to an aggregate principal amount
of HK$75,425,251.80. The Conversion Shares will be allotted
and issued pursuant to the General Mandate.

The 125,708,753 Conversion Shares (based on the initial
Conversion Price of HK$0.60) to be issued upon full conversion
of the Convertible Bonds represent approximately 8.00% of the
existing issued share capital of the Company at the date of the
CB Placing Agreement and approximately 7.41% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the
Conversion Shares.

The Convertible Bonds bear interest at 3% per annum and
mature on the date falling on the second anniversary of the
date of issue of the Convertible Bonds. The conversion rights
attaching to the Convertible Bonds may be exercised at any
time from (and including) the date falling six months after the
date of issue of the Convertible Bonds up to the Maturity Date.

Completion of the CB Placing took place on 15 July 2021 in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the CB Placing
Agreement. The Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$75,425,251.80 have been successfully placed
to two placees (who are Independent Third Parties), namely (i)
Mr. Chen Tie who has subscribed for the Convertible Bonds
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$38,000,000.00
and (i) Mr. Lam Hak Lun who has subscribed for the
Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$37,425,251.80, and the net proceeds of the CB Placing
amount to approximately HK$74.4 million.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcements dated 21 June 2021, 25 June 2021 and 15
July 2021.
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DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION IN
RELATION TO FORMATION OF JOINT
VENTURE COMPANIES

On 24 June 2021, Tak Sing Asia Inc. (“Tak Sing”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as purchaser,
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with Quentin
Tsang, as vendor, in relation to the sale and purchase of the
sale shares and sale loan of Power Aim Holdings Limited
(“Power Aim”) (“SPA (Power Aim)”). On the same day, Tak Sing,
as vendor, entered into the sale and purchase agreement with
Jun Gao Holdings Company Limited, as purchaser, in relation
to the sale shares of Fine Trade Developments Limited (“Fine
Trade”) (“SPA (Fine Trade)”). The formation of such joint venture
companies is to engage in the holding of the property at the
twelfth floor and flat roof B2 on the seventh floor of Tower Two
of Ever Gain Plaza No.88 Container Port Road, Hong Kong
with a total gross floor area of approximately 29,919 sq.ft. (the
“Property”) and the operation of data centre business on the
Property.

The aggregate consideration for the sale and purchase of
the sale shares (representing 87% of the issued share capital
of Power Aim) and the sale loan (representing 87% of the
shareholders’ loan due by Power Aim to Quentin Tsang) under
the SPA (Power Aim) is in the amount of HK$11,773,773. The
consideration for the sale and purchase of the sale shares
(representing 13% of the issued share capital of Fine Trade)
under the SPA (Fine Trade) is HK$101.

Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement of Power Aim, Tak
Sing and Quentin Tsang shall provide unsecured interest-free
shareholder’s loans of HK$21,750,000 and HK$3,250,000
respectively to Power Aim. In addition, Tak Sing shall provide
an additional unsecured shareholder’s loan of HK$82,000,000
to Power Aim, which shall carry interest at the rate of 3 %
per annum. Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement of Fine
Trade, Tak Sing and Jun Gao Holdings Limited shall provide
unsecured interest-free shareholder’s loans of HK$21,750,000
and HK$3,250,000 respectively to Fine Trade.
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Completion of the transactions took place on 30 June 2021
upon the fulfillment of all the conditions precedent set out in
the SPA (Power Aim) and the SPA (Fine Trade). Following the
completion, Power Aim becomes an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company and the financial results of Power
Aim and its subsidiaries will be consolidated into the financial
statements of the Group, and Fine Trade becomes an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial
results of Fine Trade and its subsidiaries will continue to be
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcements dated 24 June 2021 and 30 June 2021

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION IN
RELATION TO THE ENTERING INTO OF
COOPERATION AGREEMENT

On 11 November 2021, EZM ORI EE B R 2 A
(Carrianna (Shenzhen) Business Company Limited#) (the
“Subsidiary”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Cooperation Agreement with
Mr. Zheng Junjia (“Mr. Zheng”), & I T %L & Bl & 1E &
BRI RKEEABR QA (Shenzhen Shi Shenshan Special
Cooperation Zone Yuhe Tiancheng Industrial Company
Limited#) (“Yuhe Tiancheng”), ER FILFMILELERER A
Al (Guangdong Shenshan Sengang Investment Development
Company Limited#) (“Sengang Investment”) and Mr. Huang
Jian (“Mr. Huang”) in relation to the cooperation in the
Property Development Project (as defined below) involving,
among others, the provision of the funding in the amount
of up to RMB120,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$146,400,000) (the “Funding”).

Yuhe Tiancheng is wholly-owned by Mr. Zheng and is principally
engaged in property development. Sengang Investment is
owned as to 10% by Mr. Huang and is principally engaged in
property investment and development.

*for identification purpose only
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Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, Yuhe Tiancheng
and Sengang Investment shall jointly participate in the bidding
of the land (the “Land”) located at the southwest of the
junction of Shenshan Avenue and Bianxi River, Ebu Area,
Shenshan Special Cooperation Zone, the PRC, with site area
of approximately 15,290 square metres and Yuhe Tiancheng
shall undertake a property development project (the “Property
Development Project”) on the Land. The Land is for commercial
use with a plot ratio of not more than 3.0. The maximum gross
floor area based on the plot ratio of the Land is approximately
45,870 square metres. If Yuhe Tiancheng and Sengang
Investment succeed in the bidding of the Land, the interest in
the Land shall be owned as to 93% by Yuhe Tiancheng and as
to 7% by Sengang Investment.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, (i) Yuhe Tiancheng
shall be responsible for the development of the Property
Development Project; (i) Sengang Investment shall be entitled
to share properties of 3,360 square metres of the Property
Development Project (“7% Project Interest”); (iii) the Subsidiary
shall provide the Funding for paying the land transferring fee for
the Land; and (iv) Mr. Zheng shall be responsible for all other
development costs of the Property Development Project and
the shortfall of the land transferring fee for the Land (if any).

The provision of the Funding shall be for a term of two (2)
years commencing from the date on which Yuhe Tiancheng
and Sengang Investment succeed in the bid of the Land. Mr.
Zheng and Yuhe Tiancheng undertake that the construction
of the Property Development Project shall be completed and
presale shall take place within two (2) years commencing from
the date on which Yuhe Tiancheng and Sengang Investment
succeed in the bid of the Land, and not less than 40% of the
cash proceeds from the pre-sale of the Property Development
Project shall be utilised to repay the Funding to the Subsidiary
until the Funding is fully repaid.

Mr. Zheng and Yuhe Tiancheng undertake that the Funding
shall carry interest at 1.2% per month which is payable
quarterly, which is arrived at after arm’s length negotiations
between Mr. Zheng and the Subsidiary having considered the
current market condition.
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Mr. Zheng and Yuhe Tiancheng undertake that upon
completion of the construction and the obtaining of the presale
permit of the Property Development Project, Mr. Zheng shall
transfer to the Subsidiary at no cost apartment type offices
of 3,800 square metres (the “Designated Properties”). The
Subsidiary may opt to engage Mr. Zheng to sell the Designated
Properties at the then prevailing market price and transfer the
sale proceeds to the Subsidiary’s designated bank account.
The location of the Designated Properties shall be determined
by lot drawing from the fourth floor to the twelfth floor of the
office buildings.

Save for the repayment of the Funding and the interest accrued
thereon, and the Designated Properties, the Subsidiary is not
entitled to the rights, properties and interest of the Property
Development Project. The repayment of the Funding and the
interest accrued thereon, and the Designated Properties shall
be derived from the interest in the Property Development
Project owned by Yuhe Tiancheng and shall not affect the 7%
Project Interest in the Property Development Project owned by
Sengang Investment.

Mr. Zheng agrees that 100% equity interest in Yuhe Tiancheng
will be pledged in favour of the Subsidiary as security for the
repayment of the Funding, the interest accrued thereon, the
Designated Properties interest and the payment of default
payment and enforcement costs under the Cooperation
Agreement. Mr. Zheng, Yuhe Tiancheng, Sengang Investment
and Mr. Huang agree that 100% interest in the Land will
be charged in favour of the Subsidiary as security for the
repayment of the Funding, the interest accrued thereon, the
Designated Properties interest and the payment of default
payment and enforcement costs under the Cooperation
Agreement within two business days from the date on which
Yuhe Tiancheng and Sengang Investment obtained the land
certificate of the Land. Mr. Zheng guarantees the performance
of the obligations of Yuhe Tiancheng under the Cooperation
Agreement.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcement dated 11 November 2021.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

Set out below are the fundraising activities of the Company
during the past 12 months and use of proceeds immediately
preceding the date of this report:

B 15 5k E i
FXHPIAR AR BE AR S AHABE T
6A2REEDRAGREMS

Actual use of

Date of proceeds up to the
announcement Events Net proceeds Intended use of proceeds date of this report
EERHEAHZ
AR E FREREFE FEREREAR FEREERAR
8 March 2021, Placing of 125,708,754 Shares ~ Approximately Repayment of bank borrowings ~ Approximately HK$55.7
31 March 2021 under the general mandate HK$55.7 million million for repayment of
granted by the Shareholders at bank borrowings
the annual general meeting on
28 August 2020
ZZ--#ZANR  BERER-Z_ZFN\A #)55,700,00087T  EBRRITEN #955,700,0007 A EREE
—E-—-%=A “tNBZBRRBERE RITER
=+—H TREZ-REERE
125,708,7548% i 7
8 March 2021, Subscription of 188,563,130 Approximately Repayment of bank Approximately HK$34.9
10 May 2021, Shares under the specific HK$83.3 million borrowings of approximately million for repayment
1 June 2021, mandate granted by the HK$34.9 million; salary of bank borrowings;
8 June 2021 Shareholders at the special expense, directors’ fee approximately HK$14.2
general meeting on 1 June and consultancy fee of million for salary
2021 approximately HK$14.2 expense, directors’
million; professional fee and consultancy
fee of approximately fee; approximately
HK$5.4 million; utility and HK$5.4 million for
administrative expenses professional fee;
of approximately HK$12.2 approximately HK$12.2
million; and rental million for utility and
expenses of the Group of administrative expenses;
approximately HK$16.6 and approximately
million HK$16.6 million for rental
expenses of the Group
ZE-F=ANE- RBERERZTZ-F,A—H #83300000%8 5 fE&HTE434,900,000 #134,900,0003% 7L A {E1E
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Actual use of

Date of proceeds up to the
announcement Events Net proceeds Intended use of proceeds date of this report
EEXHEASZ
R E FREREFE FRERERERR FEREERAR
21 June 2021, Placing of convertible bonds, Approximately Repayment of bank borrowings ~ Approximately HK$24.4
25 June 2021, which are convertible into HK$74.4 million of approximately HK$24.4 million for repayment of
15 July 2021 125,708,753 Conversion million; and business bank borrowings; and
Shares, under the general development of the Group approximately HK$50.0
mandate granted by the of approximately HK$50.0 million for business
Shareholders at the annual million development of the
general meeting on 28 August Group
2020
T izxﬂ T— RERFERZZZZF)N\A #]74,400,0008 70  BBIRITIEF4924,400,000  #124,400,0008 LAEER
BZZZ—-FXA ZTNBZBRRBEAE L& TRRAGEZERBER BROERURAREYZ
ZTRAZEZ-F Hz-MEERETARES #150,000,000% T %7578 #950,000,000
tA+ER (A BB A8 5125,708,753 BT
FREBHRR )
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES g AR K

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contingent liabilities relating to guarantees given to banks for
mortgage loan facilities granted to purchasers of properties of
approximately HK$143,000 (2021: HK$1,858,000).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, time
deposits and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
with a total carrying value of approximately HK$2,604,743,000
(2021: HK$2,446,667,000) were pledged to secure general
banking, trade finance and other facilities granted to the Group.
In addition, rental income generated in respect of certain
investment properties of the Group was assigned to banks to
secure loan facilities granted to the Group.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions as at 31 March 2022 and for the year then ended
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
Majority of the sales, purchases and expenditure incurred
by the operating units of the Group during the year were
denominated in the units’ functional currencies and as a result,
the Group does not anticipate significant transactional currency
exposures. The Group has not used any derivative to hedge its
exposure to foreign currency risk.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group’s staff consists of approximately 400 employees
in Hong Kong and approximately 1,000 employees outside
Hong Kong (Mainland China). Employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group’s salary and bonus system.
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The directors herein present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group faces and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, can be found in the
Business and Financial Review set out on pages 30 to 56 of
this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 87 to 258.

The directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK1 cent per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March
2022. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the final dividend will be
paid on or before 13 October 2022.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
Annual General Meeting

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 23 August 2022 to Friday, 26 August 2022, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order for a shareholder to be eligible to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong (before 15 August 2022) and at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (from 15
August 2022), not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 22 August,
2022.

Dividend

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 15 September 2022 to Friday, 16 September
2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual
General Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
(before 15 August 2022) and at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (from 15 August 2022), not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 14 September 2022.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table set out below summarises the results, assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March/At 31 March
HE=A=t+-ALEE /R=A=1-H

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—B--f —Z--— —“E-FF  —E-NF ZT-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FTET TET TET TEL
RESULTS E
REVENUE KA 781,170 796,026 1,031,070 970,210 932,620
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ERRF 25,111 110,537 14,861 300,720 331,402
Attrioutable to: e
Owners of the parent BAREBA 3,822 81,004 14,123 277,958 317,017
Non-controlling interests EERER 21,289 29,533 738 22,762 14,385
25,111 110,537 14,861 300,720 331,402
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EE AR
NON-CONTROLLING FERER
INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS HEE 7,081,620 6,771,712 6,393,211 6,261,702 6,306,272
TOTAL LIABILITIES “eRE (3,003,215)  (2,940,504)  (2,830,207)  (2,431,636)  (2,348,599)
NON-CONTROLLING FERER
INTERESTS 8,268 5,738 36,355 39,744 (215)

4,086,673

3,836,946

3,599,359

3,869,810

3,957,458
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 33 and 34 to the
financial statements, respectively.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provision of The
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, amounted to approximately
HK$28,675,000. In addition, the amount of approximately
HK$1,505,959,000 previously included in the Company’s share
premium account may be distributed in the form of fully-paid
bonus shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totalling approximately HK$841,000 (2021: HK$927,000).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the Group’s sales to the five largest
customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and
purchases for the year respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders, which to the best knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total number
of issued shares, had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining the highest environmental and social standards to
ensure sustainable development of its business. The Group
has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to
its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and the environment. The Group understands
that a better future depends on everyone’s participation
and contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental
and social activities which benefit the community as a whole.
The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided
high quality products and services to its customers so as to
ensure sustainable development.

A separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report
conducted by a professional third party will be published in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman)
Ma Kai Yum (Chairman)

Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman)
Liang, Rui (Chief Executive Officer)
Chan Francis Ping Kuen

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Lo Ming Chi, Charles

Lo Man Kit, Sam (resigned on 15 July 2021)

Wong See King

Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher (@ppointed on 15 July 2021)

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John, Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen and
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
directors, and as at the date of this report still considers them
to be independent.

®H

RAFERBEAREARZIARAESZE
e

HITESE:

ENE(FELE)

BN (EE)

HE (BIEE)

R (7TBARE,)

BoR A 1

BIEHITES:

R

EX (R —FE=-—F+HA+FHEE)
=B

REWY (R —E-—F+A+HAZF)

REBEARRIM R RIARIERME - BB
£ RINERERSABEERRESE K
FABEEARIBEANGRITORRBFEX
g HREE T

EESCRESEUIFNTESENFERY
BRE MRAREAE ZBUERTES
DR RBILAL



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 10 to 15 of
the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Liang Rui and Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen had entered into
a service contract with the Company. The contract has no fixed
terms of engagement and is subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws and termination by either
party giving three months’ notice in writing.

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, Mr. Ma Kai Yum and Mr. Ma Hung Ming,
John had no service contract with the Company as at the end
of the reporting period.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
been appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
March 2022 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouses or
minor children to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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EROGWMEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S FEERFERABRN KD KM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN Mz iR RIRE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the R -_ZE - —"HF=A=+—H ARQARIZES
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, N =EZBITEA B AR 7] sk & (] 15 A B
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of (F&ER (FEHFRHBEEH) ([ (BEMPE
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of &) |) EXVED) Z i) ~ BRI REHT
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) as recorded A 2w AR @ BERLRARAIRE (&
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant % R EIEEH]) FEI2EMEATEE 2 ER
to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the A : SR iE E AR B 2 ZESFRIZB B 1TH
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model &R QARKREIZHZEZREABIT
Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) The Company (a) A2H
Underlying
Number of ordinary shares held shares Percentage of
and nature of interests pursuant to the Company’s
Capacity/ Personal Family Other  share options issued share
Name of director nature of interests interests interests interests (note 1) Total capital
REBREZ
BELERRABERBEEE HERAE A HARABERST
BEpR B/ BRME AR FirER HihER (Fi3E1) At BRARGE
Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, security 361,283,986 7,060,000 259,129,025 - 627463011 () 39.93
BNE interest in shares, interest (note 7) (note 2) (note 3)
of spouse and beneficiary (KsE7) GE) GiER)
of trust
EREAA BRRDER
REERREEZRA
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, security 204,198,714 3,200,000 101,201,040 - 308,599,754 (1) 19.64
BN interest in shares, interest (note 7) (note 4) (notes 5 & 6)
of spouse and beneficiary (Ht3E7) GED (F3E5706)
of trust
ERfAA BRRDER
REERREEZRA
Ma Hung Ming, John Beneficial owner 476,000 = = 2,000,000 2,476,000 (L) 0.16
Hhs ERBAA
Chan Francis Ping Kuen  Beneficial owner - - - 6,000,000 6,000,000 (L) 0.38
RmE ERBAA

L — Long position #f &




DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(Continued)

(a) The Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) The underlying shares represent interests of options
granted to the directors and senior executive under the
2015 Share Option Scheme to acquire shares of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 34 to
the financial statements.

(2)  The shares were owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the spouse of
Ma Kai Cheung.

(8) Ma Kai Cheung and his family are the beneficiaries of
a discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire
issued share capital of Regent World Investments Limited
(“Regent World”) and 70% of the entire issued share
capital of Bond Well Investments Limited (“Bond Well”).
At the end of the reporting period, Regent World owned
184,121,625 shares and Bond Well owned 75,007,400
shares of the Company.

(4)  The shares were owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the spouse of
Ma Kai Yum.

(5) Ma Kai Yum and his family are the beneficiaries of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire issued
share capital of Grand Wealth Investments Limited (“Grand
Wealth”) and Peaceful World Limited (“Peaceful World”).
At the end of the reporting period, Grand Wealth owned
74,651,040 shares and Peaceful World owned 19,050,000
shares of the Company.

(6) Peaceful World owns the entire issued share capital of
Real Potential Limited (‘Real Potential”). At the end of
the reporting period, Real Potential owned 7,500,000
shares of the Company. The interests of Real Potential in
the Company are therefore deemed to be the interests of
Peaceful World in which Ma Kai Yum is also deemed to
have interests for the reason as stated in note 5 above.

(7)  Included in “Personal interests” are 125,428,754 shares
owned by Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited, of
which 62,714,377 shares were charged in favour of Ma
Kai Cheung, and 62,714,377 shares were charged in
favour of Ma Kai Yum.
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EROGWMEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S FEERFERABRN KD KM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN Bz B kA ()
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(Continued)
(b) Subsidiaries (b) W& A
Percentage of
the subsidiary’s
issued share
Number of Type of capital (ordinary
Name of subsidiary Name of director  Capacity shares held (L) shares shares)
EHEAR
ERTREABDL
WEARARE E3HE 54 FEROHA L bl (BER)
Ginza Development Company Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 15 Ordinary 2.5
Limited
EUEERBRAA ENE ERBEA LRR
Ginza Development Company Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 18 Ordinary 3
Limited
EUEERBRAA ENR FEREXEA LRR
Gartrend Development Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
FRERARAA ENE ERBEBA BERERE TR
Tkt
Gartrend Development Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
RRERARAA BN EmfBA BRERE TEmA
T/
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 9,000 Non-voting N/A
N deferred
BNE EmBBA BREEE i
TR 1R
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 1,000 Non-voting N/A
N deferred
BN ERBEBA BREREE i
Tkt
EBEEBRABBEAR  MaKai Cheung Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BNE ERBEBA TEA ok

L - Long position &




DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(Continued)

In addition to the above, Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and Mr. Ma
Kai Yum have non-beneficial personal equity interests in
certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Group solely
for the purpose of complying with their minimum company
membership requirements in prior years.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
directors and chief executive had registered an interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company, or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as detailed in note 42 to the financial statements, no
director nor a connected entity of a director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the holding company of the Company, or any
of the Company’s subsidiaries of fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

Report of the Directors
EROQMEE

L E D EXI PN -V P&
Bk 0 2 HE & R R B (a0

BRIAEPraish SN ERERSFNRTEER
AEEBEETHEARNFEERRBEARRE
B W NEANABEFEARBRREHA
M REREMEE

BEXHHEBEEN R —_F=ZA=+—
H- 1R (EHRBEGO) $352(8E T
72 B MR EIEESF A M AR 7] REER
FIgH o AR ZEEREEITHRA
BMERAARNETMBEEZE (EXR
(BHERBEKD) EXVE) 2 kG - BER
DREHFFHEE T AERIAR -

§$%§%‘§ﬁﬁé%*Mﬁ

RS RM T42F i EI EERES
ZABEBNFARERHAKEEBME
BEXAAARRBEER AR AR EEM
MEBARKRRMB AR ZEMRS:
CHRENTERAEREEEN R -




Report of the Directors
EROGWMEE

INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME

2015 OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company convened on
24 August 2015, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “2015 Option Scheme”) with a validity period of 10
years.

The principal terms of the 2015 Option Scheme are as follows:

1. Purpose of the option scheme

The purpose of the 2015 Option Scheme is to
grant options to eligible participants, recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the eligible
participants have made or may make to the Group and
will provide the eligible participants with an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group,
track and retain or maintain relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the long-term growth of the Group, and additionally in
the case of executives, to enable the Group to attract and
retain individuals with experience and ability and to reward
them for their past contributions.

2. Participants of the option scheme

The eligible participants are eligible to participate in the
2015 Option Scheme. In determining the basis of eligibility
of each eligible participant, the Board would take into
account such factors as the Board may at its discretion
consider appropriate. The Board shall have absolute
discretion to determine whether a person shall qualify as
an eligible participant.

3. Total number of shares available for issue and
percentage to the issued share capital as at 31
March 2022

The total number of shares available for issue under
the 2015 Option Scheme was 125,388,753 shares
representing 7.98% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2022.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

4.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options to be granted
under the 2015 Option Scheme (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in any
twelve (12)-month period shall not exceed one per cent.
(1%) of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being (“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any twelve (12)-month
period up to and including the date of such further
grant shall be subject to the issue of a circular to the
shareholders and the shareholders’ approval in general
meeting of the Company with such eligible participant and
his associates abstaining from voting. The number and
terms (including the exercise price) of the options to be
granted to such eligible participant must be fixed before
the shareholders’ approval and the date of board meeting
for proposing such further grant should be taken as the
date of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise
price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option

The period during which a share option may be exercised
will be determined by the directors at their absolute
discretion, save that no share option may be exercised
more than 10 years after grant.

Payment on acceptance of an option

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate notice of grant constituting acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee, together with
a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents. Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable and shall not be
deemed a part payment of the exercise price of an option.
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EROGWMEE

INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

Payment on acceptance of an option (Continued)

Any offer to grant an option may be accepted in respect
of a lesser number of shares for which it is offered
provided that it must be accepted in respect of a board
lot or an integral multiple thereof and such number is
clearly stated in the duplicate notice of grant constituting
acceptance of the option. To the extent that the offer to
grant an option is not accepted by the acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents, it shall be deemed
to have been irrevocably declined.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an
eligible participant shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than
the highest of:

(@) the official closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the
options (“Offer Date”);

(b) the average of the official closing prices of the
shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
(5) business days immediately preceding the Offer
Date; and

(c) the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

The remaining life of the option scheme

The 2015 Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 24 August 2015
(being the date of fulfiment of all conditions on the
adoption of the 2015 Option Scheme).

As at 31 March 2022, the Company had 11,200,000 share
options outstanding pursuant to the 2015 Option Scheme.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION A R I HE st B 80 & kL a0
SCHEME (Continued)
The following table discloses the movements in the Company’s T XRBEBFARARNRGRIE T — A FHERE

share options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme  #t&|IB N EAKRITE 2 BIIEES) :
during the year:

Number of share options
BREHE
Closing
price
Exercise at grant
Granted  Exercised Forfeited Date of Exercise price of date of
At 1 April during during  during the At 31 March grant of period of share share
2021 the period  the period period 2022  share options share options options options
(Note 1) (Note 2)
HK$ per share  HK$ per share
S S RERE
ZB-f Bk ZBIZF Bt fix:3 fix:3 BB
MA-B REARE RERTE %% =ZA=t-8B EBRERH BRENE BREEK W {E
Cika) GE)
BRET BRET
Executive Directors
HiTES
Ma Hung Ming, John 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2020 to 0.714 0.70
S 19-2-2005
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2026
Chan Francis Ping Kuen 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2020 to 0.714 0.70
RmE 2-6-2025
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2021 to 0.714 0.70
2-6-2026
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2022 to 0.714 0.70
2-6-2027
8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000
Other continuous contract 1,800,000 - - (200,0000 1,600,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2020 to 0.714 0.70
employees 19-2-2025
HitBRANES 1,800,000 S - (2000000 1,600,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 to 0714 0.70
19-2-2026
3,600,000 - - (400,000 3,200,000
In aggregate

st 11,600,000 = = (400,000 11,200,000
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in
the Company’s share capital.

Save as disclosed above during the period under review,
no options under the 2015 Option Scheme were exercised,
cancelled or lapsed.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company had 11,200,000 share
options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme. Should
they be fully exercised, the Company will receive approximately
HK$7,996,800 (before issue expenses). The grant date fair
value of these unexercised options measured in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies (note 2.4 to the financial
statements) amounted to approximately HK$1,290,000.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2022, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as was
known to the directors, the following persons or corporations
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which was required to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO:
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Number of Percentage of the

Name of Capacity/ ordinary Company’s issued

substantial shareholder nature of interests Notes shares held share capital

BB RN

TERFER 2% E:1:3-1 oy AREBRYE ERTREABOL

Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, a 627,463,011 (L) 39.93
BNE security interest

in shares, interest
of spouse and
beneficiary of trust
ExBAA BERR
s BB
RERXHEA
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EROQMEE
Number of Percentage of the
Name of Capacity/ ordinary Company'’s issued
substantial shareholder nature of interests Notes shares held share capital
=] EARRAT
TERFER 2V £33 B 5T AREBERYA ERTRATHL
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, b 308,599,754 (L) 19.64
SN security interest
in shares, interest
of spouse and
beneficiary of trust
ExEAA BRR
s BB a
REEFEXEHEA
East Asia International Trustees Trustee © 360,330,065 (L) 22.93
Limited EFEA
Golden Yield Holdings Limited Interest in controlled d 259,129,025 (L) 16.49
corporations
SR YNCL £
Regent World Investments Limited Holding corporation d 184,121,625 (L) 11.72
BEEERAA
Wealthy Platform Limited Interest in controlled e 101,201,040 (L) 6.44
corporations
XENAER
Bond Well Investments Limited Holding corporation d 75,007,400 (L) 4.77
BEERAA
Grand Wealth Investments Limited Holding corporation e 74,651,040 (L) 4.75
BEEERAA
Rainbow Choice Holding Group Beneficial owner f 125,428,754 (L/S) 7.98
Limited ExBEBA
FEREREBBR AR
Chen Chu Zhen Interest in controlled f 125,428,754 (L/S) 7.98
[GRag=] corporation

L - Long position ¥ &
S — Short position X &

RENBHES
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes:

a.

The 627,463,011 shares comprised:
298,569,609 shares owned by Ma Kai Cheung;

i interest in 7,050,000 shares owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the
spouse of Ma Kai Cheung;

i interest in 259,129,025 shares indirectly held by a
discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the beneficiaries (same block of shares disclosed in (d)
below); and

iv interest in 62,714,377 shares charged in favour of Ma Kai
Cheung (same block of shares disclosed in (f) below).

The 308,599,754 shares comprised:
141,484,337 shares owned by Ma Kai Yum;

ii. interest in 3,200,000 shares owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the
spouse of Ma Kai Yum;

. interest in 101,201,040 shares indirectly held by a
discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Yum and his family are
the beneficiaries (same block of shares disclosed in (g)
below); and

V. interest in 62,714,377 shares charged in favour of Ma Kai
Yum (same block of shares disclosed in (f) below).

East Asia International Trustees Limited (‘EAIT”) is the trustee
of a discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden
Yield Holdings Limited (“Golden Yield”), EAIT was indirectly
interested in 259,129,025 shares of the Company. EAIT is also
the trustee of a discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Yum and his
family are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Wealthy Platform Limited (“Wealthy Platform”), EAIT was
indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares in the Company. As
at the end of the reporting period, EAIT was effectively interested
in a total of 360,330,065 shares of the Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

d.

Golden Yield by owning the entire issued share capital of Regent
World and 70% of the entire issued share capital of Bond Well,
was indirectly interested in a total of 259,129,025 shares of
the Company. The total shares held by both Regent World
and Bond Well are the same block of shares as disclosed in
“Other interests” of Ma Kai Cheung under the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Wealthy Platform by owning the entire issued share capital of
Grand Wealth and Peaceful World and indirectly owning the
entire issued share capital of Real Potential through Peaceful
World, was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares of the
Company. The total shares held by Grand Wealth, Peaceful
World and Real Potential are the same block of shares as
disclosed in “Other interests” of Ma Kai Yum under the section
headed “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions in shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited (“Rainbow Choice”) is
wholly owned by Chen Chu Zhen. 62,714,377 shares in the
issued share capital of Rainbow Choice were charged in favour
of Ma Kai Cheung and 62,714,377 shares were charged in
favour of Ma Kai Yum.

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons who, as at 31 March 2022,
had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company in the register that was
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE LISTING RULES

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS (RULE 13.18 OF CHAPTER
13)

The agreement for the following loan to the Group imposes
specific performance obligations on the controlling shareholders
of the Company:

b Bz b A B R AL

B8 3 i o A B v e A R B R AT
EF%EM%#(%+:§%BJ8
TOM T ARBMER L BRAREAAR 22
BRBRART R

Outstanding balance of Specific
banking facilities as at Final maturity of performance
31 March 2022 banking facilities obligations
HK$’000
R-B-ZH=A=+-—H BITERBREIBA BEBITEME
REBRTERSE
FHET
124,593 15 June 2026 (Note)
—EREXATRHAE (BfsE)

Note:

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, the Honorary Chairman and the controlling
shareholder of the Company holding a 39.93% shareholding interest
in the Company, and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, the Chairman of the Company
holding a 19.64% shareholding interest in the Company, undertake to
maintain a total of at least 42% of the shares of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, save as disclosed under the
section headed “Connected Transaction in relation to the
Subscription of Shares” on pages 46 to 48, there were no
transactions, which need to be disclosed as connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

To the best of the directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in
this annual report, none of the related party transactions as
disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report is a connected transaction.

GEE

RNRABZBEBERNERBRENELEFAARN
A 7A]39.93% 7 BAER - RARRZERBNHRE
ERBHARRFN9.64% AR - HAGHEBRIFE
BREBAEETDRARERHD42% o

MEXSEFEARNERS

EAZREFEN RNFIOAEI8E [BER
BRI ZRERS | —SMREES REL
MEPIZRELBEARFIFTEREREE

EREREL A BERRE REFMAR
M BENMES RCELFRAWESIN R
BHEH TN FRER S M BEHREM T422 B H
BATRZBREERS -




SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors; at least 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares were held by public
as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 16 to 29.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles (Chairman), Mr. Wong See King and Mr. Cheung Wah
Fung, Christopher.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters including the review of the Group’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to develop and grow while maintaining
its healthy financial position and solid business foundation to
create long-term shareholders’ value.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 51 4 R o

e
EY:

To the shareholders of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 87 to 258,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BEEREEZRERLAT
B AR R
(REREZELMAE L HERAA])

ER

Az BT (AT [3F)) D EZIERE
87TE268 A Z EBFEEIERAR AR ([&E
RAE) REMBAR ([EXRE]) RS 75
BR UWGEAVBBRREER_T__F=
A=+ AR EMBMAREREZA L
FENGFABRER HEEZERARE &
RaZsRNEaRERER UREAH
BHREAWE BREESFHERBME-

BMRE FREVBREREBEESSHMA
SHRMZ (BAVBRSER) EEMAF
kit EEER-_Z-_—_F=ZA=+—H
MEEHBRRARBEZB LFENEA
HRRAMGAESRE WEERREE (A
AR BB BRRELRREE -




BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Audiitor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
AREXER

B F T (8

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMzERNMEERREREE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”)
FEBERFYERIFIELHEYFE (7 [WE]).Z A
B FE

The Group had properties under development
and properties held for sale of approximately
HK$337,320,000 and HK$487,200,000, respectively,
as at 31 March 2022.

RZEBEZZF=A=+—H EBE5BzZ#&RET
)RR & W% 5 Rl ) /337,320,000 7T &
487,200,000/ 7T °

The Properties are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The determination of the net
realisable values of the Properties of the Group is
highly dependent on management’s judgements and
estimates, including the expected selling prices in
the ordinary course of business, the estimated selling
expenses and the estimated costs to be incurred to
completion.
MERKABAERHERE P ZREEAR BT
EXREMECAERFESEABEEREZHEB X
it BERABERBIET 2 EFEE  HEHE
X RERTIETESE 2T

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of net realisable values of the Properties
included, among others, the following:

B BOE AR FEMETIERETFE
F(HEPEE)ATRE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers;
o  FRMEFEIINEHEMETENL N KRBT

ak,
BE

o we involved our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the valuation techniques,
key assumptions and inputs adopted in the
valuations; and

o HFMEBFRMZABEEERBEKRFITGE
HERABZEHEERE TERILEABE: &



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
AREXER

Independent Auditor’s Report
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMzERNNEERREREE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”) (Continued)
FEBERERAYERIFIEHEYFE (7 [WE]).Z A
B )FE (E)

The Group engaged a firm of independent
professionally qualified valuers (the “external valuers”)
to perform valuations of the Properties based on
prevailing market conditions and information available
at the time of the valuations, and by applying
valuation techniques considered as appropriate, so
as to assist management in assessing whether any
write-down of the Properties to their net realisable
values is required.
EREZE-—RMBVEXSERMEEMAR ([HME
i ERD ) RIBRITH R LN A ER AT EERIE R
ERERRBEE 2 HEFEEYEETHE KM
MHERENHESAEME AR FEELE
fA] HORL

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balances involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.

BT REGRZSBRNNDUARAEZERGHH
B X (T mAVER UL EIR

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 21 to
the consolidated financial statements.

R ERNEGRE B RERMEIR21

o we assessed certain key assumptions and
estimates including, among others, (i) the
expected selling prices of the Properties by
comparing the expected selling prices to,
among others, the recent transaction prices for
similar properties or the prices of comparable
properties; (i) the estimated selling expenses
by comparing the historical average selling
expenses to revenue ratio or to other relevant
information; and (jij the estimated costs to be
incurred to completion for PUD by checking the
estimated costs against budgets approved by
management and examined, on a sample basis,
relevant construction contracts and other reliable
evidence available.

o  HBMTEFNEETEERERMGEE B (HEh
BEE) ((ERGATEER (AP aE) &
LM E L TSR S ETHRMBERITHR
HEMEESE: ()FREEL FHHEERX B
AL EETHE R M HE R K (i)E B
STTREIRK AR B A  REEITHEM
HEt R ERTPYER TEE 2 AR I
SR AR FEES N RHEAM A SRR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
HAREXER

B F T (8

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMzERNMEERRERSE

Assessment of fair values of investment properties

FEREDEZ 2 FlE

The Group had investment properties of
approximately HK$2,522,690,000 as at 31 March
2022.
RZEZZF=A=+—8"
49 52,522,690,0007 Tt ©

BEEBZREME

Investment properties of the Group are stated at fair
value and are revalued at the end of each reporting
period by a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers (the “external valuers”) engaged
by the management of the Group. The valuation of
investment properties involves significant estimations
and assumptions, including, among others, the
estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for
the income capitalisation approach and the estimated
market price for the direct comparison approach.

EEECREMERATAEIEERRERERR
B ESEEREZRE-—MBYEXSEKRGERD
RA(THMNEMEERM]) BEFEE - REVMEMRES R
BAMFREBR BFE (EREE)RABREZ
HEHEBERERNM EUREELBUA 2 AEtT

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.

BRI REGRZ BRI UARMBEZERGH A
B K fhET - RAIEF UL EIR

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

AR ERNEGR S M B RERMEIR14 -

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of fair values of investment properties
included, among others, the following:
BPRAEREMEZ AT ERETZEZEFS
B (HEPEE) ATRE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers; and

o  RMEFEIINEHEMZENL B2 h KB EEE
iR

° with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, we evaluated the valuation
techniques used and assessed the underlying
key inputs and assumptions through, among
others, enquiry with management and the
external valuers and with reference to relevant
historical, underlying and market information.

s HBMEEFHMAZARBBEZRBGEHFEE
MERERINEGHEMELEARRERERE
s BEARTSERMTEAERA 2 GERTER
BRERElER-I PN ¢ Y B




OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Yat Kin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

27 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Proﬁt or LLoss
»vT A AHBE

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z_—F =+ —HIFFE
2022 2021
—=E=-= T4
Notes HK$’°000 HK$ 000
B 5 FHET FET
REVENUE WA (9 781,170 796,026
Cost of sales $HE AR (407,152) (429,547)
Gross profit EF 374,018 366,479
Other income and gains, net HAa A Rk zs - F 58 5 54,559 236,271
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (140,231) (176,269)
General and administrative expenses —#& M 1T B 2 (135,146) (110,894)
Other expenses, net HEmAX 558 (87,420) (29,444)
Finance costs BF S R R 7 (53,199) (59,390)
Share of profit/(losses) of associates & {5 B 4 X &3 Fl],
(&) 35,991 (59,692)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE A% R 6 48,572 167,061
Income tax expense Frisfim sz 10 (23,461) (56,524)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERBRR 25,111 110,537
Attributable to: FE1E
Owners of the parent UNEIE Y -DN 3,822 81,004
Non-controlling interests JEFE AR HE 25 21,289 29,533
25,111 110,537
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREBRREREA
ATTRIBUTABLE ELEERER
TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
- Basic —ER HK cents 02551l | HK cents 6.4/
— Diluted —#E HK cents 02551l | HK cents 6.4




Conso]idated Statement of Comprehensive Income
GARERARE

Year ended 31 March 2022 EZE —F - —F=H=1—HIFZF
2022 2021
—E-= B —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 25,111 110,537
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ Hithz2mB A (EE)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) BREZBETEFDES
that may be reclassified to profit or BRzEbEEEA S
loss in subsequent periods: (BE) :
Exchange differences: EHER:
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINEBZERER
foreign operations and reclassification REEBINER 2
adjustment on disposal of foreign B OEAE
operations 86,075 192,257
Share of other comprehensive DME—EEERRZ
income/(loss) of an associate Hibh2HEE 133,908 (89,023)
219,983 103,234
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that ~ BFREZ R TAIEFHH2EE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss BRzHEbEEmEA S
in subsequent periods: (BE) :
Changes in fair value of equity investments 5 7F &% A FE R &
designated at fair value through other RE A 2 E WA R EIE 2
comprehensive income ERREN QT EEE (27,105) 7,879
Gain on property revaluation Y E - 27,218
(27,105) 35,097
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEEHMEEBA
FOR THE YEAR 192,878 138,331
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEEZHEBALLE
FOR THE YEAR 217,989 248,868
Attributable to: FEAR -
Owners of the parent SYNSIE YN 196,366 218,598
Non-controlling interests I8 A% 4 25 21,623 30,270
217,989 248,868




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EAMBRRE

31 March 2022 —F_-_—F=HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt T FEx FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB K& 13 899,700 756,137
Investment properties wEYE 14 2,522,690 2,515,637
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) 120,777 109,813
Goodwill B 16 64,470 67,703
Interests in associates REEE R B 2 17 1,083,728 842,691
Equity investment designated EEBZRANFEYERER
at fair value through other REMZEKAREEZ
comprehensive income BRI E 18 119,492 119,511
Properties under development BRERPYE 21 337,320 313,607
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 31 18,999 12,106
Other receivables, deposits and HEM KRR He KRR
prepayments FKIE 24 46,405 29,485
Total non-current assets EMBEEMRE 5,213,581 4,766,690
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties held for sale BIELEME 21 487,200 469,401
Inventories T 22 39,107 33,806
Tax recoverable AT 4z B 7% 18 78 140
Trade receivables FEWE SRR 23 29,442 31,662
Other receivables, deposits and HEM KRR He RER
prepayments I8 24 472,201 299,851
Due from directors FEWE IR 25 5,109 4,779
Due from non-controlling shareholders & U 3F 2= A% % 3R 5% 18 43(b) 15,253 8,280
Due from an associate JE Y — R B & 2 B 5K IE 17 300,974 290,305
Financial assets at fair value through 2 QAFEFIERREBZPE
profit or loss BremiEE 19 159,941 223,990
Equity investment designated at fair 8 A& A FEF R &
value through other comprehensive R E M2 EW A R EIE 2~
income EaRiRE 18 35,553 34,657
Structured deposits HEIBETFR 20 - 149,649
Restricted cash PR #3382 26 92 106
Pledged time deposits EEAEEBFR 26 43,473 44,823
Cash and bank balances B& RIRTT4E 64 26 279,616 413,573
Total current assets mEEEAE 1,868,039 2,005,022




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R RS

31 March 2022 —ZF_-_—#F=H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5T FERT FHET
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEE
Trade payables FERTE SR 27 (44,597) (43,945)
Other payables, accruals and HEMEMNER EBHEBRAK
deposits received Bk e 28 (367,618) (419,862)
Provisions B 29 (670) (820)
Due to directors B ESHRIE 43(b) (4,349) =
Due to non-controlling shareholders — J& {<F 3F 2= A% i% 3R 7118 43(b) (39,756) (35,353)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings WERZIRITEE 30 (943,028) (1,079,859)
Lease liabilities HMEBE 15(b) (40,754) (45,536)
Deferred income PFRAEUT A 32 (34,491) (34,640)
Tax payable FERT TR (325,397) (287,947)
Total current liabilities mEaEEE (1,800,660) (1,947,962)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 67,379 57,060
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHAERRBAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,280,960 4,823,750
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Accruals and deposits received EsrERAREKIZE 28 (7,073) (4,372)
Convertible bonds AR ES 30 (58,171) -
Interest-bearing bank borrowings WBZIRITIEER 30 (686,158) (558,340)
Lease liabilities HEEE 15(b) (56,767) (42,111)
Deferred income EIEWA 32 (92,247) (86,583)
Deferred tax liabilities BEBIBEEE 31 (297,255) (298,567)
Provisions B 29 (4,884) (2,569)
Total non-current liabilities R BEETE (1,202,555) (992,542)
Net assets BERE 4,078,405 3,831,208




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A MBIk E
31 March 2022 —E—-—F=H=+—§
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
{hr=3 FERT FHET
EQUITY [} &N
Equity attributable to owners of the £ 2\ alEB A JE1L 2
parent
Issued capital BEITIRA 33 157,136 138,280
Reserves ] 35 3,929,537 3,698,666
4,086,673 3,836,946
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2 (8,268) (5,738)
Total equity HEmARE 4,078,405 3,831,208
Ma Kai Yum Chan Francis Ping Kuen
B PR R HE
Director Director

EF EF




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GAENEH R

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
SRAEA AR
Leasehold
land and
Share buiding Share Exchange Capttal Capttal Non-
Issued  premium  revaluation option Goodwil  fuctuation  redemption Reseve  Farvae  andother  Retained controling Total
captal account reserve Teserve reserve reserve Teserve funds reserve Teserves profts Total interests equity
BETH
BEf i3 REF Bt B} E% ATE EXR FER
Br EER  ERERE BE  BEEE  RERE  EEGE i BE  EbEk £l gt BE  ERYE
Notes HKS000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000 K000 HK$000 HK§000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS00D HK§'000 HK$000  HK$000
Wit Tin  Térn T T Tin ThL T Tin Th T T Tin T T
AT Aprl 2020 =
RA-A 126,709 1,397,359 56,060 4532 (86,230) (113602 316 581 (82,504) (62914 2,360,052  3599,359 (36,355 3,563,004
Proft for the year TERET - - - - - - - - - - 810M 81004 2058 110537
Other comprehensiveincome.~ REEE{2E
for the year: WA
Chenges infarvalue ofequy ~ RAFEFIER
investments at fai value REMRE
through other comprenensie.  AREEZ
ncome BRRALTE
28 o o S S S S S S 7819 - - 7819 - 7879
Gain on property revalation £ B 4% 13 - - a8 - - - - - - - -8 -
Exchange differences BEENERY
on randlatio of EizaRE
foreign operations and BNERER
reclassficaton adjustment PRE
on disposal of foreign
operafions - - - - - 191520 - - - - - 191520 87 192257
Share of other comprehensie  AfE—HEE A
loss of n associete 2EH2EER = = . = V%] = = = - Ve YA
Totd compehensiveincome.~~ AEE2E
for the year WALE S - 2218 - - 102497 - - 7819 - 81004 218598 30270 248868
Contrbuton by non-contoling ~ JEARRRTE
sharefolder = & S = = & = = & S = & U7 U7
Disposal of a subsidiary te-EHEAT o - - - - - - - - - - - - 40 402
Acquistion of non-controling B -EHEATZ
interest in a subsilary HeRER - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,644 1,644
Divdend paid tonon-contoling 2 FFERRREZ
Shaenolders e - - - - - - - - - - - - ey (264
Equity-setted share option IWEGER  BIE
anangements Zi 34 - - - 866 - - - - - - - 866 - 866
Issue of shares upon placing. - BERHERH
of shares ffh 3 12,571 43265 - - - - - - - - - 55,836 - 55,836
Final 2020 divicend -3-%E
RERS - - - - - - - - - -y Enny - )
At 31 March 2021 RIZ-F
Zf=t-A 138280  1,440,624° 83278 5308 (86230 (11,109 316" 581" (74625 (62914 2403343 3836946 (5738 3831208




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GatnEEk

Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ-—F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BRAREARG
Leasehold
Equity  land and
Share  component of building Share Exchange Capital Capital Non-
Issued ~ premium  convertible revaluation option  Goodwill fluctuation  redemption Reserve  Fairvalue  andother  Retained controlling Total
capital account bonds reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve funds reserve  reserves profits Total  interests equity
il o
2&ff R TERRS )it 53 BRE Ed g% AVE E5R #ER
Bx  EEE  RESH  EfEE B HEHE  REER  REER i B RbRE  REE a3t 1
Notes HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000
it i TER TR TR TER Tin TER TR TR TER Tin TER iz Tin TER
At 31 March 2021 and I2--F
1 Aprl 2001 ZAZ+-BR
EA-B 138280 1440624 = 83278 539 (86230 (f1,105) 316 501 (74625) (62914 2403343 3836946 (6738 3,831,208
Proft for the year FERE - - - - - - - - - - - 3822 3822 21289 2111
Other comprehensiveincome/ ~~ REFEE 2
(loss for te year: WA/ (B8):
Changes in far value of RATESIER
equityinvestments at REWZE
fairvale trough other WARREL
comprefiensive income EREDTE
79 - - - - - - - - ENIA 7] - - iy ENIA 7]
Exchange diferences on BERNERL
tranglaton of foreign 3:53:3
operations - - - - - - 8,741 - - - - - 8,741 334 86,075
Share of oher comprehensie  AHE—TIBERFZ
ncome ofan associae LU TN - - - - - - 1% - - - - - 13398 - 133908
Total comprehensive incomelfoss) R4 E2EMA/
forthe yeer (BB)48 = S - - - - 21950 - - i - 382 19636 268 217989
Dividends paid to non-contioling 2 3R E 2
shareholders RE = = = = = = = = = = = = = (24153 4159
Eouity-seted share option WEREHBRE
anangements i3 % - - - - 149 - - - - - - - 149 - 149
Issue of shares pon subscrpton - ZERHEZ (74
of shares i3 ks 18,856 65,33 = = = = = = = = = - 84,191 - 84,191
Transerof share opton eserie - KB
upon forfsture of share options - SRR IEEE - - - - 30) - - - - - - % - - -
Issue of convertle bonds Bfiu#kES k| - ER (1) - - - - - - - - EER (1) - e
Final 2021 dhidend Z3--FRERE il S & > S S S S > S o S (47,141) (47.141) = (47.141)
At 31 March 2022 S b
Zf=1-8 167,136 1,505,959 16,162" 83218 5511 (86,2307 208544" 316" 581" (101,730 (62914]  2.360060° 4086673 (8268) 4078405

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of ~— * It %5 {3 8 /2 493,929,537, 00078 TL (—F = —
approximately HK$3,929,537,000 (2021: HK$3,698,666,000) in 4 : 3,698,666,000/8 7T ) B BB L4 & B 15
the consolidated statement of financial position. MRRZERE B2 A -




GEHERER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE_-—F=-—F=HA=+—HIFZ

2022 2021
—E=-= —E 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
{hr=3 FET FH&T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ZREX¥KFB2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 158 B A 48,572 167,061
Adjustments for: FER
Finance costs B 75 P AN 7 53,199 59,390
Share of losses/(profit) of FEREE S N TF B,
associates CaF) (35,991) 59,692
Bank interest income RITH B UA 5 (3,918) (3,802)
Investment interest income AR BHA 5 (11,303) (11,2693)
Other interest income E A F B U A 5 (21,344) (15,613)
Dividend income from equity EFE AR AT EYER
investment designated at fair value ~ MR E b 2 E UL A &
through other comprehensive RIBZERIREZ
income A& B A 5 (4,169) (4,169)
Dividend income from financial BRATEIERNEEPRE
assets at fair value through Bre@MEEY
profit or loss % B A 5 (3,702) (2,145)
Loss on disposal/write-off of HEHEME BB KK
items of property, plant and #HIEE 2 EE F8E
equipment, net 6 825 1,457
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EWB AR ZWE 5 - (3,983)
Impairment of goodwill EESNRE 6 3,233 8,748
Fair value loss/(gain), net: NEEEE (KE)
HEE
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEYEERBERT
through profit or loss BEZEREE 6 46,414 (10,803)
Depreciation of property, plant and 1% - BE MR B2 ITE
equipment 6 73,353 69,268
Changes in fair value of investment % & ¥ % A F(E
properties, net HE) HEE 6 29,865 (121,886)
Reversal of impairment of trade FEWE B AR 2
receivables, net BERE FRE 6 (1,225) (2,076)
Impairment of other receivables, net  E b i W AR ZOm (B © /F 58 6 2,151 11,174
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREEE 2T E 6 51,373 62,989
Release of deferred income RPN TS 6 (205) (1,355)
Unwinding of discount on receivables & Y7018 ~ 3738 (& # [0 6 - (13,373)
Equity-settled share option expense JAREZS4EE > BEILHER X 34 149 866
Gain on lease modification MEEBF 2 W= 5 - (8,451)
Gain on lease termination HWIFHE WS 5 (109) =




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GABemER
Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—FE=-—#F=H=+—HIFEF
2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
ihE=2 FHExT FHET
Increase in properties under BERPMEZ
development 38 10 (11,602) (5,785)
Decrease in properties held for sale 3 {EH &YW E 2 m 2,022 4,354
Increase in inventories FEE (7,322) (2,909)
Decrease in trade receivables U E 5 BRI 5,225 27,423
Increase in other receivables, HEM KRN ZHe Kk
deposits and prepayments TE T IR L A0 (172,463) (91,433)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due BN EE FKIER L~
from directors (3gh0) (50) 1,826
Decrease in trade payables B8 5RO (748) (9,577)
Increase/(decrease) in other HE M EMERR
payables, accruals and B ERREWIES
deposits received #n, O ) (89,540) 76,968
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due  JE{F = E FKIBIE N,
to directors -2 4,356 (647)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions B M, ORd) 2,187 (540)
COVID-19-related rent concessions 7 A ¥ COVID-1948 78
from lessors HeER (2,343) (8,854)
Cash generated/(used in) from CEBEBRIE,/ (FTA)Z
operations " (43,110) 232,552
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERBEBNEB R - (625)
Overseas taxes paid BTN - (4,635)
Net cash flows from/(used in) REEBE,/ (FTR)Z
operating activities REREFH (43,110) 227,292




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SEBLHER

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Bt 5 FET FH&T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZH2HRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUERTTH B 3,918 3,802
Other interest received HAa B W F B 32,636 26,859
Dividend received from equity BUIEE RAEAFEYERR
investment designated at fair value ~ REMEEBAFEE Y
through other comprehensive EEREZRE
income 4,169 4,169
Dividend received from financial BYIR A FEY R KRB
assets at fair value through profit PREBZEHEERES
or loss 3,702 2,145
Purchases of items of property, plant B A% - BE &
and equipment HEIEE (181,514) (47,492)
Purchase of investment properties B AR B % - (33,192)
Proceeds from disposal of items of ~ H &% - BE &
property, plant and equipment REIE B TSR 3,794 1,266
Receipt of consideration receivables Yt EX H & — Rt & A &)
from disposal of a subsidiary e AE - 132,598
Purchases of financial assets at fair & A& 2 FEFI B &
value through profit or loss REZPEREZ
EREE (152,895) (182,436)
Proceeds from disposal of financial & & A FEFER &
assets at fair value through profit RERFREEZ
or loss TRLE EFTS A 170,531 155,500
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BWBAFR 37 - (172)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged EEAE TR
time deposits and pledged bank BIEFRITEHR Y
balances (&), mA (33,473) 35,058
Decrease in restricted cash ZRERE 2D 18 73
Investment in structured deposits HEBETRZIRE - (139,456)
Redemption of structured deposits & @l &5 & 1 77 X 149,649 247,732
Investment in an associate & — e QA (3,000) (20,500)
Increase in an amount due from FE U — R & A A
an associate RIAZ LN - (71,811)
Purchase of an equity investment BABEAERAFEIERER
designated at fair value through REMEEBAFERE L
other comprehensive income A (23,651) -
Advances to an associate TE — B & R A (78,796) =
Net cash flows from/(used in) REEBE, (FA)Z
investing activities REemEFHE (104,912) 114,143




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

g4 ﬁ%fﬁi
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ-—F-—F=H=+—HIFFE
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
ihE=2 FERT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ®EZHME2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BT 2 TS 3KIR 84,191 55,836
Proceeds from issue of convertible 277 0] # f& (& 54 FT 15 7B
bonds 75,425 -
New bank loans ILRITER 1,204,361 521,083
Repayment of bank loans BRI TTE b (1,215,748) (564,111)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest U & — &1 B B A 7] 2
in a subsidiary FEFE AR HE A - 1,644
Contribution by non-controlling FEFERR AR R E
shareholders - 947
Changes in balances with non- FEIEMRAR R ERFEE B) - HEE
controlling shareholders, net (2,160) (158)
Principal portion of lease payments & XA & AN Z 5 (48,780) (53,617)
Dividends paid B A% 8. (47,141) (37,713)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT IEIER R R B
shareholders (24,153) (2,646)
Interest paid ERFE (54,271) (60,379)
Net cash flows used in financing BMEFBMAZ
activities BemE 558 (28,276) (139,114)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) HENBRELEEER
IN CASH AND CASH #gm/ ORd) B8
EQUIVALENTS (176,298) 202,321
Cash and cash equivalents FUzHReskReEE
at beginning of year HH 448,396 235,533
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNEETE R F E ) 2
changes, net pikic] 7,518 10,542
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS F#zH&R
AT END OF YEAR Re&EEER 279,616 448,396
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES HERBEEEE
OF CASH AND CASH HEESRZDW
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and unpledged bank balances IR 4 K A& #1745 17 45 268,671 413,573
Time deposits with original maturity Uz BB R EI|H B >
of less than three months when R=E Az EBFR
acquired 10,945 34,823
Cash and cash equivalents as stated AR T HRERXRANEYZ
in the consolidated statement of RekRSEBEEE
cash flows 279,616 448,396




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
G A BB R

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located
at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda.

2 a) J & [ %R

FEEBEEZERER AR ([ARF])
E-HRBREIMKNLZER AT -

XX B 5T 3 = B AL 7 Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda °

FR-ARBREMB AR (5 [R%
BOMEEXBAREZR WEKRE
RBERARGEBE BRRRMER -

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally
engaged in investment holding, property investment and
development, and the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses.

W8 2 =] M BB R
ARTEEMBAT ZFHEMT -

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
EMARL BRITEE/ ERFEMGERE
ARAR MR E K PR EER HERBRA BAl TEEK
2022 2021
—E--F | ZE-—F
Amica Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100  Property investment
BENMBEERAA EiE LER 28T MERE
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.* British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
EREXHS Lidik e REZR
Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$8,000,000 82.5 82.5  Restaurant operations
Restaurant Limited
EEH M) BIBERAR &A Lidik 8,000,000 70 il S
Carrianna Chinese Food Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$900,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
E%#ﬂlﬂqﬂfgﬁﬁ (B%) &t Lidik 900,000/ 70 REZR
RAR
Carrianna Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$25,000,000 100 100 Property investment
and development
EEMEEERAA &k LER 25,000,000/ 7T NERBRER
Carrianna (Shenzhen) People’s Republic Registered capital HK$80,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. of China (‘PRC")/ and property
Mainland China investment and
development
1%%; (ﬁjﬁl\)&ﬁ qﬂ?ﬁ[éﬁj’—‘)@ AMER 80,000,000/ 7T &égﬁé&mﬁ&é
AT B
HRE AR




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

& B B R MRk
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ-—F-—F=H=+—HIFFE
CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 28 k&EH &R @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W & 2> 5] M B & R (a0
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
EMAL/ BRITEE/ ADREMERE
ARAR AR E L PR EER R A BAk FEXEK
2022 2021
—E-CZF | ZE-—F
China East International Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Materials City Limited
ERERDHHERRT  BE TEk 1,000,000 7 REER
Delicious Group Dining Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$13,733,601 63 63  Restaurant operations
Services Limited
RELBERRBERLRRT BB TEk 13,733,601/ 7T ZRKE
Earn Fame Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
REEEBRDA KBRS £ Y REER
Elite Brave Development British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares USS$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
REERERAA" KBRS LER Y REER
Goldfield Properties Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Property investment
RYEXERAA Eit L@k 28T NERE
Huge Moral International British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
EEERERAR" EREXHES L@k e REZR
Max Honour Investments Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100 100  Property investment
Limited
TEREBRAR Eit L@k 18T MERE
Profit Smart Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$5,598,059 60 60  Bakery operations
MERREEAERAH BE £ 5,598,05075 7L BEELE
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$200 100 100 Property investment
EB TEk 2007 NERE
Non-voting HK$1,000,000 - -
deferred
shares
ERRE 1,000,000% 7
R
Tak Sing (Panyu) Fashion PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$51,000,000 100 100 Property investment
Company Limited ) )
EHMERREERDREO B/ REAE FMER 51,000,007 7T NERE
Wealth Mark Group Limited ~ Byitish Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares Us$10 90 90  Investment holding
REEEBERAA EREXHES L@k 10%7T REZR
EE (BIL) % PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB14,700,000 100 100 Hotel and restaurant
BRAA® operations
hE/REAR HMEL AR ¥14,700,0007C BEREREE
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2 k&EE&EH @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W8 2 &) B & R s
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
SR CRITEE/ ARF MR E
ARER AR E Fris R R R A BAkk TBER
2022 2021
—E-CZF | ZE-—F
HEBPRAEBAFT?  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB31,000,000 65 65  Food business
hE/HREAE FER AR ¥31,000,0007 RRER
HBEEEMEREEE®R  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital ~ RMB100,000,000 90 90  Hotel operations
BARAAR RE /R ARE FER it
100,000,0007T
RINERFERERE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRRAO HE/REAE HHEA AR #5,000,0007C il
EREERHHMAMAE  PRCMainland China  Registered capital US$46,000,000 100 100 Property investment
(BEB)BRAR R B AR FEAR 46,000,000 7T and development
MERERER
Carrianna Food PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$1,000,000 100 100 Food business
(Shenzhen) Ltd.” E/REAE EBEA 1,000,000/ 7 RBEH
E=fem ORI
BRAFN
RYMERBER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRRAO HE/REAE HHEA AR #6,000,0007C il
EEM(EM)BFMELE  PRCMainland China  Registered capital RMB40,000,000 100 100 Property investment
ERERDAY HE/REARE FER AR 40,000,000 MERE
SR ERHESRS PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB50,000,000 65 65  Restaurant operations
BRRAY HE/REAE Balli-v AR ¥50,000,0007C il
EHREEFRAEM/AFY  PRCMainiand China  Registered capital US$2,000,000 75 75  Food business
hE/REAE FEA 2,000,000 T RRER
Sleek Treasure Ventures British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$77,200 60 60  Investment holding
Limited (‘Sleek Treasure”) ~ EBRLHS LRk 77,200% 70 BREER
B &% B R A A
(1E=Z])
RYMIEEERER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRDES HE/HREAE AR AR ¥6,000,00070 il ey
FIWIESESEHERE  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB1,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRRAO HE/REAE HHEE AR #1,000,0007C it d
RYTEEHERERERS  PRCMainland China  Registered capital RMB1,000,000 100 - Restaurant operations
BRDES HE/REARE FER AR %1,000,0007 il 4
Carrianna Land Development  Byitish Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares USs$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited (formerly knownas  EBREZHS TRk e BREER
Tak Sing Asia Inc.)*
EEMEEFRBRAF
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE— —F=ZA=F—HIFFE
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 28 k&EH &R @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W & 2> 5] M B & R (a0
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
SR ERTLE/ ADREMERE
ARER AR E Fris R R R A BAk TBER
2022 2021
—E-CZF | ZE-—F
Max Honour Investments British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment
Limited* KBRS 1 Y BE&
MEREBRAA
Quantum Data Science Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000 87 - Data center
Limited /B LAk 1,000 7T operations
BEEF (BB)ERRA YEPLEE
Jade Choice Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000 87 - Property investment
BEAERRA &k LER 1,000/ 7T MERE
* Direct subsidiaries of the Company * RAREENEBE AR
M Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises () INEEEE
@ Sino-foreign joint venture companies @ hAONEBEDE
® Domestic enterprises ® NEDE
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company EESAE AL ARATIZHEB AT
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected AIXEYEFEEENMAKLNE léfé
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of FEZFELED UAREBEERE ET
the net assets of the Group, as well as certain investment P O N jg$$@¢#gu
holding and other subsidiaries, which in the opinion BESAEEEHREN - EFR ALY
of the directors, are of specific importance to or of HMWB ARz &R BSERBRTT
specific purpose for the Group. To give details of other Eo

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE_-—F=-—F=HA=+—HIFZ

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (‘HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
leasehold land and buildings, investment properties and
certain financial assets which have been measured at fair
value. The financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2022. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1 WAL A

ZEMBBRRDEBELGANRE
(BB EFERE]) B2 BEEMBEER
SREA([ERAMBRELER]) (B
FIBEREMBREER BAE G ER
(IBEETEAN]) kRE) FEAR
SR RBEBREUEG 2 WERE R
Bl o WIEHMRRAE LA E RS A
NFEFECLETHELHMEET &
BYMERETERMEERIN - ZEM
BRIDABTEY BRABFHA - FAEE
BERBEREOIZ T

GoRE
REMERREBERARRRENB AR
HE_ZE_—_F#=-A=+—HILFEZ
HBHRER-MBARAARAREEZNXHE
BEEHNEE(REAETEER) - EX
EEASIZELEREBHREBKME
MO EOHK BB BREREHRAE
(B TASERBRENETEREY
KEBEESORTEEN) X EZFE R
R + BVER 1347 il 4 o

AR ERAMEREINRELHR
REBNREIBURN AR KER
AEEEEHAHREHRNENE
SEEMARBEERER 8%

(@) BEREBEHRHMEEREAANA
WLk

b) BEMEHRPERTELNERN: &
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Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ-—F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of
any investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

2.1 i WEE m)

GAR®E @)

B AT ME RS MRS R A AT
18R RA B S BERE B
ARz EERAEERSEHIE Y BiE
BAHE TRESRAANEEZAEAR
B B AL

BaEkEMEERASEKRED TRB
RARBE B RRHA ANIFFZERER
BP0 1tE 58 5| BRSO FE B b i th 3R B A A ok
TR - FTASBEARRIEZEERAE
s WA ST RASKBIK B R R]ER
HHRBEZRERANERS KB 2K
i

8 FE R BERBEUR £ ATt = &% 5
BAZEP-HAIZHEAE AAKHE
RBEMFEEEINEFREHRWE
REZHEAERE RS (U ERAIEH
)RR ISR S -

A SEBE R LS —EH B QR ZEH
e RIEREER)ZMNB AR ZEE
(BREEE) RARE ()T AFHEH#S
ZEREE R (i) et N ik 2 BEFHBRE
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.1 W% (m)

OPERATING CYCLE CE LR

The operating cycle of the Group for the property AEENMEREREREBEXA
investment and development business is the period HARKWEEEZEESR B 2 I -
between the acquisition of assets and their realisation. AR ER MY AE X BT EARAR
Due to the nature of such business, its normal operating 12 A - REEYHEIRE MEEEBKH
cycle may be longer than 12 months. The Group’s MBEEREE—FEEFEXBALHAL
current assets include assets (such as properties under B OHRESEERMNEE (fIERFY
development and properties held for sale) which are sold, ERFBIELEME) BEBRHEZEEE
consumed or realised as part of the normal operating TEEREHBARENI12(8H AR -

cycle for the property investment and development
business even when they are not expected to be realised
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.2 5t B %R K # % 2 % )

AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for REBEREMNERAFENBRKRE XIE
the first time for the current year’s financial statements. R TEAS T BB B WwE 4R -
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark BAMBRERR FIEERENE
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Reform — Phase 2 F9% BB &5 —F_BR
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 AR F395 -
ERRBRE
ERETH BB
BB mEER
BARRBBHE
EERIF 169
CHEN)
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent BRI BREED RZFZ—FxH
Concessions beyond £16%: (BFT4) ZtHZH#AE
30 June 2021 ZE-NFHEEHR

BMAIEH
HELEE
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Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ-—F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 @it Bk kB HZE 2% 8 (9
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt
with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-
free rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide a
practical expedient to allow the effective interest
rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying
amount of financial assets and liabilities when
accounting for changes in the basis for determining
the contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of
the interest rate benchmark reform and the new
basis for determining the contractual cash flows
is economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the
interest rate benchmark reform to be made to
hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being discontinued.
Any gains or losses that could arise on transition
are dealt with through the normal requirements
of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge
ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a
temporary relief to entities from having to meet the
separately identifiable requirement when an RFR is
designated as a risk component. The relief allows
an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume
that the separately identifiable requirement is met,
provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk
component to become separately identifiable within
the next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments
require an entity to disclose additional information to
enable users of financial statements to understand
the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an
entity’s financial instruments and risk management
strategy.

RETEEVBRELENNEERTE
RT3

(@

B IR A I R B E R b I R
(MERRFIE]) BRE HEVH
WEERFOH FAESFERE
39%: - BAYMBRELERETH B
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BRI A RBENETSHE
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BEPETETRENETAESR
EERBEBEZEEREMEFER
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IN ZEERT AR TR REAERE
Fr#8 78 £ ¥R 8 T8 B K ¥4 S
EITENR mMASREE REER
BEMAEEE 2B HR
BEBUEREERFESRMIES
HMTETERIE  UWEE RERL S
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EREMTARRKREEREZ
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Year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE_-—F=-—F=HA=+—HIFZ

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had certain
interest-bearing bank borrowings denominated
in Hong Kong dollars based on the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”). The Group
expects HIBOR will continue to exist and there is no
impact on the Group’s HIBOR-based borrowings.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021
extends the availability of the practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic by 12
months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies
to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or
before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions
for applying the practical expedient are met. The
amendment is effective retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at the beginning of the current
accounting period. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has adopted the amendment on 1 April
2021 and applied the practical expedient during the
year ended 31 March 2022 to all rent concessions
granted by the lessors that affected only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022 as a
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. A
reduction in the lease payments arising from the rent
concessions of HK$2,343,000 has been accounted
for as a variable lease payment by derecognising
part of the lease liabilities and crediting to profit or
loss for the year ended 31 March 2022. There was
no impact on the opening balance of equity as at 1
April 2021.

22 Rt KRB EZEH (a0

(@)

(%)

R_ZE-_—_F=ZA=Z+—H' &
SEFRERBEESRITAERE
(IEBRITEAZERE]) ABTE
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE_F_-_—F=H=+—HIFFE
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 MM REHZHEMY
HONG KONG FINANCIAL B 4k 5 i R
REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised REERZEMBHREPHREKBAT
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, EBEME R ARERZ I MEETTEHE
in these financial statements. B 75 3R 5 22l
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework'
BB REERNEIF (BFTA) a4 755
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 (2011) Associate or Joint Venture®

EBVBRELENFI0RLEB A ENE REZHABLENGAAELEZHHEELETE?
28%% (201118 5TAN)

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

ERVBHmEERNFETH R & 4

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®®

ERMBEWMELERF175R (BETA) R & 47?0

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative Information® ©

BERUVBHmEENF17HR (BFTA) BAEAE B BREERE175REBYFHREER
FEI - EEF? 0

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current®*

BERGERE19 (BETA) HEESE R E I RE

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Practice Statement 2
BB G ERE IR REBYBRELRER B AT E 7 5
B EF2% (BRI A)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?

ERGFTERISE8E (BETA) 25T 18 5T 8 E &2

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction?

ERGFERN2 (7] A) B —XX 5 E LAY HE K E R B E G 8B 5

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended
Use!

BERGFERIE165 (BFTA) Y% B KRR - R (ERUE % B B9 BT 2 3008

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract'

BERGFERIZEITRE (BFTA) EREMEH—BITE AR KA

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020  Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41!
BB IR EER2018F2020F A F/E BEREVBRESERNE R FENBRELERFN &
2t MRS ER B 169 BN AR AL RO R EREGTTE
Bl 4155
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #BZ=-F=-—F=HA=+—HI FE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2022

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available

for adoption

4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in
October 2020 to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

& As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17
issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to
extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to
apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

. The HKICPA amends HKFRS 17 in February 2022
to permit a classification overlay for financial assets
presented in comparative periods on initial application of
HKFRS 17

The Group is still in the process of assessing the
impact of the above new and revised HKFRSs. Further
information about certain of those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3
an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to
refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if
they were incurred separately rather than assumed in
a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3
should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
April 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively
to business combinations for which the acquisition date
is on or after the date of first application, the Group will
not be affected by these amendments on the date of
transition.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ-—F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised
in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that
date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify
the situations that are considered a settlement of a
liability. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

23 Bl fHr RAERZHE M

B & 4R a0

EEMBEREERNFI0R REBGAE
AIFE28FEFTA (ZF——F )t HEE
MR ELERNFEI0RNBEGAERE
285 (T ——F) cMREE LA Z
RAREBEEEZRZEELRERRA
MERENT —BIEEH R - ZFE
RIME EREEHEBENRLAE
TEZHANEEHERRABK —BEE
B AR ZBREIER - EX 5P
RTBR-—BEBNEER AR S
EERNRGENEERZREENERRR
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement
2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in
the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-
mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not
necessary. The Group is currently assessing the impact
of the amendments on the Group’s accounting policy
disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and
inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur
on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of
the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or other component
of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition,
the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exemption
and did not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences for transactions
related to leases. Upon initial application of these
amendments, the Group will recognise a deferred tax
asset and a deferred tax liability for deductible and taxable
temporary differences associated with right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, and recognise the cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the
cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively
only to items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest
period presented in the financial statements in which the
entity first applies the amendments. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall
be applied to contracts for which an entity has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial
application without restating the comparative information.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those
paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning
of the annual reporting period in which the entity
first applies the amendment. The amendment is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

° HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives
when applying HKFRS 16.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEGHUFZIHME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments
are made to bring into line any significant dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of
the Group’s interests in associates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

PEAHRBEE @)

REBMRUEERR  SRBEOBKK-
FURE B B 2 40 IR 3B AR B N E T
FiEAEzeMEERBEUNELBEED
BRET UEEERBEIESEEL
IR ARPTET R -

fisl & B 0 B ER 2K - ATERF A B X
BIZEBEB AT EENGE MEM
PREE A B AR B HERR -

A BB T g 2 AR E TR
BEMRAVEER - DEA—HEE
SRBEZHXRAREDRAFEFE M
RFEZHNBRER - DB REDRN
IARAREBETEEHAE MEREER
BEAAR-

BBVRIERAGTE S EAE
LIRS R SRR AR BT
AU B 77 P s B AN A 2 2 (AT P {E
2 M0 H P U B RT AR5 B B K P A
ERRAFREZHY - WMZAERE
I8 B W R AMER TR R EEZ A
B RIEEHFERNHZENBRER
RYTREHE R -



Notes to Consolidated Flnanmal Statements
Mﬁﬁimi

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — ?::T#: —HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

If the initial accounting for a business combination was
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurred, during the measurement
period (i.e., the period after the acquisition date during
which an entity may adjust the provisional amounts
recognised for a business combination), the Group shall
recognise adjustments to the provisional amounts as if
the accounting for the business combination had been
completed at the acquisition date. Thus, the Group shall
revise comparative information for prior periods presented
in financial statements as needed, and disclose the nature
and amount of any measurement period adjustments
recognised during the reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its investment properties and
certain financial assets at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z - %

CEZAS+—ALER

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(i)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Hotel properties Over the lease terms
Leasehold lands Over the lease terms
Buildings 2.5% to 3%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20%
10% to 20%
15% to 20%
20% to 25%

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised
borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during
the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z = ?::ﬁg: =F+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property interest held as a right-
of-use asset which would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use
asset up to the date of change in use, and any difference
at that date between the carrying amount and the fair
value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation.

For a transfer from properties held for sale to investment
properties, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE_-—F=-—F=HA=+—HIFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets. At
inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component(s), the
Group adopts the practical expedient not to separate
non-lease component(s) and to account for the lease
component and the associated non-lease component(s)
as a single lease component.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a
right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold lands
Properties

25 to 50 years
2 to 35 years
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
LEASES (Continued) Mg

AEEEBAMA (5
b) HEEE

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset,
the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value and comprise land
costs, construction costs, applicable borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable
to such properties incurred during the development
period. Net realisable value is determined by reference
to the sales proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable estimated selling
expenses and other estimated costs to make the sale,
and the estimated costs to be incurred to completion or
by management estimates, based on prevailing market
conditions.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investrments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHBURZBE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: () the
ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy
as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHBURZBE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the statement of financial position, net of transaction
costs. On issuance of convertible bonds, the fair value of
the liability component is determined using a market rate
for an equivalent non-convertible bond; and this amount
is carried as a long term liability on the amortised cost
basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option that is recognised and included in shareholders’
equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of
the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible bonds
based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and equity components when the instruments are first
recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value on an individual property basis.
Cost includes all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is determined with
reference to the sales proceeds of properties sold in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable estimated
selling expenses and other estimated costs to make the
sale or by management estimates, based on prevailing
market conditions.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in the statement of
profit or loss.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions/
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it
is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the statement of profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

()

()

(i)

()

V)

(v

Restaurant operations

Revenue from restaurant operations is recognised
at the point in time when/as control of the asset
(a promised good or service) is transferred to the
customer.

Bakery operations

Revenue from the bakery operations is recognised
at a point in time when/as control of the asset (a
promised good or service) is transferred to the
customer.

Sale of food products

Revenue from the sale of food products is
recognised at a point in time when/as control of the
asset (a promised good or service) is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the food
products.

Hotel operations

Revenue from hotel operations is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligations,
as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Property management services

Revenue from property management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of completed properties is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the control of the completed properties,
being the point when the legal title of the completed
property is passed to the customer and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(vii)  Property agency services
Commission income from property agency services
is recognised at a point in time when the services
are rendered which is generally the time when the
transacting parties first come into an agreement.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

OTHER INCOME

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and
other employees of the Group, any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group) who render services and/
or contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby eligible participants
render services as consideration for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 34 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension schemes (the “CP Schemes”)
operated by the respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their covered payroll expenses to the CP
Schemes to fund their benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the CP Schemes is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the CP Schemes.
Contributions under the CP Schemes are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the CP Schemes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in a separate component of
equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of
the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting
a major part of the economic life of the property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments not
amounting to substantially all the fair value of the property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of these properties
which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EARGAE kA

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease
term of contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to
renew the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the
renewal. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control and
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option
to renew or to terminate the lease (e.g., construction of
significant leasehold improvements).

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to CIT in the PRC. As a result of
the fact that certain matters relating to CIT have not been
confirmed/determined by the relevant tax authorities,
objective estimates and judgements based on currently
enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies,
and interpretations and practices in respect thereof are
required in determining the provision for income taxes to
be made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts originally recorded, the
differences will have an impact on the income tax and tax
provisions in the period in which the differences realise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Estimates for net realisable values of properties
under development and properties held for sale

The Group assesses the carrying amounts of properties
under development and properties held for sale according
to whether their net realisable values are lower than
their costs, with their net realisable values based on
the realisability of these properties taking into account,
inter alia, management’s estimates of the expected
selling price based on prevailing market conditions,
less applicable estimated selling expenses and other
estimated costs to make the sale, and the estimated
costs to be incurred to completion. As at 31 March
2022, the carrying amounts of the Group’s properties
under development and properties held for sale were
approximately HK$337,320,000 (2021: HK$313,607,000)
and HK$487,200,000 (2021: HK$469,401,000),
respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. The carrying
amount of goodwill at 31 March 2022 was approximately
HK$64,470,000 (2021: HK$67,703,000). Further details
are given in note 16 to the financial statements.

Ep N A - LN )

A E i 5t

RIS B RBAR R R0 = BHEA R E A
fEEHTRENERIOR AR BT —
BYBRFENEAER AAREETEE
RBEZERRBR TR -

BRYPDERFEHEDEZ TE
B
AEBIREB @M ENH A EIRFE (7]
BRFEDERZEMEZATEEMN)
REEREMNANTFEBREPYERF
EHEMEMNRAME BREMEBEIN
Wit R EBEREBRITTAELNEE
BREF REBAZEHEERI R
HhtEH S5 E T A A ETACA - LA R fd
AAREIKAKEE - RZE-__F=A8
=t+—H AEEERPMERSIED
W 2 REED B4 &337,320,000
BT (—ZZT =~ —%:313,607,000/ 7T)
5 487,200,000 L (=T = —F:
469,401,000 7T ) °

P

AEEEVEBFETHERTRER
B-AUHERFHEIEEENRSE
FENZFEREBEERAFERDE
KAzEBEmE - B FREETER
SEHReELABENCHEHEBEERS
MEELHMGT YEREB 2 WNX
Nt EZER e RECHE- RZT
——FZA=+t—H8 BEZEEE
#) 564,470,000 L (Z T = —F:
67,703,000/ 70 ) © #E— BRI 5
HMERMIEE16 -




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
% & Ea‘ B R M

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers to perform the valuations of the
investment properties of the Group at the end of the
reporting period.

The valuation of investment properties involves significant
estimations and assumptions, including, among others,
the estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for the
income capitalisation approach and the estimated market
price for the direct comparison approach.

The carrying amount of investment properties of
the Group as at 31 March 2022 was approximately
HK$2,522,690,000 (2021: HK$2,515,637,000). Further
details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement, are given in note 14 to the financial
statements.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for
LAT is based on management’s estimates and according
to their understanding of the requirements of certain
PRC tax laws and regulations, and interpretations and
practices in respect thereof. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the relevant tax authorities
upon the completion of the relevant property development
projects. As the relevant tax authorities have not yet
finalised their LAT assessments for certain property
development projects of the Group, the final outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on, inter alia, available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z = ?::ﬁg: =F+—HIFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Recognition and allocation of construction costs
on properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as
properties under development during the construction
stage and will be transferred to properties held for sale
upon completion. An apportionment of these costs will
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss upon the
recognition of the sale of completed properties. Before the
final settlement of the development costs and other costs
relating to the sale of the completed properties, these
costs are accrued by the Group based on management’s
best estimates.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the
development projects into phases. Specific costs directly
related to the development of a phase are recorded as the
costs of such phase. Costs that are common to phases
are generally allocated to individual phases based on the
estimated saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related
cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any
increase or decrease in the development costs and other
costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.

Provision for expected credit losses on financial
assets at amortised cost

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE_-—F=-—F=HA=+—HIFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on financial
assets at amortised cost (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future.

The Group uses the general approach to calculate ECLs
on financial assets at amortised cost other than trade
receivables, which are determined with reference to,
inter alia, the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a
number of factors, change in which can result in different
levels of allowances.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing
rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease.
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEsHER
INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into REEMS AEEREMERRBEAE
business units based on their products and services and BN R/AETEBEN WHLTRET]
has two reportable operating segments as follows: WELEDES:

(@ the restaurant, food and hotel segment which
engages in the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses; and

(b) the property investment and development segment
which comprises the development and sale of
properties and the leasing of residential, commercial
and industrial properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax
is measured consistently with the Group’s profit before
tax except that bank interest income, unallocated other
income and gains, net, finance costs as well as corporate
and unallocated expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are mainly transacted
with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
third parties or at the agreed prices.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEPHER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_Z-_—_F#=A=+—HILEE
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and
and hotel development Total
38 MERE
BRRERE RER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TET TER
Segment revenue (note 5) DI A (HEE5)
Revenue from external customers REMNFER 2 WA 676,144 105,026 781,170
Intersegment revenue DERE 2 WA 1,381 10,757 12,138
677,525 115,783 793,308
Reconciliation: oLl
Elimination of intersegment revenue WiE o HE WA (12,138)
Total revenue BRA 781,170
Segment results FHEE 51,070 56,990 108,060
Reconciliation: Tl
Bank interest income RITHBUA 3,918
Unallocated other income and gains, net A 7 it E At I A F U 25 -
3 5,324
Corporate and unallocated expenses CERKRDEX (15,531)
Finance costs B Rk (53,199)
Profit before tax BB A4 Al 48,572




4. OPERATING SEGMENT
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE

4. K2 BEH @0

INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2022 (Continued) BE-ZB-_-_H=ZA=+—-HLEE
(#&)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and
and hotel development Total
28 MERE
RRRERE REE Fh
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TERT TER
Other segment information HithpHER:
Changes in fair value of investment RENFR 2 RTFE
properties, net 2% 38 - (29,865) (29,865)
Share of profit of associates FEARE & R A& R - 35,991 35,991
Other interest income HioF S WA
- segment -nE - - -
- unallocated —-xDHE 21,344
21,344
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of ERE SRR ZRE
trade receivables, net (RERE) FE (2,281) 1,056 (1,225)
Impairment of other receivables, net HibEWBRZURE 35 - 2,151 2,151
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERSETE
equipment
- segment -2 57,421 14,915 72,336
- unallocated -XHE 1,017
73,353
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREEZNE 51,021 352 51,373
Capital expenditure BARRX
- segment — 0 E 35,634 50,211 85,845
- unallocated Vol 95,669
181,514*
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, * BEARLBIERNEME BB MRER
plant and equipment and investment properties, excluding BEME TeERKRENBARMSE

assets from the acquisition of subsidiaries. Eo
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEPHER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE-_Z-—F=ZA=+—HItFE
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and
and hotel development Total
2R MERE i
R KBS RER @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FAT AT
Segment revenue (note 5) DI (HiFES5)
Revenue from external customers REMBEEZWA 705,681 90,345 796,026
Intersegment revenue A EE 2 WA 648 5,412 6,060
706,329 95,757 802,086
Reconciliation: o8-
Elimination of intersegment revenue Wi H BE 2 WA (6,060)
Total revenue BRA 796,026
Segment results DWEE 105,049 100,801 205,850
Reconciliation: Tl
Bank interest income |ITH B HA 3,802
Unallocated other income and gains, net A 7 it E At I A F U 25 -
FE 47,055
Corporate and unallocated expenses PERRAEN (30,256)
Finance costs B AR (59,390)

Profit before tax BRI AR F 167,061
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEFTBER (w0
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021 (Continued) BE-_ZT-—4=ZA=Z+—HILFE
(&)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and
and hotel developmept Total
2R MERE ‘
R KBS RER @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET THET
Other segment information HivpHER:
Changes in fair value of investment REME 2 ATE
properties, net 28 58 - 121,886 121,886
Share of losses of associates NGl - (59,692) (59,692)
Other interest income HiF S WA
- segment - - 17 17
- unallocated vl 15,596
15,613
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of EWRESER L RE,/
trade receivables, net (RERE) F8 12 (2,088) (2,076)
Impairment of other receivables, net Hi Y RSURME  F 8 - 11,174 11,174
Unwinding of discount on receivables JEW B 2 Fr iR BT (13,373)
Depreciation of property, plant and mE BERSEINE
equipment
- segment N 58,086 9,511 67,597
- unallocated vl 1,671
69,268
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREECHE 60,252 2,737 62,989
Capital expenditure §$ E-ﬁ 5
- segment *B 32,984 46,459 79,443
- unallocated 5E 1,241
80,684*
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, e B BERNEYME WENMERER
plant and equipment and investment properties, excluding REME TERWENBARIMEE

assets from the acquisition of subsidiaries. Eo
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEPBER (@)
INFORMATION (Continued)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION i & & R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEMNBEFZWA
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FExT FHET
Hong Kong BB 258,509 262,602
Mainland China Fh B K B 522,661 533,424
781,170 796,026
The revenue information above is based on the A E R TR IE R FTE 2 M
locations of the customers. % 7 5E °
(b) Non-current assets b) FRBHEE
2022 2021
—=E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHE T
Hong Kong B 969,226 841,527
Mainland China B K B 4,105,863 3,789,207
5,075,089 4,630,734
The non-current asset information above is based RS EEER RIEEEM
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial EzHEmMERTREERTAR

instruments and deferred tax assets. AR TEE FE o
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4, BE»HER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR EHFEEFZ2&EH
CUSTOMERS

No revenue from any single external customer accounted
for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

BE-_ZT-_—_#R-_ZE-_—%=H
=+—HIEFE WEREEME—I
HEP 2 WA RSB R Z10%3 A
J:o

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ HAb Uk A Kk 25
GAINS
REVENUE A
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHIAT :
2022 2021
B —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Revenue from contracts with KEEFEHZHA
customers
Income from restaurant, B RaMBEEBKRA
food and hotel businesses 676,144 705,681
Proceeds from the sale of properties, 5 & ¥ % F715 28
property management service VBB RFBA K
income and commission income B WA 10,728 4,855
686,872 710,536
Revenue from other sources K8 E KR WA
Gross rental income Helh A@sE 94,298 85,490
781,170 796,026
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H b A Rk % s
GAINS (Continued)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEHEEFAHZHA
CUSTOMERS
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WA EER
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_E__—F=ZHF=+—HI
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
2R -_AK MERER
Segments BIE BE @it
28 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER TER TER
Types of goods or services ERTREESR
Restaurant operations BELE 285,592 = 285,592
Bakery operations HEEEE 120,105 - 120,105
Sale of food products RmiHE 248,256 - 248,256
Hotel operations BELE 22,191 - 22,191
Property management services MEEBE RS - 2,939 2,939
Sale of properties MEREE - 7,789 7,789
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFA K 2 @Y
customers 676,144 10,728 686,872
Geographical markets WETS
Hong Kong N 244,282 - 244,282
Mainland China HE A 431,862 10,728 442,590
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFA K 2 @Y
customers 676,144 10,728 686,872
Timing of revenue recognition W A\ SR B5 5
At a point in time RE R 653,953 7,789 661,742
Over time B B ] 22,191 2,939 25,130

Total revenue from contracts with ~ REEFP AKX 2 B A
customers 676,144 10,728 686,872
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information

5. WA~ H e A Rk g e

kEEFE

(i) WAZEAH 5

HzWA )

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE - FE-_—F=ZA=+—HItF
E
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
Z% R MERER
Segments BE TR st
& HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT
Types of goods or services EnsRBESR
Restaurant operations BBILE 318,675 - 318,675
Bakery operations mRELE 103,146 - 103,146
Sale of food products EmiEE 260,231 - 260,231
Hotel operations BELE 23,629 - 23,629
Property management services MEEE RS - 1,167 1,167
Sale of properties MEHE - 3,688 3,688
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFA K 2 @Y
customers 705,681 4,855 710,536
Geographical markets WEmG
Hong Kong &5 250,033 108 050,341
Mainland China R A 455,448 4,747 460,195
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBRF AKX ZBKA
customers 705,681 4,855 710,536
Timing of revenue recognition I A RS2 65 5
At a point in time RE— R 682,052 3,688 685,740
Over time B8 By R 23,629 1,167 24,796
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFAK 2 BUA
customers 705,681 4,855 710,536
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H b A Rk & s
GAINS (Continued)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEZEFEHZKA (50
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEEHR (4
(Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue TXHINKERFELHZWAESY
from contracts with customers to the amounts HMERHEZ SRR

disclosed in the segment information:

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE_E__—_F=F=+—HIF
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
28 -BER NERER
Segments BIE BE @t
28 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
Revenue from contracts with ~ REEFAH WA
customers
External customers IR 676,144 10,728 686,872
Intersegment revenue DEEBA 1,381 10,757 12,138

677,525 21,485 699,010
Intersegment adjustments and 7 ER AR B 85
eliminations (1,381) (10,757) (12,138)

Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFP AL 2 WA\ #E%
customers 676,144 10,728 686,872




Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z - F——

9. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH

CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ZHA=F—HIEFE

5. WA~ H e A Rk g e

KEHEFGHZRA (80

(i) WAZEAH 5

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 P E - —F=H=+—HIF
FZF
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
Z8-RM MERER
Segments BE TR st
o HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTAT TEL
Revenue from contracts with ~ REEFEHZKA
customers
External customers IBER 705,681 4,855 710,536
Intersegment revenue AEEBA 648 - 648
706,329 4,855 711,184
Intersegment adjustments and 7 TP R N8
eliminations (648) = (648)
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBFP A4 2 WA # %
customers 705,681 4,855 710,536
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5.
GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information
(Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period.

oA~ Bl A R g s

KEEFEHZHA )

WA EEFR (8

TRETNARE BREEZT AR
BERVIZENABZBMATHE-

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Revenue recognised that was st AR RE#VI 2
included in contract liabilities at A#I BB
the beginning of the reporting BRI A :
period:
Restaurant, food and hotel B R MBE 11,687 11,694
Property investment and MERERER
development 10,971 9,286
22,658 20,980

(iij) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Restaurant operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
at the point in time when/as goods or services are
transferred/provided to a customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally due at the point the
customer purchases/obtains control of the promised
goods or services.

(i) J& %51t

FAARKERABET 2 ERBIMM
T

BR&E
BRHET RN ERIREERR
HTPEFRER -TFPNBE,
1S PR & an IR TS 2 45 Il R s —
BB R HER-
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—FE=-—#F=H=+—HIFEF

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. W A~ H Al A Bk g (s

GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

KEEFAHZWA (&)

(i) & & A E)

Bakery operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
at the point in time when/as goods or services are
transferred/provided to a customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally due at the point the
customer purchases/obtains control of the promised
goods or services.

Sale of food products

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon delivery of the products to the customers
and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days,
extending to a longer period for major customers,
from the date of delivery, except for new customers
or certain food products, where payment in advance
is normally required.

Hotel operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
over time as services are provided and payment
is generally due when the services have been
rendered.

Property management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Property management service
contracts are for periods of one to eight years and
payment in advance is normally required.

e EEE
BROET RN ERIREEET
BEFREK -TFPNEE ISR
A B o SRS 2 A IR — AR 2R
XN HEE -

R &
BHEE—MRRARE R ERE
ER - — MR E B1%30E90H
AR (FERFEEREER
BR) - MEMRFPHETRMBRIN H
BESEELK

B AT &

JBHIE AT — R B A AR %5 B 8 B T
EK R R E IR RS R
%q o

VEEEIRFE
BHORERRUEREREREEZ
K-MEREBERGENRE—FE
NE WBEFEERNK-
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Year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE_-—F=-—F=HA=+—HIFZ

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

5. WA~ H bt A Kk 5 s

XBEFALZWA ()
(i) 2 # AE ()

Sale of properties Y EHE

In respect of the sale of completed properties, the MEIMECIHEMS BHRME
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in RNEFREBERTIMEEZEME
time when the legal title of the completed property W2 R REIEERK - RS EE MY
is obtained by the customer. Payment of the BRIEEE WSS B ZIERM e

transaction price is generally made in accordance
with the terms of the respective sale and purchase
agreements.

Y E L RE ]
BAEERNRERBEEX I3
—RRI 5% B HAERT30H B H

Property agency services

The performance obligation is satisfied when the
services have been rendered and payment is
generally due within 30 days from the agreement

date.
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS HAth e A e W %
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: HMRA R a=E AT
2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Bank interest income ERITH BULA 3,918 3,802
Investment interest income TEFE WA 11,303 11,263
Other interest income H b7 B U A 21,344 15,613
Changes in fair value of investment REMERNTEZS F5E
properties, net - 121,886
Dividend income from equity investments 3& & &% A FEH IR MR
designated at fair value through other HM2EBRARREZ
comprehensive income BRI E 2R EWA 4,169 4,169
Dividend income from financial assets BAFESERRNIBES
at fair value through profit or loss RIBZERMEEL
OSU N 3,702 2,145
Fair value gain on financial assets BATESRERIERS
at fair value through profit or loss BREZEMEEZ
N EWRE - 10,803
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHB ARz W - 3,983
Gain on lease modification MEEET 2 W - 8,451
Gain on lease termination LI E WA 109 -
Unwinding of discount on receivables FE W SRIE 2 IR E R [ - 13,373
Government subsidies* AT 78 Bh* 850 29,204
Others Hi 9,164 11,579
54,559 236,271

Government subsidies mainly represent subsidies
received in connection with the support from the

T 6 B & 22 45 W ER SR A B 1 BT IR

BB (ERREES] & R ET
“Anti-epidemic Fund” and “Employment Support 2l B - EEmM AR
Scheme” of the Government of the Hong Kong Special RS AREMENEHRTEES
Administrative Region. There are no unfulfiled conditions e

or contingencies relating to these subsidies.




Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — e

6. B8 wi i Al

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

%Aﬁa‘iﬁﬁi%liﬂﬂ
AL FE

AKBERBADEFE N, (GEA) AT

(crediting): S
2022 2021
—E-C-E —ET-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &x FEx FHET
Cost of inventories sold and services EEFE K ERERE 2
provided B 407,152 429,547
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #1% R R RE 2T E
equipment 13 73,353 69,268
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FFAEEEZITE 15(a) 51,373 62,989
COVID-19-related rent concessions 7 A $COVID-1918RE &
from lessors B 15(c) (2,343) (8,854)
Lease payments not included in the & qu)\TEE BEHEZ
measurement of lease liabilities HERK 15(c) 3,806 880
Variable lease payments not included kit AR E & &zt ER
in the measurement of lease AERERE
liabilities 15(c) - 12
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 B 357 4,246 4,135
Employee benefit expense (excluding 1& & & 75
directors’ remuneration (note 8)):  (E =B (F7E8)
BRAN) #
Wages, salaries and bonuses IE Fekita 139,857 146,994
Equity-settled share option gz E Y
expense BB - 227
Pension scheme contributions RS EIHRK
(defined contribution schemes) (REHKEED) 8,089 6,697
147,946 153,918
Foreign exchange differences, net  MNE =58 - JF58 (453) (6,109)
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) A N& B ZE,/
of ORERE) :
— trade receivables, net -RREZER F8 23 (1,225) (2,076)
— other receivables, net —HAEKERR FE 24 2,151 11,174
Direct operating expenses (including BEVES 2 R EMEELZE
repairs and maintenance) arising EEEXH
from rental-earning investment (BREB#ERRE)
properties 350 589
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. BB WAl e

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B ex TER FET
Changes in fair value of investment  REWME A FEEE -
properties, net R 14 29,865 (121,886)
Fair value losses/(gains), net:* DNEEEBE/ (W) -
HEE
Financial assets at fair value BAFEIERRBERP
through profit or loss BREEHEE 46,414 (10,803)
- : RITH WA
Bank interest income (3,918) (3,802)
~ i REMBWA
Investment interest income (11,303) (11,263)
Other interest income % ﬁET'J BHA (21,344) (15,613)
Dividend income from equity RIE BIRAFETIER
. . REMEREBAF
investments designated BB RERERE
at fair value through other
comprehensive income N (4,169) (4,169)
Dividend income from financial % /D\{.{Eﬁlj &R
. . REBEEFREZ
assets at fair value through profit SRBEIREWA
or loss . (3,702) (2,145)
Loss on disposal/write-off of items th /}Eﬂ/ ot 85 %% ﬁ%&
. RBEAZEER FE
of property, plant and equipment,
net n 825 1,457
Impairment of goodwill* Eﬁ%)ﬁﬂﬁ* 16 3,233 8,748
Release of deferred income” ﬁﬂ_i&ﬂﬁ# B (205) (1,355)
Unwinding of discount on RN IR 2 FTR B AT
receivables - (18,373)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHNB ARz W 37 - (3,983)
*  Inclusive of an amount of HK$103,280,000 (2021: fOBRESBRREEGEREREREZ
HK$117,846,000) classified under cost of inventories sold FX 75103,280,0008 7T (= F = — 4
and services provided. 117,846,000/ 7T ) 2 & &a °
* The impairment of goodwill and fair value losses on * AR 2R EREAFEDERREZS
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are TRE/SREE A FEBERA
included in “Other expenses, net” in the consolidated rAEmE [ HaRAx F8El AN
statement of profit or loss.
" The release of deferred income is classified under cost of t R ABKRGAGEABEERCER
inventories sold and services provided. ERBRERBE ZKA] A -
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%E A E?J‘ B & W
Year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE— —F=ZA=F—HIFFE
FINANCE COSTS 7. WEB A
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MK ADITAT
2022 2021
g oo —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZFE 47,864 54,880
Interest on convertible bonds A]RE S 2 F B 1,550 -
Interest on lease liabilities HERBZHNE 3,785 4,510
53,199 59,390
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM 2
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant BRIEBEBHERIMERAFES LT
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The AN (T EmRA]) - %f/% GRS
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing 383(1)@)* (b)* (C))Si(f)ﬂ%&?\i%@ﬁj (5"

Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong

EENEER) ROIEHMBEEAFEE

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong EMEmT
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Fees we 905 600
Other emoluments: H e :
Salaries and allowances e KoERL 9,923 8,219
Equity-settled share option expense J/‘MEET%*%‘;Z%H%E X 149 639
Pension scheme contributions RIRET B
(defined contribution schemes) (REMHNKEED 161 170
10,233 9,028
11,138 9,628
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EFHM L s
(Continued)
(A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE A) BarEsfr#ES
DIRECTORS
The fees paid to independent non-executive AREEESNBYIFRITESHE N
directors during the year were as follows: T
2022 2021
—E-= —_=E-—
Fees Fees
we e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BRI S 300 200
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam* & XS A 91 200
Mr. Wong See King HEEREBEE 300 200
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, SR EE U ST A
Christopher* 214 -
905 600
* Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam resigned as an independent * EXHELEER_TE-_—F+tAH
non-executive director on 15 July 2021 and Mr. T HAREBLIFERITES KK
Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher was appointed as FEREENR-_TE-_—FtA+H
an independent non-executive director on 15 July BEZFEABIIENITES-
2021.
There were no other emoluments payable to the REEWEENBIIIFNTESH
independent non-executive directors during the year HthHm (— S —F &)

(2021 Nil).
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HAEMBHEME
Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—FE=-—#F=H=+—HIFEF
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. #EHEME =)
(Continued)
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS B) HITES
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and  share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense  contributions  remuneration
e B NEHRLE Bk
& RES ZRRE HE | e
e =3:11 A WX 3 #g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHR FHR FHR FHR FHR
2022 —E-CF
Executive directors: WIES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENBRAE - 1,520 - - 55 1,575
Mr. Ma Kai Yum SNes - 2,353 - - 70 2,423
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SRsELE - 751 - - 18 769
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen BRI 4 - 1,563 - 149 18 1,730
Mr. Liang Rui RHEE - 3,736 - - - 3,736
- 9,923 - 149 161 10,233
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense contributions remuneration
e Bt MEREE Rk
& R 2B BEl il
e =113 piZan 53 3R Fok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT FTHT FTHT FTHT FTHT THT
2021 —E--F
Executive directors: HirES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENBLE - 1,439 - - 55 1,494
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENEE - 2,164 - - 70 2,234
M. Leung Pak Yan* REALLE = 1,616 = 101 9 1,726
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SRS ELE - 588 - 101 18 707
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen B4 = 1,497 = 437 18 1,952
Mr. Liang Rui* R L - 915 - - - 915
= 8219 = 639 170 9,028
- Mr. Leung Pak Yan retired as an executive director * RARKER_ZB_—F—H—
on 1 January 2021 and Mr. Liang Rui was appointed ARARITESRRMIEERZ
as an executive director on 2 January 2021, T - —F—AZHEZERNT
=
There was no arrangement under which a director FRNIEE BREL R B RETMA
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during Nz HE -

the year.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ 9.
REMUNERATION

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2021: four) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining one (2021: one) non-director,

DA 5 ¥ R B 2 #

-

RAFE Ak FEERENS (=
T —F:OR)EE HFEMWFEHT
REXHF8 BT —B(ZT=—%F:
—B)FEF FEBITBRABZESH

non-chief executive highest paid employee are as follows: EEZEHMFFBENT:
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Salaries e 1,456 1,421
Equity-settled share option expense  AREZ4EE 7 BRI X 20 26
1,476 1,447

The remuneration of the non-director, non-chief executive
highest paid employee for the year fell within the band of
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (2021: HK$1,000,001 to
HK$1,500,000).

HER FEFBTHRABZESFHEES
R A 2 ¥ B & 51,000,001 T 2
1,500,000 TEHERN (Z T = —F:
1,000,001 7t 1,500,000/ 7T ) °
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE

10. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$2,000,000) of assessable
profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% (2021: 8.25%)
and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland
China have been calculated at the relevant rates of tax
prevailing in Mainland China in which the Group operates.

10. i 5 B

ERFNEHEIBREFARBBEE A
ST RBUEAMIL16.5% (T = —4F:
16.5% ) M EFERE - EREEH
— Bt BB & R & RS B0 /R AR s I T &Y
HERER %MW B A FH E2,000,000
ot (ZZ = — 4% :2,000,0007% 7T) &Y
FERBF B XK B825% (=T = —
F:8.25%) HRTHERBFEREA
16.5% (ZE=Z—F:16.5%) - £ B R
B K Bk 1B 2 FERR B K 2 BRI 0 3%
REBIRRE 2 AR ITRI R E

2022 2021
—=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Current — Hong Kong BNER— &%
Charge for the year REEZH 401 848
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHRERE (330) =
Current — Mainland China BIVHA — R B K B
Corporate income tax S/ 48,174 45,404
Land appreciation tax TR E R 139 57
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHRERE (14,852) (20,323)
Deferred EE (10,071) 30,538
Total tax charge for the year AEERIEBEY HETE 23,461 56,524
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit

10. Fr 15 8 (=)
REE AT B R S AR B B AT F

before tax at the Hong Kong statutory rate to the tax ZHBAT ERERREGTE 2 B
charge at the effective tax rate is as follows: XEBRWT
2022 2021
—E=-= B —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Profit before tax B 52 Bl A 48,572 167,061
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory BREBEETE16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) ZEZ—5F:165%)
FEZHE 8,014 27,565
Effect of higher tax rates ﬁi%fﬁﬁ”‘ﬂﬂ%@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁz
for specific provinces or enacted LISy R v -2 -
by local authorities 15,880 20,002
Adjustments in respect of current tax B EIfE 2
of previous periods BN IE AR (15,182) (20,323)
Profits and losses attributable to FE(G B & A Blm F) & B 1B
associates (5,939) 9,849
Income not subject to tax BARBUA (15,802) (19,914)
Expenses not deductible for tax T 27,732 34,263
Land appreciation tax T HpIE(E 139 50
Tax losses utilised from previous FRABETHRN
periods TIAE R (183) (904)
Tax losses not recognised RERKTIBEE 8,802 5,936
Tax charge at the Group'’s IRANE B TR X
effective rate AAEZHES S 23,461 56,524

DIEEEEE R TZ%}‘%’I‘EEﬁi%%’J
35,420,000 7T (ZE = —FMIBER
301,000 L) Bt AfRra Bm K [EIG
B2 N ENR A M EE ] e

The share of tax expenses attributable to associates
amounting to approximately HK$35,420,000 (2021: tax
credit HK$301,000) is included in “Share of profits and
losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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%E f Ea‘ B R M
Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE
DIVIDEND 11. |k &
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FET
Proposed final - HK1 cent BE A -SRI BRI
(2021: HK3 cents) per ordinary share ( =& = —4F : 37%&1ll) 15,714 47141

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to
the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 1,536,229,851 (2021:
1,257,431,944) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

12.

REREZZBRYRBAFARARR
REVEABRZBRBFEARE L1 /ER
JTRIEE

B w5 kA O\ A
5 Mk & A

BREARNSEIRESG AR EBER
BB ARERNFEENRFRNEET
T R 2 I 15 801,636,229,851 A%
(ZZF=—%:1,257,431,9448 )5t & -

EENEBE S -_—FER - —F=
A=+ HULEFEUTEBEEEYEY
L@
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

12. BN %8 R A A A
=N RN

(Continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share EREARREERN DIREA TN SIER
are based on: i
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—1F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Earnings ZF
Profit attributable to ordinary AREFTESREAREE
equity holders of the parent, BNz B AR L BRE
used in the basic and diluted A AEGE R
earnings per share calculations 3,822 81,004
Number of shares
ROEE
2022 2021
—E-CF T —4F
Shares vy

Weighted average number of ordinary FA T8 &I B A K # 58
shares in issue during the year used & F| 2 FRE 31T
in the basic and dilutive earnings per & if A% hn#E F 15 £

share calculations 1,5636,229,851 | 1,257,431,944
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Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ-—F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. WE-FBER&HE

Furniture,
Hotel Landand  Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor Construction
properties buildings improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
HE BER &
BEENE IhREF  UEEE #E RERRHE EH  HEIR BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT TR TR TER  TER TR TER
31 March 2022 “E--FZA=+-R
At 1 April 2021: RZE=—FmA-A:
Cost or valuation ERAEREE 389,111 441,290 236,621 108,168 114,364 27,513 21,005 1,338,072
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERAE
impairment (143,931) (94,525) (156,841) (62,707) (99,302) (24,629) - (581,935)
Net carrying amount EEFE 245,180 346,765 79,780 45,461 15,062 2,884 21,005 756,137
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ-§MmA—-A 245,180 346,765 79,780 45,461 15,062 2,884 21,005 756,137
Additions RE - 95,354 67,506 11,833 5,374 1,447 - 181,514
Depreciation provided during FRTERE (Fii6)
the year (note 6) (13,475) (12,640) (23,070) (15,654) (7,794) (720) - (73,353)
Disposals/write-off HE /8 - - (1,102) (30) (3,487) - - (4,619)
Exchange realignment ERHRE 12,082 15,161 1,127 3,777 1,574 (568) 868 40,021
At 31 March 2022, net of RZZ-—
accumulated depreciation ZA=t+-8"
MR 2EE 243,787 444,640 130,241 45,387 10,729 3,043 21,873 899,700
At 31 March 2022: i S—c3
=A=t+-8:
Cost or valuation ERAEXEE 405,211 552,616 307,014 122,950 103,156 28,790 21873 1,541,610
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERRE
impairment (161,424)  (107.976)  (176,773) (77,563) (92,427) (25,747) - (641,910
Net carrying amount REFE 243,787 444,640 130,241 45,387 10,729 3,043 21,873 899,700
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. W% -FhE k&

EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Furniture,
Hotel Land and Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
properties buildings  improvements machinery  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
HE % Rk i
BENE  tHREF MELE #eE RERZE EL) EREIR oE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHET FHET FHET FEL FiET FEL
31 March 2021 —E--£=f=+-H
At 1 April 2020: RZZ-TFMWA—A:
Cost or valuation BRAELEE 358,687 429,661 215,183 92,054 108,451 25,884 10918 1,240,838
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERAE
impairment (123,227) (92,334) (134,372) (39,440) (87,640) (21,846) - (498,859)

Net carrying amount REFE 235,460 337,327 80,811 52,614 20,811 4,038 10,918 741,979
At 1 April 2020 RZZ-TFMA-A 235,460 337,327 80,811 52,614 20,811 4,038 10,918 741,979
Additions WE S S 14,234 11,087 3,959 887 17,325 47,492
Transfers fEr - 8,461 - - - = (8,461) =
Depreciation provided during FRTERE (Fi6)

the year (note 6) 9,919 (10,264) (15,928) (21,050 (9,826) (2,281) - (69,268)
Disposals/write-off HE /8 - - (1,782) (195) (809) 13 = (2,723
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HKBAR

(note 37) (Mizxar) S S (1,869) (74) 38 - - (1,981)
Surplus on revaluation EHBH - 27,218 - - - - = 27218
Transfer to investment properties ~ E A% EME (Hi14)

(note 14) = (40,621) = = = = = (40,621)
Exchange realignment ERAZ 19,639 24,644 4264 3,079 965 227 1,223 54,041
At 31 March 2021, net of i g3

accumulated depreciation =ZR=t+-B"

BIKRENE 245,180 346,765 79,780 45,461 15,062 2,884 21,005 756,137
At 31 March 2021: RZZ=—F
=A=1+-B:
Cost or valuation BRRAELEE 389,111 441,290 236,621 108,168 114,364 27,513 21,005 1,338,072
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERRE
impairment (143,931) (94,525) (156,841) (62,707) (99,302) (24,629) - (581,935)
Net carrying amount REFE 245,180 346,765 79,780 45,461 15,062 2,884 21,005 756,137
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were
revalued at 31 March 1995, by independent professionally
qualified valuers at open market value based on their
then existing use. Since 1995, no further valuation of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings has been carried
out, as the Group has relied on the exemption, granted
under the transitional provisions as set out in paragraph
80AA of HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equijpment, from
the requirement to carry out further revaluations of its
property, plant and equipment which were stated at
valuation at that time.

Had these leasehold land and buildings been carried at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, their total carrying amount would have
been approximately HK$429,000 (2021: HK$532,000).

At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$328,642,000 (2021: HK$312,589,000)
were pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 41).

13. ¥~ W K&t e

BYSEXAERMGEMCRERRER
B EEERAATER-NANLEF=A
=t REAKEETHELMEET
ETER -B-NANEFE AEEZHE
B REFEEBETE-SEML R
AAAKEFEREEEGTERIE6
tﬂ‘i#@% B2 K iR 1 P R B0AAR Pl 2
BRGXR B Z B eHZENERIREG
BIRZYE BERRBETE—F
EffzHE-

Mz EHE i RIEFUUE LK AR
2EITE MMERREBEAR  EEKR
H{EFEX) 5429,0008 T (- —F:
532,000/ 7T) °

R-_BE-_—F=ZA=+—H0 &£EE
T % {E #9328,642,00008 T (ZF = —
£ :312,589,000& L) 2 & TYW % &
ERZECEER ERAXSEERE
FHRITEE 2 ER (KM3E41) o
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professionally qualified valuers, at approximately
HK$2,522,690,000 (2021: HK$2,515,637,000). Each
year, the Group’s management decides to appoint
which external valuers to be responsible for the external
valuations of the Group’s investment properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s management has discussions
with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed for
financial reporting. Certain investment properties are
leased to third parties under operating leases, further
summary details of which are included in note 15 to the
financial statements.

At 31 March 2022, the Group’s investment
properties with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$2,178,640,000 (2021: HK$2,010,456,000) were
pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 41).

Further particulars of the Group’s principal properties are
included on pages 259 to 272.

Year ended 31 March 2022 #BZ=-F=-—F=HA=+—HI FE
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. & %
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5 FET FET
Carrying amount at beginning of R E 2 BREE @ R4 1E
year, at valuation 2,515,637 1,982,167
Additions N - 33,192
Transfers from EE A
Owner-occupied property =PRI ES 13 - 40,621
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) - 1,251
Properties held for sale FEH ’% ES 21 - 4,768
Prepayments T FRIR 4,494 289,237
Net gain/(loss) from fair value SIZEEJT%F £
adjustments Wz, (E8) %8 6 (29,865) 121,886
Exchange realignment b X 32,424 42,515
Carrying amount at 31 March, at R=A=+—H ZKEE&E"
valuation ®Ri4E 2,522,690 2,515,637
The directors of the Company have determined that the AR EECRESYEZME ik
Group’s investment properties consist of three classes NEBEEASEIREMER=—BEE
of asset, i.e., residential, commercial and industrial A (BME=E HMERITEYZE)EK-
properties, based on the nature, characteristics and risks RZFE-_—_F=A=1+—H AKBZ
of each property. The Group’s investment properties HEMERBEHRBUEESERMGE
were revalued on 31 March 2022 based on valuations MEEF A REMBRAT (2T —
performed by HG Appraisal & Consulting Limited & I%}Eﬁﬁuéuﬁ]ﬁﬁﬁ’& A)#ETZ
(2021: Avista Valuation Advisory Limited), independent (G} #2,522,690,0008 7T (= F

ﬁ
-H?HFHH
oF
f\)\
o 2F
ou\LIJL

515,637, 0003 7T * & 4 & -
ZK%@Z@% BAEE I EEEmE
EAREEEEMEZIIBHEE - TIRE
BIEEmsME - B8 Bt R hY
BEETE KEBR 2 BEIEE 75
$&Lfﬂéﬂ§ﬁ%§ﬁi1¢1§ﬁﬂi*¢ A ERE
HELERF JHXéS%%m;z Z2HE
%ﬁ%%zﬁﬁ—ﬂﬁ%%%l%a%mﬂﬁ
EHRERMEI5A -

RZTE-_—_F=A=+—H XEBE
HEE# A2,178,640,000 T (— T = —
F 2010456000;5n)2&§%%5
EERTF EAAEEERETRITEER
ZHER(MiE41) -

AEEIBEMEZE-—THFBARSE
259F 2728 °
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—FE=-—#F=H=+—HIFEF
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. R EW ¥ (#)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY A fE E %
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRIWNRAEBREMFE 2 A FEFE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: &A%
Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2022 using
R=ZZB-Z5=Zf=+-H
FRANTRBEETZALETE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBTE EBEATER EXTUEER
ZHE BAE BAER
(5-%) (5=8&) (B=8) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TET FHET
Hong Kong: Ek:
Commercial properties HENE - - 148,700 148,700
Industrial properties IENZE - - 161,336 161,336
Residential properties FEME - - 29,740 29,740
Mainland China: B AR :
Commercial properties [GE3/ES - - 2,060,200 2,060,200
Industrial properties TEN%E = S 122,714 122,714

2,522,690

2,522,690




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

14. L&YW % )
N B & (a)

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2021 using
RZBZ—$=A=1+—H
ERATEEETZ AT EAE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERWS EATHEE EATIER
ZEfE BAE BAE
(5—#) (B=@) (B=) @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THL THT TAER
Hong Kong: BE:
Commercial properties HEME - - 152,900 152,900
Industrial properties I¥M%E - - 161,336 161,336
Residential properties FEME - - 25,000 25,000
Mainland China: AR -
Commercial properties BE3/ES - - 2,062,780 2,062,780
Industrial properties TIT9% - - 113,621 113,621
- - 2,515,637 2,515,637

RER BEESBENEME-REFE -
Mz AFEFERTERLE=RPEA
FEBH(ZT_—F )

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil).
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—FE=-—#F=H=+—HIFEF
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. R EW ¥ (#)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) NV B s
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised BERE=RATFEEBRAZ A FER
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: EHER:
Hong Kong Mainland China
E: HE AR
Commercial Industrial Residential  Commercial Industrial

properties properties properties properties properties
HENE IEUM% FENE BENE IEN%E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL T T THr Tir

Carrying amount at 1 April 2020 RZBZZTEMA—-HY
REE 154,200 165,448 13,700 1,583,645 05,174
Additions NE = S - 33,192 -
Transfers B - - 4,768 289,237 41,872
Net gain/(loss) from fair value adustments MEZHERZ AFEAR
recognised in profit or loss i/ (BR) 38 (1,300) 4112 6,532 121,109 (343)
Exchange realignment EHAR - - - 35,507 6918
Carrying amount at 31 March 2021 and W= =—%
1 April 2021 ZA=+-RHk
—Z--4mA-H
ZEEE 152,900 161,336 25,000 2,062,780 113,621
Transfers B - - 4,494 - -
Net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustments REZHERZ A TFEFE
recognised in profit or loss Wi/ (BR)38 (4,200) = 246 (30,230) 4319
Exchange realignment ERLAE - - - 27,650 4774

Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 WZZEZZ
=A=+-H
LEEE 148,700 161,336 29,740 2,060,200 122,714
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. X EW ¥ (&)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) A 1E E % (a0
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and TRE M EYEGERA 2 (GERM
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: REZEHAE:
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Ranée
fhE & i EXTABERAE &
2022 2021
—ECCE —g-—
Hong Kong:
BE:
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$15,900 to | HK$16,500 to
o o (per square foof) HK$47,000 HK$50,000
BENE EENEE fhatmiE (B FHER) 15,9008 L2 | 16,5008 L%
47,000/ 7T 50,0008 7T
Industrial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$2,350 to HK$2,350 to
o o (per square foof) HK$3,400 HK$3,400
Ixn% EENBE fhatmiE (B FHER) 23508 E | 23508L%
3,400 T 3,400 7T
Residential properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$7,025 to HK$7,000 to
o o (per square foof) HK$10,700 | HK$11,100
EEN% EENEE fhatmiE (B FHER) 7058 E | 700087L%
10,7005 7T 11,1007 7T
Mainland China:
rh B R :
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price N/A | HK$24,318 to
o o (per square metre) HK$86,358
BENE ERLBE fhstmfE (8 FRR) TER | 2431881E
86,358/5 7T
Income capitalisation approach — Estimated rental value HK$49 to HK$36 to
o (per square metre per month) HK$505 HK$142
WABRE fhstBE (B TAAEA) 498 E 3BELE
5057 7t 1428 T
Capitalisation rate 2.8% 10 5.5% 8.5%
ERfx
Industrial properties Income capitalisation approach ~ Estimated rental value HK$18 to HK$16.8
) ) (per square metre per month) HK_$20 e
IXM% WAERILE fhst8E (B FHRKER) 18ETLE 16.8% T
20T
Capitalisation rate 7.0% 7.0%
BER{L®

REBEERLEE RFEDSERHIOR
DmEZ AR ZERE LHATE
BRSO ME 2R 5 AH - 8k
BEEEEZZRIEHAE-

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated with reference to recent transactions for similar
properties in the proximity with adjustments for the
differences in transaction dates, building age, floor area,
etc. between the comparable properties and the subject
properties.
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15.

Year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE - T~ —4#=

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Under the income capitalisation approach, fair value is
estimated by taking into account the current rent passing
of the property interests and the reversionary potential of
the tenancy.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental
value and the estimated market price per square foot/
square metre in isolation would result in a significant
increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/decrease in the
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/increase in the fair value of the investment
properties.

LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for various leasehold
lands and properties used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased lands
from the owners with lease periods of 25 to 50 years,
and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms
of these land leases. Leases of properties generally have
lease terms between 1 and 35 years. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group. There are several lease
contracts that include extension options, which are further
discussed below.

14.

15.

Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
HAEMBHEME
—FE=Z =1 —AUIFEE

REWE )

NI TE R )
BEWABANE AFEEEZY
L BYESKTERAE Y EEE
Hibste

AEHERGHATE (BFTR/ ¥
KIBBRBEI, R BERREY
EHRTEREBEM,HLD BARLE
BEAREN, RO BRIREMEDN
RFERER D, 0

il
A5 R RRELA

AEBARZENZHEELHREY
T AEEAN AEBERAEL
—RENFARETBEEE - B
F325EE0% - MAREZF L HE R 5
K B EFERRAE S HERIRIE -
HEYMENEPBEEN F1E35F - — K
mE ANEEAARAEBEUIIALE
BMOHHEEE B ERENET
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

15. LEASES (Continued) 15. 8 =)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEEERBKREA 80
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) fE H#EEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use rEEZEAEEREERFA
assets and the movements during the year are as gEgmT
follows:
Leasehold
land  Properties Total
HE L L/ES @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHT FHT
As at 1 April 2020 R-ZE-T&MA—H 30,370 106,985 137,355
Additions during the year FARE S 34,011 34,011
Remeasurement on lease ~ EFIEHEERT
modifications - 537 537
Termination of leases MEKIE = (1,749) (1,749
Depreciation charge (note 6) #T& ([ff316) (101) (62,888) (62,989)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHB AT
(note 37) (FF3E37) - (1,989) (1,989)
Transfer to investment AR EYHE (E14)
properties (note 14) (1,251) - (1,251)
Exchange realignment PE 5 AR 2,986 2,902 5,888

As at 31 March 2021 and WRZ-ZZE-—F=H

1 April 2021 =t+—HBk=ZZ=—F
mA—H 32,004 77,809 109,813
Additions during the year FARNE - 61,518 61,518
Termination of leases MEXI - (1,671) (1,671)
Depreciation charge (note 6) #T& (H7E6) (2,070) (49,303) (51,373)
Exchange realignment PE H FE 1,340 1,150 2,490
As at 31 March 2022 i ——

=A=+—8 31,274 89,503 120,777
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Year ended 31 March 2022 &t %= — —FEZA=+—HIFFE
15. LEASES (Continued) 15. & (@)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEEEBAMA 4)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

(b) HE&HK

AEBZHERBREERFAE

movements during the year are as follows: EJR U
2022 2021
—E-- —E-—F
Lease Lease
liabilities liabilities
HESE HMEARE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Carrying amount at beginning R ¥ ZREE
of year 87,647 126,371
New leases s 61,518 34,000
Remeasurement on lease EFTEREBE]
modifications - 537
Termination of leases WIEEE (1,780) (1,930)
Accretion of interest recognised 4 A FE WZ F S g
during the year 3,785 4,510
Principal portion paid [RENENEA=55) (48,780) (53,617)
Interest paid BATFIE (3,785) (4,510)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE— B AR
(note 37) (FFE37) - (2,079)
Gain on lease modification MEEFT 2 W= - (8,451)
COVID-19-related rent A $COVID-19
concessions from lessors HEReER (2,343) (8,854)
Exchange realignment bE 3 & 1,259 1,670
Carry amount at 31 March R=A=+—BZREHE 97,521 87,647
Analysed into: Sak I=1
Current portion kR 40,754 45,536
Non-current portion JEMEIED D 56,767 42,111
97,521 87,647

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 45 to the financial statements.

MEREZIHA ST ENBRE

B FE45FR 3 5 -
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

15. LEASES (Continued) 15. 8 =)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEEEBARA (58
(¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (¢ BEFfABGRAHMEMENE
relation to leases are as follows: BMTF :
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZHE 3,785 4,510
Depreciation of right-of-use ERAEEEZITE
assets 51,373 62,989
Expenses relating to short-term E2iZ HATH E A R H)
leases £/ 3,806 788
Expenses relating to leases of HIEKEBEEEEMEE
low-value assets EENEHR - 92
Variable lease payments not Kt AHEERETEN
included in the measurement A #78 & 5IH
of lease liabilities - 12
COVID-19-related rent 8 A ¥ COVID-19
concessions from lessors HEHESER (2,343) (8,854)
Gain on lease modification/ BEBT Rz =
termination (109) (8,451)
Total amount recognised in FFABEENRSRE
profit or loss 56,512 51,086
(d) Extension options (d) RE 2 1
The Group has several lease contracts that include AEEBEETESCHREERY
extension options. These options are negotiated HEER -EREWE TELERE
by management to provide flexibility in managing B-UAEEEERHEEEHRS
the leased-asset portfolio and they are aligned with W B EAREENERFKREF—
the Group’s business needs. Set out below are B XY H T HESHNITAE
the undiscounted potential future rental payments 1& 1) HAFRI AR A B AR T 2R B VB AR 2R
relating to periods following the exercise date of e EEHEENRIARGFTARE
extension that are not included in the lease terms. &K -
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Payable within five years RAFEREN FExT FAT

Extension options expected TEEE T HITZ
not to be exercised I BRI 1 5,256 21,518
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE

15. LEASES (Continued)

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
consisting of commercial properties, industrial properties
and residential properties in Hong Kong and Mainland
China under operating lease arrangements. The terms of
the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was
HK$94,298,000 (2021: HK$85,490,000), details of which
are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the undiscounted lease
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

15. M & @)

A% W AR Rt HLA

AREBRBELEEHETHHAHEEY
% (KisE14) BIEREE KT B AR
MEAYE TAVERTEDE-HE
MIEFKBEERARPXNERIZSWR
BERERAMAMECHARZREES K&
) 7 F A R A A & Uk A 294,298,000
7T (ZF = — 4% :85,490,000/8 L) *
HABHR YRR EES ©

R - —FR T —F=A=+—
H - AEEREEEMEFSFTZ 2 A H
HEASE T E R R R EARE FE Y 2 RBAIR
HERIBERT

2022 2021

—=E-= T —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

Within one year —F R 84,714 72,085
After one year but within two years ~ —F & ERMREN 81,419 61,714
After two years but within three years FIEZER=FN 58,052 46,460
After three years but within four years =& {BRANE R 33,253 36,848
After four years but within five years  PUEZERTEN 16,361 26,614
After five years hF& 57,700 44,076
331,499 287,797
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #ZEF_-F_-—#F=H=

16. GOODWILL
31 March 2022

16. 7 &
—E--fF=ZRA=+—H

HK$’000
FEx
At 1 April 2021: RZE-—FMmMA—H:
Cost B 85,172
Accumulated impairment 2R E (17,469)
Net carrying amount BREFE 67,703
Cost at 1 April 2021, net of accumulated RZEZ—FHA—BZKAR"
impairment Bk RFHRE 67,703
Impairment during the year (note 6) FARME (K5E6) (3,233)
Cost at 31 March 2022, net of accumulated RZTZZF=ZA=F+—HZKX"
and impairment MR R RORE 64,470
At 31 March 2022: RZEB_ZF=A=+—8:
Cost (DN 85,172
Accumulated impairment REHRE (20,702)
Net carrying amount BREHE 64,470




16. GOODWILL (Continued)
31 March 2021
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z —

16. 7 & (@)

%Aﬁa‘i%ﬁi%liﬁﬂ
ZF—ALFE

—E--f=ZA=+—H

HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2020: RZE_TFMA—H:
Cost B 85,172
Accumulated impairment 2R E (8,721)
Net carrying amount BREFE 76,451
Cost at 1 April 2020, net of accumulated RZZEZZFHA—B 2R
impairment kR RETRE 76,451
Impairment during the year (note 6) FARME (K5E6) (8,748)
Cost at 31 March 2021, net of accumulated RZBEZ—F=A=+—HBZKX"
and impairment MR REHEL RORE 67,703
At 31 March 2021: RZFE—_—F=A=+—8:
Cost AR 85,172
Accumulated impairment 2FHRE (17,469)
Net carrying amount FREEE 67,703
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for
impairment testing:

° Mainland China restaurant, food and hotel;

o Mainland China food supply business; and

16.

EEXE D

8z W
HEBAHAMKE S SEDAERENT
I8 4 B AE B BAESRE A, -

o  FREIKREER RMNEE:

s HmEXERMEEES X

e Hong Kong restaurant and food. s HEBEBEHKKERM
The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the NEEZEERESEABN 2HEREEN
cash-generating units are as follows: Nk
2022 2021
—=E-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Mainland China restaurant, food and B ABEE# - R MBS
hotel - -
Mainland China food supply business B A BE & G 4 & 3 75 14,263 17,496
Hong Kong restaurant and food BBEHRRR M 50,207 50,207
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—BzKHEE 64,470 67,703

The Group’s recoverable amounts of the Hong Kong
restaurant and food cash-generating unit, Mainland China
food supply business cash-generating unit and Mainland
China restaurant, food and hotel cash-generating unit
have been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets/
forecasts covering a five-year period, approved by senior
management. The discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections ranged from 9% to 14% (2021: ranged from
8% to 11%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the
cash flows of the Mainland China food supply business
cash-generating unit and the Hong Kong restaurant and
food cash-generating unit beyond the five-year period is
ranging from 2% to 3% (2021: 3%)).

rEEREERLRMACELEN
TERERMHEEHREELEMLK
TEAEER RMRBEREELE
fIzrAREEBEDEARBEREREA
Bt ARz WHRE TR 2R
ERERMZEREEHEEE-RE
MERAER TR EN FI%E14%
B F NTF8%REIN%) BB A
FHZABEAERMHEEBREE
EEMUARBEERRRBRASELE
NzHREREAERESN F2%E3%
TEC—F 3% #ETIEA
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16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. 75 & (a)
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL R P AR EAE D)

(Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculations
of the above cash-generating units for 31 March 2022
and 31 March 2021. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwiill:

Budgeted revenue/gross margins — The basis used to
determine the value assigned to the budgeted/forecast
revenue/gross margins is the average revenue/gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget/forecast year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements and/or expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
recognised an impairment loss of approximately
HK$3,233,000 (2021: HK$8,748,000) relating to the
goodwill allocated to the Mainland China food supply
business cash-generating unit, being the carrying amount
thereof (before deducting the impairment loss) that it
could not recover. The impairment loss arose mainly
due to COVID-19 induced deterioration in economic
conditions and other negative operating factors affecting
that cash-generation unit.

AE_T - —F-A=t—HRkZ
——F=ZA=1— HZLLE@EE
Iz EREER SEARRK EEER
HIR RS TRAETR B E R B AT
BB EBMREMIT

HERABREN-REEERE,
FRBABBREMMAIEEEEIEE
RERFEE TRAFEN—FBE2F
BN BRERN YERERRRE
TR/ REATSERMAR -

PrER R — P A 2 IR R B ARFBIAR
KR AR BB B 2 E R o

HE-T-_—_F=A=+—HILFE"
AEEBROEATRARERDEESE
BHReEEBEN 2 E@HERAEERILY
3,233,000/ 7T ( =& = —4F : 8,748,000
o) BIAREB AR E 2 BREE (10
BROREEEA) cREBEBAETERAR
COVID-19Z8 B B AR M E M2 &
ZHeEABEMNBARERMN-
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. R &

26l 2z HE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Share of net assets DMEEEFE 869,857 696,947
Due from associates U & N F) 2 FRIB 471,743 394,369
Loans to an associate BT —HEEBEARZER 43,102 41,680
1,384,702 1,132,996
Portion classified as current assets ~ D R AREBEE Z 35 (300,974) (290,305)
1,083,728 842,691

The amounts due from associates and loans to an
associate are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

In the opinion of the directors, except for certain
amounts due from an associate totaling approximately
HK$300,974,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$290,305,000), which are considered as short-term
advances, the remaining amounts due from associates
and the loans to an associate (collectively, the “long-
term interests”) are considered, in substance, part of
the Group’s net investments in the associates, for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the
foreseeable future.

There was no recent history of default and past due
amounts for the amounts due from and the loans to
associates. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

R NCTE /Y S i /N
ZEFREBEER RENRZEREER-

EERAE BN _Z2E-__4F=AH
=t+—BE%K— Eﬁﬂ%ﬁ%“ﬂ, BAE
H #9300,974,0008 T ( =& — — &

290305000%n)%&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ@m H
BT B 2 N B R R M B R R R
MER (SB[ REAER J)agt%ﬁzﬁ
AAEBEBENRTNFREN—

ﬁ!Eﬂi‘ﬁiiE’]ﬂﬁXEﬁ*ﬁ%ﬂﬁTtT

R B2 NA R THERB ZER
RIS BENRBHEL R-_FT—-—
FRZF-_—F=ZA=1t—H B
B A R e
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. 113% 2N E 2 B (s

Particulars of the material associate are as follows: FEBEARFBEOT
Percentage of
Place of ownership interest
Particulars Business incorporation attributable
Name of issued shares held structure and business to the Group Principal activity
AL K
£ HEERTROEE EBEE SR rEEEEREE AL TEXB
2022 2021
—EZCZE | ZZ-—F
South China International  Ordinary shares (unlisted) Corporate Hong Kong 50 50  Investment holding

Purchasing Exchange
Centre Limited (“SCI")
EHAREEZST0  BBRGELT) NG| Eit REZK
BERAR ([EZpER])

SCl and its subsidiaries (collectively the “SCI Group”) are EEBRREMBAR (58 [ FEEEER
mainly engaged in property investment and development S8 FERTRARENREMELER
in Mainland China. The SCI Group is considered a BERF¥B -EMEREERGEREAEE
material associate of the Group which, in the opinion of —HETEBERR ARREERE
the directors of the Company, is strategic to the Group’s HUAREE MEREREREE D
property investment and development operating segment BREMEVER  WHERE ISk AR
and has been accounted for using the equity method in wHAARR

the consolidated financial statements.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

interest in the SCI Group included
in non-current assets:

RERMBIREE 2 ik

Year ended 31 March 2022 #BZ=-F=-—F=HA=+—HI FE
17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. R B & A8 2 0 (9
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRINTELDEEER 2 MBERME
information in respect of the SCI Group adjusted for any (B EFBER 2 EME2ELHFAR) &
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the B AMBREN I RABESER:
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:
2022 2021
—F-_= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Current assets BN EE 183,291 155,027
Non-current assets EMENEE 3,612,808 3,214,259
Current liabilities REEE (783,158) (1,333,899)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (1,892,740) (1,258,554)
Net assets BEFE 1,120,201 776,833
Less: Non-controlling interests B IEERR R (884) (1,071)
Net assets attributable to owners of ZEmRBEIFEEHEAR A
the SCI Group EIEEEFE 1,119,317 775,762
Reconciliation to the Group’s B AERBEEZAER

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7~ 5 B ft A #& 2 Lt I 50% 50%
Group's share of net assets of rEBRGEEREEE

the SCI Group BERE 550,659 387,881
Unrealised interest expense eliminated 7k & 38 | 2 3% H ¥ § 80 69
Due from the associate” i ANCIE SR 211,370 143,243
Loans to the associate” RYBEQRZER 43,102 41,680
Carrying amount of the interest therein 1A & & 2 HE 35 BR E B 814,211 572,873
Profit or loss and other comprehensive #E & F R £ B A AL 2

income attributable to owners of BakEaz2EWA :

the SCI Group:
Revenue WA 43,184 20,176
Profit/(loss) for the year REERF, (EE) 75,739 (120,012)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  HZ2mEW A~ (Ei8) 267,816 (178,047)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ AFE2mEW A (Ei8)

for the year BEE 343,555 (298,059)

A

In the opinion of the directors, these long-term interests
are, in substance, part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate.

EXERR RS RABSEE L RAR

ERBE AR ZRE -
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—FE=-—#F=H=+—HIFEF

17. P BB AB 2B ()
TEFIRAEBERNFEAZ B S AT

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

information of the Group’s associates that are not 2B IS ER
individually material:
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Share of the associates’ profit/(losses) 4 K & (LB & D B%E F|,~
for the year (E518) (1,878) 314
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBRBEAR ZERZ
Group’s interests in the associates RERTEE 269,517 269,818
18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 18. 1§ & B % 2 “F i 5 ik & it K
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER i A T WA H R B 2 R
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME &
2022 2021
—E-—E —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FTHET FHT
Equity investments designated EERRATFEIERR
at fair value through other Hth2EKWAFEEZ
comprehensive income EERE
Listed equity investment, at fair value TR E  ZAF(E 119,492 119,511
Unlisted equity investment, FELEMERKE BATE
at fair value 35,553 34,657
155,045 154,168




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE_-—F=-—F=HA=+—HIFZ

18.

19.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

The above equity investments were irrevocably
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the Group considers these investments to be
strategic in nature.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the fair value
loss in respect of the Group’s equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to approximately HK$27,105,000 (2021: gain
HK$7,879,000).

18.

15 7 B 4% 2 F 15 50 IR & B
fi 2 oA R B 2 B 3R %
& (5)

MR AEER R Ll R IRE BRI
B BAKES I REEEZER
BRAFEIERENEGEEBAFE
B

BE_T-_—_F#=A=+—HIFE"
REBRHEM P EWARERZIETE HIE
AFEFERAEMEEBEARRE
=R E 2 N EEEL /27,105,000
BT (ZTZ—F: W %7,879,000%
JTL) °

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. %A FHEHE RN E G DIE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS i =
2022 2021
—g-= —E - —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Listed equity investments, at fair value MR E @ IR A F(E 71,508 78,958
Listed debt investments, at fair value _EHERKRE  EAFE 33,029 102,792
Unlisted investments, at fair value FELEMRE BAFE 55,404 42,240
159,941 223,990

The listed equity and debt investments were classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they
were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments were fund investment
products issued by banks. They were mandatorily
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest.

RS REGREREDFHEREM
DERBAVEFAREZEREE-

PR EMREGRRITETZESE
BEM BAREAHNRSRELINES
A BB B %585 0 8RR
AFEIERENEETRENESRE
o




19.

20.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE— —F=ZA=F—HIFFE
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. # 2 F 18 51 Bk & 4R 5 g
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued) HZzemEE @)
The fair values of the listed and unlisted investments LA RELETREZ AT ETIZE FH
were based on the market values/fair values provided by BiIREZHE/ AFESIRBREHEZ
financial institutions or quoted market prices at the end of MSmERELE-
the reporting period.
At 31 March 2022, the Group's financial assets at RZTEZ_F=A=+—H Xx&EEE
fair value through profit or loss of approximately B4 4553,988,0008 T (Z T = —F:
HK$53,988,000 (2021: HK$78,799,000) were pledged 78,799,000/ 7T ) 2 = R FEF R KR
to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group BaPREZeREECEER ER
(note 41). AEEMRERE TRITERE ZER (K

FE41) ©

STRUCTURED DEPOSITS 20. & W 117 3K

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and
represented several deposits placed with banks. The
Group designated the structured deposits as investments
at fair value through profit or loss. As at 31 March 2022,
the Group had no structured deposits (2021: aggregate
fair value was approximately HK$149,649,000) and during
the year recognised no realised or unrealised fair value
gain or loss (2021: total fair value gains of approximately
HK$3,390,000).

The fair value was based on the market values provided
by financial institutions at the end of the reporting period.

HERUEERNRAFEYERERIEFER
BITZEETR - AEBEBEBET
HIEEREATEIERRESZFER
Z2RE-R-_ZE-_—_F=A=+—8"
$§"E@I,ﬂ%%|§ﬁm(_;‘: &
CEN $f§7%%’]1496490005%77:) A &
~NEE
”ﬁﬁﬁﬂzgﬁg(—v_ ¢ BEIE A
IR~ F{E R 4858 493,390,0008 7T ) ©

RNHEDEEREERRERRER
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21. PROPERTIES UNDER 21 RO XRFHEMED X
DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES
HELD FOR SALE
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BRp Y E
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
At beginning of year R FA) 313,607 286,440
Additions NE 11,602 5,785
Transfer to properties held for sale  EEERHIEHEWE - (914)
Exchange realignment ME W A 12,111 22,296
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 337,320 313,607
Properties under development TEHAR A TEIR® T 2
expected to be completed: BERPYE:
Beyond normal operating cycle BEBRESRIIERBEEL
included under non-current assets*  H 54K ‘& i 2 337,320 313,607
* Based on the current best estimates made by the Group’s * BEAEESRERRBEL 2R &

senior management. fEfEETe




21.

22,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

%Aﬁa‘i’%iﬁi% Wit 5%
Year ended 31 March 2022 &t %= — —FZHA=+—HILFE
PROPERTIES UNDER 21. BRI HERFHEHED ¥

DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES
HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
(Continued)

The Group’s properties under development are located in
Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Included in the Group’s properties under development
are land use rights with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$252,408,000 at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$242,369,000).

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s properties held for sale are located in
Mainland China.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no property
held for sale was transferred to investment properties
(2021: an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$4,768,000) (note 14).

INVENTORIES

(&)

BRYME @)

AEE 2 BRPOECNPERERE
o

FAREBZERPMERR =
T =ZA=+t—BRAEEEAEHY
£252,408,0008 L (Z T = —F:
242,369,000/ 7T ) 2 T b AR

15 1 th & W %
R BRI S R R B AR -

HE-_ZT-—_F#=ZA=+—HIEFER"
WEBELEMEERIREME (ZF
Z—F:@EREE R #4,768,000% 7T )
(HfEE14) -

22, f7 &%

Food, beverages and others Roo KB R H A

2022 2021
B8 —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
39,107 33,806
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. JEWE 5 K &

2022 2021

—=E=-= —E-—fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAET

Trade receivables JEUE HER K 53,476 56,204
Impairment BE (24,034) (24,542)
29,442 31,662

For restaurant, bakery and hotel operations, the Group’s
trading terms with its customers are mainly on demand
or credit card settlements. For sale of food products,
customers are generally given credit terms of 30 to 90
days, except for new customers or certain food products,
where payment in advance is normally required. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
trade receivable balances. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management.

Generally, the Group does not hold any collateral or credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

RER WEENNEEERNE  A%E
HERPZEZHRRETEREFHIARE
RAREE -BRMEEMS TP —RE
HI0EW0R 2 EEH HEHEPHET
RonfIFRSN  EE—RBFRNR A&
B SRKEEH AR EERKE S RNER
ETBREZE - SAEEEENLAH
RERRETTERRD

—RME  NEEYEREEKE SR
REBRFEEMERRIERERT &
WE BRI BT E

RBERR BRESERLREREH
RHBERBE 2 REITT

2022 2021

—EC-—F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Within 30 days BIERZ=30H 9,212 19,271
31 to 60 days 31%E60H 4,310 5,950
61 to 90 days 61290H 5,525 1,578
Over 90 days H3B0H 10,395 4,863
29,442 31,662
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Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ-—F-—F=H=+—HIFFE
23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. IEW B 5 R &% (&)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of EWEZERZ REBEREZSHN
trade receivables are as follows: T~
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
At beginning of year NG 24,542 26,645
Reversal of impairment, net (note 6) SR {E B[ - F %8 (F1:E6) (1,225) (2,076)
Exchange realignment B 5, 78 B 717 27)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 24,034 24,542
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting REBRN SRS A FEREERET
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit WEA - T ETEHEESE - BEX
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due DIRBEHEERUBEEANZERTFE D
for groupings of various customer segments with similar AR RIeE HA B8 E o sZ AT B R RS
loss patterns. The calculation reflects reasonable and WERHASHEBRBRETEH E01B
supportable information that is available at the reporting ARARREBEARRTBRANESERAIEER
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts o
of future economic conditions.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXHINEBHAERABEERAEREE
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a ZEKREGEREERRAER
provision matrix:
As at 31 March 2022 R-BE-_—_HF=HA=+—H
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
& &
FEBEX REAE EEEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
% FET FHT
Credit-impaired receivables 15 BB B < fE UL BR 3K 100 18,065 18,065
Other trade receivables Hitn el B H R 2 AR
aged: g
Current to 3 months BNz mHA=(EA
past due - 19,048 -
Over 3 months past due  #1EA#8:8 =1d A 36.5% 16,363 5,969

Total et 53,476 24,034
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. B E 5 R & (9
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-_—F=H=+—H
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
T8 58 TEHA
FEEEEX R ARME EEEE
% HK$’000 HK$'000
% FET TFET
Credit-impaired receivables 15 B BB 2 & UL BR 3K 100 17,348 17,348
Other trade receivables HEmEWRE SRR
aged: [
Current to 3 months BNERZ= @ 3 = & A
past due - 26,799 -
Over 3 months past due  #1 B/H 38 = 1@ A 59.7 12,057 7,194
Total st 56,204 24,542
24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 24. H A FEWCRR 5K - 4% & R TR AT 5k
AND PREPAYMENTS TH
2022 2021
—E=-= —E 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Prepayments TEfT A 128,422 90,926
Other receivables and deposits HEi W EER RiZE 412,235 255,477
540,657 346,403
Impairment allowance BB LEE (22,051) (17,067)
518,606 329,336
Portion classified as current assets ~ D iEARBEE 2285 (472,201) (299,851)
Non-current portion IERB) 2 BB D 46,405 29,485
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE

24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

Included in the balance of other receivables and deposits
are amounts due from third parties of approximately
HK$353,789,000 (2021: HK$157,705,000), which are
unsecured, except for certain other receivables totalling
approximately HK$292,008,000 as at 31 March 2022
(2021: HK$157,705,000), which are guaranteed by
certain third parties, bear interest at 5 to 14% (2021: 5%)
per annum and repayable within four (2021: two) years.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management.

Impairment assessment

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed
at each reporting date by considering the probability
of default of counterparty. As at 31 March 2022, the
probability of default applied ranged from 0.66% to
100.0% (2021: ranged from 0.86% to 100.0%) and the
loss given default was estimated to be 68.8% (2021:
59.4%). Expected credit losses are estimated by applying
a loss rate approach with reference to, inter alia, credit
quality of debtors or historical loss record of the Group
and/or other reasonable and supportable information
available. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions,
as appropriate. The loss rate applied as at 31 March 2022
was 6.2% (2021: 8.4%).

24. A B BR K - 4% @ R T K

TH (4)

A R B B & # @

Hih B RER IR e o R PERNE

= 7 FRIA#)353,789,000/8 7T (T ——
% :157,705,000%70) - B R IE R E
B (BRR-ZZEZ=ZF=A=+—HH
ETE=ZFRERZETHMERER
& $£49292,008,000/8 7L (=T = — 4 :
157,705,000/ 70) M) ~ R F F R5%ZE
14% (ZZE - —F:5%) T B RBRMN
FR(ZEZ—F —_F)EE-TEE
TEHIY @S SHRETTER -

Wi fE 5T 1

NVEEZBERT BRESWTIRERE
HHBEBRZERRSEFHELN T
MET - NZTE=Z=ZF=A=+—8"

E RN T0.66%E100.0% ( =T = —
F N TF0.86%Z100.0% ) 2 & ) 7] g
M EB A E 4+ < BB RIfhET 7268.8%
—E - —1F:504%) -FEHEEEE
TBEBERBEERGAETH R
Z(EPEE)BEBAZEEERIAE
B EIERS R REMAIE A
ASEER - BBXRCEFAEUREE AT
AR B R SR AESEAR R TR (3@ AR ) - A
TR CF=-A=T—HERAZEBEX
F6.2% (ZZTZ—F 184%) o
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24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

205.

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

24, H A EWIR 2K~ % 2 K T i A
TR (#)

At 7 CRR K R % 2 ()

(Continued)
Impairment assessment (Continued) TR
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of HEWER kIR 2 REBERESZ
other receivables and deposits are as follows: E) N
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
At beginning of year REH] 17,067 2,731
Impairment, net (note 6) BEEE F5E (MiFE6) 2,151 11,174
Exchange realignment ME W, R 2,833 3,162
At 31 March R=A=+—H 22,051 17,067

Except for the balances mentioned above, the remaining
financial assets had no recent history of default and past

due amount.

DUE FROM DIRECTORS

Particulars of amounts due from directors, disclosed
pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the Hong Kong

B LRl 2 S ERON - RISRE R A BN
HYBEOELNBHEHE-

2.

VB Wi # % K 0E

RAREB R AHE DI 55383(1)(d) ik &
RE (WEEFEMNSER) RPIE3FE2
RERBZRKREZFRFBERED

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of T
Directors) Regulation, are as follows:
At
Maximum 31 March Maximum
At amount 2021 amount At
31 March outstanding and at outstanding 1 April
2022 |during the year 1 April 2021 during the year 2020
\ R-Z-—% X
RAZE ZASt-B  WEER
R-Z-ZF HAEE R-T-—% HAEE R-Z_TF
=ZA=t-H pa-k MA—H ZEREH mA—A
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FTET THL FAT THT
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENERLE 3,397 3,397 3,028 3,028 2,297
Mr. Ma Kai Yum SNdLE 469 816 816 5,852 2,846
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John EE#LE 1,243 1,243 935 935 841
5,109 4,779 5,984

The amounts due from directors are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

FEREFEFAREER RERREX

E& -
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26. CASH AND BANK BALANCES,
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%Aﬁa‘iﬁﬁi%liﬂﬂ
ZF—ALFE

26. Jl & RMATH - ZRH B2

RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED R B € B 77 5K
TIME DEPOSITS
2022 2021
—g== %
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT F&T
Cash at banks and on hand (note (a)) 3R & KIR1T4TF (Hit@) 268,763 400,310
Time deposits TEHAITF K 54,418 58,192
323,181 458,502
Less: Pledged time deposits for short & : &5 HIR{TE &
term bank loans and other HMRITEEERZ
banking facilities EHFER (43,473) (44,823)
Restricted cash (note (b)) ZBRHIRE (kD)) (92) (106)
Cash and bank balances e RiR1TH 279,616 413,573
Notes: B 5T
(@) At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group did not pledge its @ NZBE—_=FR—FE-_—F=ZfF=+-—

cash at bank.

(b)  According to the relevant contracts/agreements, property
development companies of the Group are required to
place at designated bank accounts certain amounts as
deposits for potential default in payment of mortgage loans
advanced to certain property purchasers. Such guarantee
deposits will only be released either after the property
ownership certificates are submitted to the banks as
collateral or when the property purchasers have repaid the

full mortgage loans to the banks.

H '$%@aﬁl¢ki@<ﬁ BRI

EIRBEA L, BE

RARAFER—ELBRIE

FERIZEE  RBAH

RERE
TERITRR
ERRIZIBE 2

TUERBERRERR ZARIFSER

B ERRITESR

S5 E R (F R sk

VIR B HKARTT I8 2 8RR 18 & 5K

7T TR
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26.

27.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES,
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
TIME DEPOSITS (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances and time deposits of the Group denominated in
Renminbi amounted to approximately HK$194,515,000
(2021: HK$188,128,000). The Renminbi is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange Renminbi for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates
based on relevant bank deposit rates. Short term time
deposits are made for varying periods of between one
day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest
at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

26. Jl e RMATH B - ZRH B2

K B A E 8 s

RMEMR AEEUAREGE
MRS MRTEBEEHFTARA
#9194,515,0008 T (=& = — & :
188,128,000 7t) - AR IEF] B B
HIMBEMERE - AT - IR B RRER
CONE B HI 160 R 408 - S IE RIFIEE
BIRPIRE)  AEBBEFBIFTHE
TINEEB 2 RITRBRARBAEME
ﬁgo

AETRITRSEABRITEFARANERZF
BRI RREUK B - R F AR B Z BN
EHFR BHERFERZBRT— NF
—BHE=ZEAAAF ARIEZEHE
HA 77 SRERER A B - $R1T 45 88 B E B 3K
RN EGEEBAHDREROCENR
T

27. FEfH B 5 Bk &

RIREBRR ENESRAIEEZAH
ZEREONTINT

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—fF

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FExT FHET

Within 30 days BNE§ZE30H 17,815 26,395
31 to 60 days 31£260H 3,309 2,387
61 to 90 days 61290H 7,451 11,632
Over 90 days #3890 H 16,022 3,531
44,597 43,945

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally repayable within the normal operating cycle.

ENESERREMNELBEANES
LEBHAEER-
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28. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND 28. H fh fEATER 2 - ERTE A K E

DEPOSITS RECEIVED W% 2
2022 2021
===z T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M aE FET FET
Contract liabilities aHBE (@) 20,964 22,658
Accruals EE & A 4,561 4,275
Other payables and deposits HiEMNERRERIZRS
received (b) 349,166 397,301
At 31 March R=A=+—H 374,691 424,234
Portion classified as current DEARBEEZHY
liabilities (367,618) (419,862)
Non-current portion JERE) 2 B 7,073 4,372
Notes: BtsE
(a)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: @ BHEEFBET:
31 March 31 March 1 April
2022 2021 2020
=== T —E_TF
=A=+—H =A=+—H MA—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FHT
Consideration/deposits received TEUWEFE KRB, 1E4 -
from customers in advance:
Restaurant, food and hotel Z8 B i MOBTE 13,796 11,687 11,694
Property investment and MEKRERER
development 7,168 10,971 9,286
Total contract liabilities AHaERE 20,964 22,658 20,980

Contract liabilities include consideration received from
customers in advance for the Group’s sales of food
products, sales of properties and leasing of properties.
The decrease in contract liabilities in the current year was
mainly due to the decrease in consideration received from
customers in advance at the end of the year.

(b)  Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an (b)
average term of three months.

HAb A BRRL A
A -

AHEEREREEFPREREAEER
ZHERM HWEMEUARBEYE-
BHEBRAFERI DI ERHRE
FRZEREFP B IFTE

FHHR A=
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29. PROVISIONS 20. # 1

Provision for
restoration
costs
BIREARE
2022

—=E=-=
HK$’000
FERT
At beginning of year REH] 3,389
Amount addition during the year RERNE NS EE 2,087
Exchange realignment ME H, 58 B 78
At 31 March R=A=+—H 5,554
Portion classified as current liabilities DEAETBEEZHBY (670)
Non-current portion JEREN 2 EB D 4,884

The provision for restoration costs relates to the Group’s
obligations to reinstate its leased properties to their
original state or to a condition, as specified in the
respective tenancy agreements, at the end/upon the
termination of the relevant lease terms.

The provision for reinstatement costs was determined
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by
the directors of the Company with reference to past
experience and available information. The assumptions
and estimates are reviewed, and revised where
appropriate.

ERAABREBEARENERBESRER
SRR SEEENEREEEHEE
WAtz ZRMAREIAR 2 EER
28 -

EBRERARE2EBERR MRS
ERURBRAABESMELZE TR
REMEFAMEE - ZEFERELMEE TN
EH RIERT (@A) -



30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2022 # % — —F=

=t —HULFE

30. W B Z AT s B K o % ik 1%

BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE %
BONDS
Interest-bearing bank borrowings e ZzHTHE
2022 2021
—E-CE& —EF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
BERAE B HIE
(%) ZEH#A TER (%) FEA8 THT
Current
TE
Bank loans - secured 1.3-48 On demand 922,121 1.3-5.2  On demand 885,785
BOTER-BHEF RERK R ESKE
Current portion of long term bank 1.6-5.0 By 31 March 2023 20,907 1.6-6.2 By 31 March 2022 194,074
loans - secured
REBTEFR 2B D R-ZB-=% A ——s
-FER ZA=t+-HA =A=+—A3
943,028 1,079,859
Non-current
FERE
Bank loans - secured 1.8-5.2  2023-2026 686,158 1.8-5.3  2022-2024 558,340
BOIEH-FHE R-ZB-=F% RZEZZFZF
ZECXE —ToEE
1,629,186 1,638,199
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. M B Z AT & & ik &
BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE % (@)
BONDS (Continued)

Interest-bearing bank borrowings (Continued) MEZHTEE 45

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Analysed into: pal b
Bank loans repayable: IRITEFGENRE

Within one year or on demand —FRKIRBEREFEE 943,028 1,079,859
In the second year FE_F 564,023 170,328

In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-FEERF
(EEMTREEAN) 122,135 388,012
1,629,186 1,638,199

Included in the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings
are borrowings with an aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$44,615,000 as at 31 March
2022 (2021: HK$67,401,000) which are denominated
in Renminbi. The remaining interest-bearing bank
borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings
are secured by the pledge of certain assets of the Group
as further detailed in note 41 to the financial statements.

Convertible bonds

On 15 July 2021, the Company issued 3% convertible
bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$75,425,251.80 (the “Convertible Bonds”). There was
no movement in the number of these Convertible Bonds
during the year. The Convertible Bonds are convertible
at the option of the bondholders into ordinary shares
from 15 January 2022 at the initial conversion price of
HK$0.60. The Convertible Bonds are redeemable at the
option of the issuer at 100% of the principal amount plus
interest accrued. The Convertible Bonds carry interest at
a rate of 3% per annum, which is payable half-yearly in
arrears on 15 January and 15 July.

R—_E-_—_F=ZA=Z+—HB &K
SEMBECRITEEFLEREAR
#144,615,0008 L (== —F:
67,401,000 7C) 2B EAARKEEHE -
HepMt 8 2 RITIEBE BT E-

AEEETHEZRITEETHAEMAK
SEETEERER E—THBER
BTG MARMI T4 -

LRy 532

RZZTZ—F+tA+HB AQRET
T A& #4858 A75,425,251.807%8 7T H93%
MR ES ([ATRRESR]) cZEA ]
REFHERFALEEE - AT RRE
HAHREFFEAEEE S __F—
A+HBEZRYVIREHREOETERA
AR o BT AR ZFIZ100% AN 2 58 00
JEET ) B HEE] o AT AR (E 5 1% 5 F K3 [E
e R—A+RBREtAT+EBE¥
FXf—IRe
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. Wit &z sRAT 16 B B T # % fi
BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE % ()
BONDS (Continued)
Convertible bonds (Continued) o Bk 5 (a)
The fair value of the liability component was estimated BEMBOHAABERETHERERR
at the issuance date using an equivalent market interest EEENELUESNRSEMISAEMGET-
rate for a similar bond without a conversion option. The Ftp S BEHRAERI D Wat ARFE
residual amount is assigned as the equity component and o

is included in shareholders’ equity.

The convertible bonds issued during the year have been REFBRTNAIRRES D BBER S
split into the liability and equity components as follows: BmE DT
2022
—E-=
HK$’000
FET
Nominal value of convertible bonds issued RERNZFITH A RRESEE
during the year 75,425
Equity component B (16,162)
Direct transaction costs attributable to BREEXHPHEEISHKAR
the liability component (1,501)
Liability component at the issuance date BITANEER D 57,762
Interest expense MEX 1,550
Interest paid [=ENEYES) (1,141)
Liability component at end of year REREEED 58,171
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31. DEFERRED TAX

31.

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year

are as follows:

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

1% 1L B 18

AEREEVARE I ESHMT

0% JE B &
2022
—EC-CE
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of  arising from  Revaluation

related acquisition of of investment
depreciation  subsidiaries properties Total
BKEHE
BAEBRITE QARELZ REME
WHERRE  AVERER X @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER TR TR
At 1 April 2021 R-E-—-FMA—H 20,801 6,162 271,604 298,567
Deferred tax credited to the AEEBRES
statement of profit or loss FAZERERE
during the year (note 10) (BtzE10) (441) - (2,737) (3,178)
Exchange realignment EHLRAE - 255 1,611 1,866
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 RZE--_F#=ZRA=+—H
March 2022 ZEEREARRE 20,360 6,417 270,478 297,255
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. 98 1 B 9 (a0
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) % JE B IE A 6 o)
2021
—E-—F
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in adjustments
excess of arising from Revaluation
related  acquisition of  of investment
depreciation subsidiaries properties Total
LG4l
BAHBETE RFAEAEZ REME
MTERHE  ATFERE Bff st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER THER THER FET
At 1 April 2020 —T-ZFNA-R 20,595 6,352 226,270 253,217
Deferred tax charged to the AEEBRRT
statement of profit or loss M 2 EEHE
during the year (note 10) (Hi3£10) 206 = 41,719 41,925
Exchange realignment B 5 39 % - (190) 3,615 3,425
Gross deferred tax liabilties at 31 ZE--§=A=1—-H
March 2021 Z;EURIE BfElE 20,801 6,162 271,604 298,567
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are

31. ¥ 2 B A (w0
NAEEY BEREEESHMT

as follows:
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS i I BLIH B E
2022
—EC-CE
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
Lease future taxable
liabilities profits Total
AT AR R
FERBEA
HERE HE#zE8R ke
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR
At 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FMmA—H 704 11,402 12,106
Deferred tax credited to AEEBRARTIHAZELEHE
the statement of profit or loss (K33E10)
during the year (note 10) 89 6,804 6,893
Gross deferred tax assets R-_E-—#=A=+—-HZ
at 31 March 2022 ERHBEELE 793 18,206 18,999
2021
—E-—F
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
Lease future taxable
liabilities profits Total
A A A B R
JE AR 15 4
HEAR BHZER k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR FHT
At 1 April 2020 RZZ-FEFMA—H 704 15 719
Deferred tax credited to AEEBRARTIHAZELEHE
the statement of profit or loss (K33E10)
during the year (note 10) - 11,387 11,387
Gross deferred tax assets R-E-—%#=ZA=+—-HZ
at 31 March 2021 EXHBEELE 704 11,402 12,106
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. % % B JE (@)
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued) i I B & E (50
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of AEEEBRBEAZHEEBEEDN
approximately HK$403,993,000 (2021: HK$376,043,000), 403,993,000 L (& = —F:

subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. The Group also has estimated
tax losses arising in Mainland China of approximately
HK$48,946,000 (2021: HK$78,463,000), subject to the
agreement by relevant tax authorities, that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Other than as disclosed above, deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as it is currently not considered probable by
management that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 March 2022, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$1,917,726,000 at
31 March 2022 (2021: HK$1,708,865,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

376,043,000/ 1) * A RF E,ﬁ%i’%%ﬁ
Bl - HAEE Mt EEETERE
RUEELBE BEAR 2 RKER
FmAEe - NEB AR E P B KRk
Z 1 51 56 18 B3 38 4948,946,00058 7T ( —
T — —4F : 78,463,000 1) (ZBFHE
%Rﬁ%*é%%ﬁﬂiﬁé FAMERE) it ER
FA DA B K 3R e SR A i A1) 3K 8K 2 18 B
R—EFEEZERFREH - EXFEES
IR EEEERNRENAJREELER
W ERTRFAERETHA LS
MIBEE WAL EEBERELR
HEE-

RE (PRIGRMAEHE) - R BAR
AL Z MR B R R RRIMIEE TR
ZRE - AREBAR10%TaHI T - B E
BE-ZETN\F-A-BELER WEA
R-ETLFE+-_A=+—REMEL
Z BT o i B KR ERIRIMNRE E B
AR 2 FE A BRI HRA - BIAT IR,
BEEAREER -AKEZERLERR
5%310% ° Bt » REEAFLZFERF
BAREKRZZMBRARR -_TTNF—
A—BEEEZBNMDIKZBEHR
B -

R-ZB-—_F=A=+—R0 K&EEL
KRB ARERY BASRBINRZ
M B A ﬂZfEIiHjF’%IJFEHZ%E?MPL
BRELHIBE-EZRA ZZHMEBER
AIRAI R AR S JE;ZS&%IJZ%@T
A RZE-Z_F=A=+—H HH
FRAEZHBAGZERERB TR
M4 Z=EE A £ #491,917,726,000/% TT i
RERABECEREAB (ZTE = —F:
1,708,865,000/8 7T ) °

72 B A L AR SRR AN AR B3 S 2 A RS
BER-
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32. DEFERRED INCOME 32, A
The Group’s deferred income represents cash subsidies &R A9 AR SR B BT BB P
received from a government authority in respect of AR —ERBEKEDEZRRTEZR
a property development project in Mainland China. SEP-BE_T-_—_F=H=+—H
Deferred income of approximately HK$205,000 (2021: HEFE - IRE U A4 A205,000%8 7T (=
HK$1,355,000) was released to the statement of profit or T — — 4 :1,355,000/8 70 ) B B A B 5
loss during the year ended 31 March 2022. o
33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. k&
SHARES 1 12
2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Issued and fully paid: BEBEITREBERA:
1,571,359,420 (2021: 1,382,796,290) &M MEE0.10/E T2
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each T BA%1,571,359,4200%
—E -4
1,382,796,2900% ) 157,136 138,280
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital RRARZBRAEESBENT -
is as follows:
Number of Issued Share
shares share premium
in issue capital account Total
2R
ROBE CERTRE ROEER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TET TET
At 1 April 2020 RZT_THF
mA—H 1,257,087,536 125,709 1,397,359 1,523,068
Issue of shares upon placing R ERMEFET
of shares kg 125,708,754 12,571 43,265 55,836
At 31 March 2021 and RZEZ—F
1 April 2021 =A=+—-8k
—E-—F
mA—H 1,382,796,290 138,280 1,440,624 1,578,904
Issue of shares upon subscription 32 % 17 5 817
of shares o) 188,563,130 18,856 65,335 84,191
At 31 March 2022 RZEZ_#

ZR=+-H 1,571,3569,420 167,136 1,505,959 1,663,095
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “2015
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
of the 2015 Option Scheme include the Company’s
directors, including independent non-executive directors,
other employees of the Group and consultants of any
member of the Group. The 2015 Option Scheme became
effective on 24 August 2015 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
permitted to be granted under the 2015 Option Scheme
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general mesting
with such participant and his associates abstaining from
voting.

Share options granted to a director are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company. If the number of share options of the offer
to directors or any of their associates is in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time
or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, the grant is subject
to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting
in which the grantee and his associates shall abstain from
voting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer. The amount payable
on acceptance of an option is HK$1. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors.

34. W fix HE st 8

AREIRAE—HBEREFE (2T -0
FREEE])  RYAKRERBIK
DIEHERZ A ER2REREBB R
RE) - LB ZABER2EEREAR
AER(BRBIFRNITES) XK
BEMETRAKEETMAKERALZ
BE —T-RFBEREFIENR-F
—HAFNA-THBERBER MR
AITEHKIER] K A% BT FREF
B

RIE—_T A FRERES AR
ZIRARITEBRE ERERNEITEE
ARBREMEBD BITRODERZ
10% (R — F R 2 BIREBGE I
[REE AR ERERAERRAS EHE
MAEMZEEREBBABARERR

BRTEERERELTRERSAQRE
MIEMTEEHE -MIRETEEFRRK
FEMBBEAZEREHEBEAAF
PMEAT B ] 2 #TTAAD 0.1 % R E(T 12
EA R - BEE (RRTAHSEARR
Z BB ) 8 185,000,000/ 7T - Al H 7"
BABBRRPBER KRS L - AR
AREBBEABANARE EHRERE-

BRENR L E RE28RARIRE
BRMBRERSNRERIBT K TH
BAENITEHREFEE -
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34. B BESEE ()

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the offer date, which
must be a business day; (iij the average of the closing
prices of the shares stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (jiij the nominal value of a
share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the

BREZITEEIRERTEE VRS
DPRATERZ&ESE  (\ARBBRN
REZAH (ZALAREER)NER
BAaRZAERAT ([BFr]) & AR
BRI ZWHE: (RN REERE
BRI EEXARBIMERRER
oz F YT E K (iR i i fE

BREY &R THA AN ERKE %K
RERAEERE-

ERFERN T DFBRETET

2015 Option Scheme during the year: MARTE 2 BIRERNT
2022 2021
—E-CE —E-—F

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

mEFEY ETH

TEE BREXE 1B  BREHE

HK$ HK$

per share per share

shRERT BRAET
At beginning of year REA 0.714 11,600,000 0.761 28,800,000
Forfeited during the year REREKK 0.714 (400,000) 0.793 (17,200,000
At 31 March R=B=+—H 0.714 11,200,000 0.714 11,600,000

No (2021: Nil) share options were exercised during the

year.

FRAE(ZFT_—F | &) BREET

f& o
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34. W B HE s )
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share RRMERARMRITEBREZITEE
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period NATEERRIN T
are as follows:
2022 —Eg-=
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BRESE TEE" THEH™
HKS$ per share
BRERT
2,600,000 0.714  20-2-2020 to 19-2-2025

—ETZEF-_RA=+HZE
—ZT-RF=-RA+ANA
2,000,000 0.714  3-6-2020 to 2-6-2025
—TZEFA=RAZE
—ZE-AFNAZH
2,600,000 0.714 20-2-2021 to 19-2-2026
T —FZA=Z+HZE
—E-XRE-A+NH
2,000,000 0.714  3-6-2021 to 2-6-2026
= :_E/\H H=z
= —/\E'E/\ H — El
2,000,000 0.714  3-6-2022 to 2-6-2027
T FXA=ZH=E
—T-+FARNAZH

11,200,000
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34. W R ESE )
2021 —E-—F
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE" THEBH
HKS$ per share
BRET
2,800,000 0.714  20-2-2020 to 19-2-2025

—E-FTF_A-+H=ZE
—ET-RF=-A+AhAB
2,000,000 0.714 3-6-2020 to 2-6-2025
“E-EFXAZHE
—E-AFAAZH

2,800,000 0.714 20-2-2021 to 19-2-2026
:;:—E AZ+RHZE
—E-XRE-A+NH
2,000,000 0.714  3-6-2021 to 2-6-2026

—E-—FXA=ZHZE
TE - RFRNAZH

2,000,000 0.714  3-6-2022 to 2-6-2027
—_= ::i/\ A=H=%
—= —":ﬁz/ N\ H El
11,600,000
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to * BRAETTEEARBHURNAAET
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other AR RIRA Z E b AU S B (EL A

similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

No share option was granted during the year (2021: Nil). MAFELEBEREERE (ZF=

During the year, the Group recognised total share option F8) RAFE AEERAFEEL
expense of HK$149,000 (2021: HK$866,000) in respect CEREFMERACEREILBER
of share options granted during the previous years. 149,000/ 7T (= F = — 4 : 866,000/%

L) °
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34. B HESEE ()

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

No share options were exercised during the year ended
31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
11,200,000 share options outstanding under the 2015
Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 11,200,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
issued capital of HK$1,120,000 and additional share
premium of approximately HK$6,877,000 (before issue
expenses and excluding the transfer of relevant amount
from the share option reserve).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 11,200,000 share options outstanding
under the 2015 Option Scheme, which if exercised in full
would represent approximately 0.71% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.

Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
HAEMBHEME
—FE=Z =1 —AUIFEE

BREZAGBERHEREBBE=F2
R St BB R TER AT BE IR A TT AR
= o T8 HA IR 0 2 R JEE SE % 8 AT FRUR AR 2R

BEZEBR TR —ERERER-

FEETE R FERARB AR B E
ZH MR

BE_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILEER
MEEREETFE( S —F &) -

RBER BRE_S—AFERE
£ A2 | B 11,200,00017 B B A & &
1TE - BIBEARDRIRITRALLE - 2HTT
18 8 AR 1T < AR M G B BN A B E A
#1711,200,0000% & i@ A% & BB B 1T
&N, 120,000 7T LA K2 ZBAMNEAD 4 (B 40
6,877,000/ 7T (IR FEITHZATETE
REERERBEER 2 E@ESE) -

RMERSEHBRERER RE-F
— R FEREST S A~ 711,200,000
DR M ARITE  WBEITERNE R
NRE BB BITRIDA0.71% °
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395.

36.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 92
and 93 of the annual report.

The reserve funds of the Group represent the non-
distributable statutory reserves of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC. The transfers to these reserves
are determined by the boards of directors of the
subsidiaries in accordance with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations. The reserve funds are restricted as to
use but can be used to offset against future losses or to
increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Details of the certain subsidiaries of the Group that have
material non-controlling interests are set out below:

39.

36.

fok fl
AEBBERTERBE T R

AZiARagER-

AEBZFES /RSB T B ALK
2B AT TRED IR ZIETE [ o Mt
BRARZESERRETPEBBERZR
FREBEZEHE HERES AR
SR - R EEOR 2R 2 5 1R Y 5H S R R 4R

PO 22 72 B o
AREREERER 22

# M & 2 5]

REEETHERRRAEARIERE
s T

2022 2021
—Eg-= —EB-—fF
Percentage of equity interest held by — FE4% i # 25 Fr#3 i i 2
non-controlling interests Btk
— Sleek Treasure Ventures Limited —IEERIIRAR AR K
and its subsidiaries (“Sleek HEMWB AT
Treasure Group”) (MNEELE]) 40% 40%
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to D Ed = IFIZ e iEzs 2
non-controlling interests REEHF, (BE)
- Sleek Treasure Group —IEE&HE (2,791) 7,180
Dividend paid to non-controlling BT IR RS 2 IR B
interests
— Sleek Treasure Group —EE & HE 400 100
Accumulated balance of non- s BH 2 IR ER 2
controlling interests at the reporting K&t 464
date
- Sleek Treasure Group —EE&H (850) 2,341
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36. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIESWITH 36. H & A BRIk 2

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING <l FANRE D)
INTERESTS (Continued)
The following tables illustrate the summarised TRINTIEESRE 276 AR
consolidated financial information of the Sleek Treasure BT AT ARIKERZ
Group. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- SR

company eliminations:

Sleek Treasure Group

JIE 28 £
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Revenue WA 218,815 234,643
Profit/(Loss) for the year NERBF, (&E8) (6,594) 16,712
Total comprehensive income/(loss) REZE2EBA (EB) B
for the year (6,594) 16,712
Current assets MENE B 40,109 51,758
Non-current assets, IEMBEE BENE
including goodwiill 121,504 134,862
Current liabilities mENEE (144,398) (156,437)
Non-current liabilities EREBAEE (17,353) (22,857)
Net cash flows from KEFTEMEREREFE
operating activities 40,679 55,933
Net cash flows used in wEEEA
investing activities REeEmEFHE (3,604) (2,735)
Net cash flows used in B EEBIFTH
financing activities ReMEFE (45,598) (44,915)
Net increase/(decrease) in cashand  3R& KRG EEER
cash equivalents (R ) F B (8,523) 8,283
The above summarised consolidated financial information A HGEABMBERBED R EEE
has reflected the effects of acquisition accounting, ZEBHRE DERERATERAE-

including goodwill and fair value adjustments.
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37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 37. & — [ K B 2 El
DISPOSAL OF SHENZHEN CHAO MEI LI MEFINTNGEERREMSG
DINING MANAGEMENT LIMITED MR 2 ]

During the year ended 31 March 2021, pursuant to an HE-Z-—F=A=+—HLFE"
equity transfer agreement entered into between the Group BRIEASEE BT EMET LR REEER
and Xu Ci Xin, the Group completed the disposal of its o AEBEN2020F6 A13H B E
entire 60% equity interest in Shenzhen Chao Mei Li Dining HEENRINMAEEERERER
Management Company Limited on 13 June 2020 for an NaEl2E60% M - 4 (8 /235,000
aggregate consideration of HK$235,000. JC.
2021
T —F
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHNEATR HK$’000
FHET
Net assets disposed of: HEEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment Y2 B R (FEE13)

(note 13) 1,981
Right-of-use asset (note 15(a)) FRAEEE (HiE15@)) 1,989
Trade receivables, deposits and prepayments ERESESR Zek

AR FRIE 350
Inventories FE 40
Cash and bank balances e MIRITE 172
Trade payables BT E ZER (914)
Other payables, accruals and deposits received ~ Hith EfFBRF - fE5T &
MBI (5,132)
Balances with non-controlling shareholders, net ~ FE#EA% AL BR 64 %8  JF 58 (557)
Lease liabilities (note 15(b)) HEARE (M3E150) (2,079
(4,150)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2 402
(3,748)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 6) HE—MEHB AR
(PFt3E6) 3,983
235
Satisfied by: XA

Offsetting payables to Xu Ci Xin/Cash HIHEMA T EMERBe 235
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37. hE—MEBAE (H)

FRALEMNBAR R MRS ER
BREFESITIT :

37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents during the year in respect of the disposal of
subsidiary is as follows:

2021
T
HK$’000
FHET
Cash consideration received BEWHEeRE -
Cash and bank balances disposed of EHERE RRTHEH (172)
Net outflow of cash and ZEANHLEHBARIZES R
cash equivalents during that year in respect of REFEBERRLFE
the disposal of subsidiary (172)
38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 38. ZAB LW ERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS A TEFRALRS
(@ During the year, the Group had non- @ FA FREEMENHER

cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$61,518,000 (2021:
HK$34,011,000) and HK$61,518,000 (2021:
HK$34,000,000), respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for leased properties.

(b) During the year, the Group had no non-cash
lease modifications to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities (2021: HK$537,000 and
HK$537,000, respectively), in respect of lease
arrangements for restaurants.

BEms AEBFERELE
MEEABEMNIERSE NS
Al &61,518,0008 7T (=&
— —4F 134,011,000/ 7T ) &
61,518,000 7L (=T — —
£F 1 34,000,000/ 7T ) i 7T ©

FRNAEBTEREEREN
HMEZHESRIBERREE
MEEaEETHESHE
BEBT(ZZE-_—%F : 55
£537,000/% 7T K 537,000/%
JT) °




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2022 #ZEF_-F_-—#F=H=

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

+—H I

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING

38. HABEHERMF w0

B) MAFTHELEZAMRED

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Balances
with non-
controlling Interest-
shareholders,  Convertible bearing bank Lease
net bonds  borrowings liabilities
FERBRR
$E FE  TRRES AEBTEH HEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
At 1 April 2020 W_E-F£WA—H 27,887 - 1,675,212 126,371
Changes from financing cash flows ﬂﬁé@Zﬁ%mﬁ1 158 = (43,028) (58,127)"
Decrease arising from AR HE—-RNBARGR
disposal of a subsioliary LD (557) - - (2,079)
Gain on lease modification REEBT & - = S (8.451)
Non-cash items FH2EH
New leases nHE - - - 34,000
Remeasurement Bt E - - - 537
Termination of leases MERE - - - (1,930)
Interest expense MERZ - S S 4,510
COVID-19-related rent concessions ~ th A¥COVID-194ABE /i £
from lessors £ - (8,854)
Exchange realignment R A% 415) - 6,015 1,670
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZE--4=A=1-BR
“E--FNA-H 27,073 - 1,638,199 87,647
Changes from financing cash flows BEES REREL 2,160) 74,084 (11,387) (52,565)"
Non-cash items FH2EH
New leases Mg - - - 61,518
Termination of leases MER - - = (1,780)
Interest expense MERZ - 1,550 - 3,785
COVID-19-related rent concessions 1A A¥fCOVID-1943B8
from lessors i - - = (2,343)
Equity component of convertible bonds R # R & % i & 255 - (16,162) - -
Direct transaction costs attributable to R/ # [k &% & B %5 1A
the liabiity component of convertiole ~ EEX S ER
bonds - (1,501) - -
Exchange realignment 5 (410) - 2,374 1,259
At 31 March 2022 W-E-—#=A=+-H 24508 58,171 1,629,186 97,521
* Includes principal portion paid of HK$48,780,000 * B85 B[R #61548,780,000/8
(2021: HK$53,617,000) and interest paid of 7T (ZF = —4%:53,617,000/%8
HK$3,785,000 (2021: HK$4,510,000). Jo)

& Includes proceeds received from issue of convertible

bonds of HK$75,425,000 (2021:

HKS$Nil) and

interests paid of HK$1,141,000 (2021: HK$NIl).

& E I F ES,?SS,OOO?% 7T
——%:4,510,000/87T) °

—=

—

¢ BIEIIT A AR E 5 AT 15 FROR

75,425,0008 T (= F = — 4 :
TAT) REAMFE1,141,0007
T(ZF=—F FBT) °
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39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 30. kA& 1E

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

Notes to Consolidated F]'}mndd Statements
HAEMBHEME
—FEZAZ+—HIEFE

RB|ERR RIAMBHRE 2LARE
BT

2022 2021
—=g-= —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Guarantees given for mortgage IMEBERERZ
loan facilities granted to property RIBERBEMED
purchasers B FE LR 143 1,858

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of their property units and provided
guarantees to secure the obligations of these purchasers
for repayments. The guarantees terminate upon either
(i) the issuance of the real estate ownership certificates
which will generally be available within one year upon the
completion of guarantee registration; or (i) the satisfaction
of mortgaged loans by the purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default
in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group
is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
principals together with any accrued interest and penalty
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and
the banks are entitled to take over the legal titles and
possession of the related properties. The guarantee
period starts from the dates of grant of the mortgages.
The directors of the Company consider that the fair value
of the guarantees is not significant and in the case of
default on payment, the net realisable value of the related
properties will exceed the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalties. Therefore, no provision has been made for
the guarantees in the financial statements.

AEEERETERZMEEMLHR
TRE YREERUERZSZERRE
TEREET - ARERNOFHEERE
(—RRERBLTKE-—FAN)EHL
& KMEEREMRBERIRKLL -

RIBERGK  MFERIERIZIBN
R RAAEEEREEERNREEZR
BAL BREREMNRT 2 EMER
MBREF MRTEEXETRADE
REMBRENERE FERABRE
RIBAHERG - ARREERR  BR
ZRPFEINEKR HHRERMARIE

BERBASERE M ERIRZE
e E B B 7S R AL R (B
N
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40. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the

end of the reporting period:

40. 7%

b3

R|BEMR - AEEBE U NEAESE:

2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET

Contracted, but not provided for: BERTAME M AR B
Property, plant and equipment W BE IR 2,979 19,158
Investment properties REYE - 24,373
Properties under development BERPYE 16,932 1,896
19,911 45,427

41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, time deposits, and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss with a total carrying
value of approximately HK$2,604,743,000 (2021:
HK$2,446,667,000) were pledged to secure certain
banking, trade finance and other facilities granted to the
Group. In addition, rental income generated in respect
of certain investment properties of the Group has been
assigned to certain banks to secure certain loan facilities

granted to the Group.

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@ In addition to the transactions, arrangements
and balances detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following

41. % & H

RBEEAR AEEEXEERREEED
2,604,743,0008 (=& = —F:

2,446,667,0008 L) 2 A TYWE K E
K&l EME  EHTFFIUREAF
BYEENEBETEEZCREEDCE
B EAAEEMERSTRIT - B5
BMEREMEE ZER N AEBE
EEATREDEZHSRETETR
T ERASBAFERETERMEZ
R

2. FREANLERS

@) KBRECTHENZEVBRREMEL
N R F - RHE RAERIN NEE
EAEMBEALTRERET IR

transactions with related parties during the year: 5
2022 2021
—=g-= T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 3 TR FHET
Sales of goods to related M1 BAE A RIHE & M
companies (i) 126 2,715
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 2. FREANLER S )

(Continued)
(@ (Continued) @ (&)
()  The selling price was determined based on ) BEESFREZEIRETE

B BERRIBAKE—H
MEBARZ —REREH-

mutually agreed terms. The related companies
are controlled by a director of a subsidiary of

the Group.
(o) Outstanding balances with related parties: b) BEEBEEATZREELH:
()  The amounts due to directors are unsecured, () ENESFEAEEM KB

interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) The amounts due from/to non-controlling (i) FEUR FEAT IETE AR AR 3R FRIE
shareholders are unsecured, interest-free and BERKIT 2B RIKZEXRE
repayable on demand. Ee

(i) Details of the amounts due from associates (i) FAFRE HA R FE W B & R R 3K

and loans to an associate as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 17 to the

BRkET-HBEARZE
KA BEN M B |K M

financial statements. 17 »
(€) Compensation of key management personnel of the ) AEEXZEEBRABZHBH:
Group:
2022 2021
—=E-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHT
Short term employee benefits 42 Hi{E B 1& 7 13,926 12,512
Post-employment benefits RKAE A 188 206
Equity-settled share option LAREZS S E BB AR AE R 2
expense 190 691
Total compensation paid to key EXffFEZEFEAE
management personnel 2 48 R A 14,304 13,409

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 8 to the financial statements.

EEE 2 - THBERBHER

FRHFE8 -
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

43. KRBz M T R

TR BENSBITANBEHAR

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

H BRI ME

2022 —gF-C-
Financial assets EREE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through through other
profit or loss Financial comprehensive
- Mandatorily assets at income
designated amortised - Equity
as such cost investments Total
BAFEIE
BEEE kREMZE
BATESIE BAREZ
RRERPRE DEHR AL SREE
MemEE BHEREE -BERE Foa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr FEr TEn TEn
Due from associates ERE & N A2 B - 471,743 - 471,743
Loans to an associate BT -HBERFAZER - 43,102 - 43,102
Equity investments designated at fair value through 15 A& A FEFIB &
other comprehensive income REMEZARAFREZ
BERE - - 155,045 155,045
Financial assets at fair value through profit orloss & A FEFE ki B2
RENSREE 159,941 - - 159,941
Trade receivables B E 5 R - 29,442 - 29,442
Financial assets included in other receivables, FARMERES BER
deposits and prepayment BRJECEBEE - 390,184 - 390,184
Due from directors EREEHE - 5,100 - 5,109
Due from non-controling shareholders U E R R SR 7R - 15,253 - 15,253
Restricted cash XRHHRE - 92 - 92
Pledged time deposits BEATHER - 43,473 - 43473
Cash and bank balances Re RBTEH - 279,616 - 279,616
159,941 1,278,014 155,045 1,593,000
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 43. B 2 28 TR @)
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of Ty AE—BEMNSRTANRSER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)
are as follows: (Continued)
2022 —¥g-C-
Financial liabilities TEMEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
RAFHER
EA =i
HK$’000
FET
Trade payables ERTE SRR 44,597
Financial liabilities included in other payables, STAEMEMIR  EEERA K&
accruals and deposits received BlireremaE 221,093
Due to directors JETEE KA 4,349
Due to non-controlling shareholders JE AT FEHE AR AR 3R 3R IE 39,756
Convertible bonds AR &S 58,171
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B ZIRITIEE 1,629,186
Lease liabilities MEAR 97,521
2,094,673
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

A3. HHEMNz2m T H @)

TR BENSBITANBEHAR

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows: (Continued)

RBREE - (&)

2021 —E-
Financial assets TREE
Financial Financial
assefs at assets at
fair value fair value
through through other
profit or loss Financial comprehensive
- Mandatorily assets at income
designated amortised - Equity
as such cost investments Total
BATESE
HHlEE RRAMZE
RATESR WARE 2
RRERFRE A S AR AT SREE
NemAE ENeBEE ~EnkE H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR ThAR THET
Due from associates AN P ¢ - 394,369 - 394,369
Loans to an associate LT -HEBERRZER - 41,680 - 41,680
Equity investments designated at fair value through 8 B3R AT EFI% &
other comprehensive income REMEZARAFREZ
BERE - - 154,168 154,168
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss & AF(E5I K kA B F
RENSREE 223,990 - - 223,990
Trade receivables ERESER - 31,662 - 31,662
Financial assets included in other receivables, SIARM KRR  RE R
deposits and prepayment BRRECEBEE - 238,410 - 238,410
Due from directors ElREETE - 4779 - 4,779
Due from non-controling shareholders R ERIRR B - 8,280 - 8,280
Structured deposits HREEER 149,649 - - 149,649
Restricted cash XRHHRE - 106 - 106
Pledged time deposits BEATHER = 44,823 = 44,823
Cash and bank balances ReRRTEH = 413,573 = 413573
373,639 1,177,682 154,168 1,705,489
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3. EEEM Nz 2@ T H @
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of Ty AE—BEMNSRTANRSER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)
are as follows: (Continued)
2021 T —F
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
A% 55
XA B HY
TRBaE
HK$ 000
FET
Trade payables FERTE SRR 43,945
Financial liabilities included in other payables, SEAEMEMERR B ER K
accruals and deposits received Blkeremas 227,065
Due to non-controlling shareholders JE A FEHE R AR 3R 3K IE 35,353
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B ZRITEE 1,638,199
Lease liabilities HEBE 87,647

2,032,209
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 4. 2 ITRZAFHEREAFHE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL J& %
INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s management is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, management analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by management.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

Management has assessed that the carrying amounts
of financial assets included in trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, loans to an associate, amounts
due from associates, amounts due from directors,
amounts due from non-controlling shareholders, restricted
cash, pledged time deposits, cash and bank balances,
trade payables, financial liabilities included in other
payables, accruals and deposits received, amounts due
to directors, amounts due to non-controlling shareholders,
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities
reasonably approximate to their fair values largely due to
the short term maturities/no fixed terms of repayment of
these instruments or because the effect of discounting
not reflected in the carrying amounts of these instruments
are not material. The fair values of the non-current portion
of financial assets included in other receivables, deposits,
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities have
been calculated and assessed mainly by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities, as appropriate. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance
risk for finance lease payables, interest-bearing bank
borrowings and lease liabilities as at 31 March 2022 and
31 March 2021 were assessed to be insignificant.

AEEEREEARETERMTARYE
AAEZBEEER REHRERY BE
ErofemTAZEEESIBETHE
TERCEIERABE-HEREEE
B R ALE -

Az

ERMITANAFERZTIARENRS
hESERETRS GERblgEE R
B ARBHERBAR

EEECTEACREECZESEK
BRFK - b EUER R RIZS « 45 T —
ENRIME R - U & QB8 KIE -
JEWNZE E IR - EWIEIE AR AR R kIR - &
REIRE BEBEHER  Re kiRT
e ENBEZEREREFASRMNESZ
HMEMER B E2ARERIES
JERTEE IR B IEIERR R FKIA
MEZRTEE UAHEAEMNER
B FZRINPAGE ZETAETE
ETEFARIELENZETAE IR
HERMZITRTERBTRE WA
FEAFSEZERAEAEMBASE AR
FHMEEMEWEER - S B ZRITE
ErHEaGE MR seREEY
ATFEFESBERABELER =
BRRNMGTEHA (@A) 2 TAK
ERA B2 ETRBHARRERE
FERAE R _F=A=+—
B _-_Z-_—F=A=+—H K&£H
HEMNBRERE WEZRITEERE
EBEBEZAFTBARRBENFENR
BEIHABYTEKN-
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of listed equity and debt investments
classified as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income/financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and structured deposits that are stated at fair
value are based on market values/fair values provided by
financial institutions.

The fair values of unlisted investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income have been
estimated using the asset-based approach based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The valuation approaches require the
directors to analyse the value of the underlying assets
which is then discounted for considerations such as
marketability.

Below is a summary of the significant unobservable input
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2022 and
31 March 2021:

Notes to Consolidated Flnanmal Statements

BB Ok W aE
g::ff: ZF—ALFE

44. e TR Z2 A FH kA FH
J& B ()

DEREERAFEIREAEMEE
WARREE EMERREFRENRD
FEMBATEIRENERTEREN
ERMEENRTFERMESHREFE-D
BERBEAFEIRENBETEENS
BEEMNFLTRERRAFEZIIN
BREFFNAFERSBEEMIEH
HTHE RTEFE-

BERAFEIERENEMEmEBEAT
BRI 23 EMIR BN A FEEREAE
EMEXNREIRTFORREREE
ARG R EEDEZEREEON
BEZHBEME AREEERIMS
mMABMEEEREFELTE

XA TABENERTAERR
BABBERR T __F=A=1+—
BE_ZE-_—F=A=+—BWNELEK
RE DT

Significant valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range
BAMhERN k-2 3PN ¢ gE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
Unlisted investments Asset-based approach Discount for lack of 30% 35%

marketability

FLETIRE BEAWE
As at 31 March 2022, it was estimated that with all other
variables held constant, a decrease/increase in discount
for lack of marketability by 1% would result in increase/
decrease in the Group’s other comprehensive income by
approximately HK$356,000 (2021: HK$533,000).

BREMERBMITE

R-_E-_—F=ZA=+—H8 KHEH
EERFAENBERT  ErrBE™
SRR D IS % E AR
B2 H b2 mE U A 00,5 4 49356,000
7B (ZZ = —% : 533,000 7T) °




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 4. 2 THRZ A FHE R A FHE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL J& & (m)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 2N F 1 JE R
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TREAAEESRTIAZ ATEFE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: [BAR
Financial assets measured at fair value: EAFHIEZEMERE:
As at 31 March 2022 R-E-_—_F=HF=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AVLEHERRA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REEBTS EATEE EAFUEE
ZHE BAE WARE
(%5-18) (2=8) (B=E) Fob el
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT TET TET TER
Equity investments designated at fair value EERATETIERREM
through other comprehensive income FHUARE ERRE 119,492 - 35,553 155,045
Financial assets at fair value through BRTETIR LA ERES
profit or loss REZCREE 104,537 55,404 - 159,941
224,029 55,404 35,553 314,986
As at 31 March 2021 R_FE_—F=H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ATEFERR
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

iSEY IR BEATER EBEATABR
4B EUN-§ EIN-§

(F—1&) (F=RB) (B=E) nE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THx TR THET

Equity investments designated at fair value EERATEIRRRNER
through other comprehensive income PEBRAREZERRE 119,511 = 34,657 154,168
Structured deposits BEUEER - 149,649 - 149,649

Financial assets at fair value through RATESRERRBET

profit or loss REZERERE 181,750 42,240 - 223,990

301,261 191,889 34,657 527,807
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings, and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rate risks relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.
The effective interest rates and terms of repayment of
the interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements. Interest
rate risk is managed on an ongoing basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in
interest rates.

Assuming the bank borrowings outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease in interest rates
would decrease/increase the Group'’s profit before tax for
the current year by approximately HK$16,292,000 (2021:
HK$16,382,000).

In the opinion of the directors, the sensitivity to the interest
rate used above is considered reasonable with the other
variables held constant.

45. B B B B E AR R BOK

AEEZIZERMIABEME ZRIT
BE - URBRERRTEHR - ZFTR
TAZIZENRRAEEEBKESRE
T AKENELHEERAEBELZ
HiemEENRBE PIMEKE SR
R ERE B

rEBEESRMITAPR 2 EEZRRAFE
Ek - EERR - REE SRR KRER
R-ERCEMKRAEEEZEZRKZ
B BT o

kY
AEBEES 2 MSMAEEER TR
RARSBIZFHMERFBZRITEE-
AEEZMERTEEZERENERE
BIFFBEBER IR TEI0 o FI R R
RORGEEEEE TERBRARG
NMEFRXFRXNETINESZE IR
o

BERREHAREREEZRTEE
REEFE AR EE  BFIEE N5
DI0EEB S AEBREAFEE 2K
ot A1 2 SR >, 18 N %916,292,0007%8 7T
— T~ —%:16,382,000/8 7T ) °

EERR REMESHFTE 2T
T'Mt%%Zﬂi@@Eﬂw%Aﬁ°
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK

The Group trades mainly with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures, as appropriate.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

For properties that are still under development, the Group
typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with
individual customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to
finance their purchase of the properties for an amount
up to 80% of the total purchase price of the properties.
If a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage
loan during the term of the guarantee, the bank holding
the mortgage loan may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding amount under the loan and any accrued
interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is
able to retain the customer’s deposits and sell the related
property to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the
bank. Unless the selling price would drop by no less than
20%, the Group would not be in a loss position in selling
the property out and in this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is largely
mitigated.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

45. B B B o B E AR R BOK

(8)

{5 1 M Fg
AEEETRENZAEERHFNFE =T
EITR S - REAKERR ARREE
HETRINEFLPHARBEENEER
BERF - UM AREREERERE
ﬁ%o

RERFYMENS  NEERTHES
EFRBEMEMEBEMELNRIBE
FAEEO B ERRITRMAER  MER
TRERDSMFRBEEMNG% - IR
BEORERHIBAMEERBERELNY.
A AR ERNRITAIRE G ERAE
BEEEFE TR REERALZLZER
AR E U FMRRT A
SEARBEPONREL HEEMEL
EAEEREAAAEE N TRITHR
R BRIFEB TEADR20% AEE N
SHEEERMERATELS Bt A
RAEERRAEENEERBRARR
& -

Ja K B PR R 5 oK B

TRETNR=A=1t—HAREBEXEEDN
EEBR (EZ2UBHERR/ERE BRIE
BERLERZNAREHAAESEM
BERAISENR) NEELEREREER
B ERARFRERD B -FIREERS
TREEZREAE
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45. B B B i P E AR R BOK

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

CREDIT RISK (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)

As at 31 March 2022

(%)
& B a M g
Ja B b IR R 4 K B & (8)

R-ZB-__f=A=1+—H

12-month Lifetime

ECLs ECLs

128 A BH 2HES

FEFE FEFE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-RER FoREBR FEREBR Bt A% &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THT THT THT
Due from associates** JE WO D B 2 R 471,743 s s s 471,743
Loans to an associate** BF-BRELRAZER™ 43,102 s s s 43,102
Trade receivables* EWE S ER - - - 53,476 53,476
Financial assets included in other FARMERERR 22K

receivables, deposits and prepayments BN HEZERMEE 393,025* s 19,210 s 412,235
Due from directors** EREEHE 5,109 s s s 5,109
Due from non-controlling shareholders**  FEU JE 12 I IR R X8+ 15,253 - - - 15,253
Restricted cash" SREEE 92 - - - 92
Pledged time deposits" EEARHER 43,473 - - - 43,473
Cash and bank balances" BERBITER 279,616 - - - 279,616
1,251,413 - 19,210 53,476 1,324,099
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 45. W B A B E B HE R R
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
CREDIT RISK (Continued) f5 B R B (a0
Maximum exposure and year-end staging Jal B b PR R 4 R B S (s
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-——F=HA=+—H
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
128 AT 2 HEH
FEBE FEBE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E o153 FRB E-RB e H* A&t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THER TR TR

Due from associates** PE B 1N B) 2 FRIE 394,369 = = = 394,369

Loans to an associate** BT-BHEARAZER™ 41,680 = = = 41,680

Trade receivables* EWE 5 &R - - - 56,204 56,204

Financial assets included in other FARMERKER RER

receivables, deposits and prepayments ~ BAREZERMEE 223,504 = 31,973 = 255,477

Due from directors** ERESHE 4,779 = = = 4,779

Due from non-controlling shareholders**  FEUR 32 B IR R X8+ 8,280 = = = 8,280

Restricted cash® ZRHERE" 106 - - - 106

Pledged time deposits" EEARHER 44,823 = = = 44,823

Cash and bank balances" BERBITEH 413,573 - - - 413,573

1,131,114 - 31,973 56,204 1,219,291

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the * HRAEBRAGCRER ENEK
simplified approach for impairment, information based on H SR AR EEENEMEMB
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial MK MI FE23 P 5 o
statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial instruments is considered * eRIANGREERREARILE
“normal”, as they are not past due and there is no Bl BAAMMLER ©EEER
information indicating that the financial instruments had a FAZEeR T EERVBERURE
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. R EZL e

8 Not yet past due " i 7 380 AP

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s FREAEEEERERKE SRR

exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are ERkE—FTEEE  RPB®RE

disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements. M 3E23 M I EE -




45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds
by considering the maturity of its financial assets and

liabilities and projected cash flows.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank

and other borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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45. W B A by B
(%)
mEE2 R
rEE#EEECREERAGEMEIEA
URFE RS REREREE ST

LRER Y 3§

H|§uu °
AEENB R AEBERRTREME
£ EEHBMREEREZHEREF
fiyo

TERAREERRERARNEHMEE"
B HRIFTBRMREFTENZIHIER

2022
—E-CF
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—FUT —F
RRERE ZRE BENLE @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TER
Trade payables ERESER 44,597 - - 44,597
Financial liabilities included in other TAHMESER EHER
payables, accruals and deposits received KZKEEzERER 182,491 355 6,718 189,564
Due to directors ENESRE 4,349 - - 4,349
Due to non-controlling shareholders EAFEERRRAE 39,756 - - 39,756
Convertible bonds ARRES 2,263 76,095 - 78,358
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 30) 8z 8 1TE & (M3E30) 943,028 686,158 - 1,629,186
Interest payments on interest-bearing bank FfE 28R THEE 2
borrowings FEXH 3,265 7,672 5,799 16,736
Lease liabilities HEAE 51,537 59,101 - 110,638
Guarantees given to banks in connection ~ FYMEEREREEM
with facilities granted to property BRTELER
purchasers 143 - - 143
1,271,429 829,381 12,517 2,113,327
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 45. W B A B E B HE R R
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) R &2k a
2021
—T-—F
Within 1 year
or on demand 1105 years Over 5 years Total
—FLT —F
FRERE ERF AFNUE @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT FET THT
Trade payables ENESERR 43,945 - - 43,945
Financial liabilities included in other FTAHMES IR B ER
payables, accruals and deposits received REWEREZERER 223,662 3,403 - 227,065
Due to non-controlling shareholders EAFERRRNE 35,353 - - 35,353
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 30) fff £ 2 8175 & (F&E30) 1,079,859 558,340 - 1,638,199
Interest payments on interest-bearing bank HfE 2B TEE 2
borrowings FEXf 16,782 2,985 - 19,767
Lease liabilities HEER 46,935 44,544 5,889 97,368
Guarantees given to banks in connection ~ HYEEZEREEM
with facilities granted to property | R ATIE R AR
purchasers 1,858 - - 1,858

1,448,394 609,272 5,889 2,063,555
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 45. W B A By o B OB Rk UK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) REE2ERE e
Note: Included in interest-bearing bank borrowings are term MeE: MBZRAOTBEPALEEEY

loans with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$768,217,000 (2021: HK$360,205,000). The loan
agreements contain repayment on-demand clauses giving
the banks the unconditional right to call in the loans at any
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity
profile, the total amount is classified as “on demand” and
has been classified as current liabilities.

Notwithstanding the above clauses, the directors do not
believe that the loans will be called in entirety within 12
months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the
loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval
of the financial statements; the Group’s compliance with
the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and the
fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled
repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain
repayment on-demand clauses, the maturity profile of
those loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the
effect of any repayment on-demand clauses, is as follows:

768,217,000 T2 EHEK (=
— —4F : 360,205,000/ 7T ) - B &K 1%
EEE BRI E RIS
4T ERITE G BB R 2B FER -
At st E BB R M E - 2550
T A REXR] RESEAREEAE

&

BEANLER EEXTRA/ZA
EFEIM2(EA AR EBREBERE -
EEZRRZAERARBEE R &
P2 218 H R R - XA E B
SEEMEFBRRE B ZHBM
T AREBEETERRZLY AEELD
TR RARE—BERFETHAR
AR LB e -

BRIFE & T8 — & ERENRE IR
MEFER RBEPR ZZER
LAB BIARITER A RGETE R 2B Z 5k A]
ﬁﬁﬁZEﬂﬁﬁ FEMNBIHER
nr

Within 1 year

or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

—FUTH —F
RERK ZIF BENE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TER
As at 31 March 2022 RZZEZZf=A=1+—H 416,431 352,910 12,230 781,571
As at 31 March 2021 RZZEZ—%=A=1+—H 161,922 170,665 41,502 374,089
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 45. BB e s B H R R WK

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the values of individual securities.
The Group was exposed to equity price risk arising
from individual listed equity investments classified as
equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (note 18) and listed equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (note 19) as at 31 March 2022 and
2021.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Hong
Kong, Shenzhen and Shanghai stock exchanges and are
valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period.

The market equity index for the following stock
exchanges, at the close of business of the nearest trading

(8)

ik 18 e B

AR A B & R bR 1 E IR R4 BUKF K E R
BHEEEZZHMEBRAFLF AT
BT zEAB Rk =_F=—
FZA=Z+—H AEBAEYZKA
BRERTIKREDEAIEEEATET]
RERNEMEERARE 2 ERSRE,/
A HERE (MisE18) 2 @R E iz
RERDBEAEAFETIEERNRIBET
BRI SBBE (MF19) R i
BE -

AEENETHREEERS Rk LB
RERZ T LT RIRR®E RO TS
WEME-

MHEESFEH(RNFAZRERR 2K
BORXHAEERRERE)  RFRZ

day in the year to the end of the reporting period, and the EaAEEHAT:
respective highest and lowest points during the year were
as follows:
High/low High/low
during the during the
Asat  year ended As at year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2022 2022 2021 2021
REBZE REZ
—E-CE —E-—F
ZA=t-H =ZA=+-H
R=ZB=Z% LEER |RZT_—% EFEA
=A=t-A  2&/@|=A=t-R  ZR/E
Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index EHE—fEEEY 21,997 29,491/18,235 28,378 31,183/22,520
Shenzhen - SZSE Component Index 28 31| — 378 25 fX 15 8 85 12,118 15,290/11,331 13,779 16,293/9,897
Shanghai - SSE Composite Index |8 — &4 & 88 3,253  3,724/3,023 3,442 3,732/2,720
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
EQUITY PRICE RISK (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

%Aﬁa‘iﬁﬁi%liﬂﬂ
AL FE

45. B B B i P E AR R BOK

(8)

W 18 A Bg (@)

NRBERTA LM BRI T E LORE
BEMBECEET REESRER
i&%,ﬁﬁﬂizﬁﬁﬁfﬁ ;’T%ET&EZ"?

Z?EEE’D\$TE§IJEE&EAﬁF@%EH&)\

for the listed equity investments designated at fair value RIBZ FTERIREMS - BHEZEH
through other comprehensive income, the impact is REHAFERBEBENTE-
deemed to be on the fair value reserve.
Carrying
amount Changes Increase/
of equity in profit decrease
investments before tax in equity*
BniRE
FEE RBRENENEH BAE/ B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAT TET
2022 —E-CF
Investments listed in: LTRER:
Hong Kong - Equity investment at fair value &8 — A 4 2 E U AP
thought other comprehensive REZERRE
income (note 18) CiEat) 119,492 - 5,974
Hong Kong - Financial assets at fairvalue & - RERPREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (MH19) 67,207 3,360 -
Shanghai - Financial assets at far value - ERTREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SRAE (M9) 4,301 215 =
2021 —T--F%
Investments listed in: FTRER:
Hong Kong - Equity investment at fair value &8 —REM 2 ERAF
thought other comprehensive REERRE
income (note 18) (HE18) 119,511 - 5976
Hong Kong - Financial assets at fairvalue & - REZFREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (M19) 74,230 3712 =
Shanghai - Financial assets at fair value LE-RERTREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (M19) 4,728 236 =

* Excluding effect on retained profits

© TREREHNZYE
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group's capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its businesses and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for the undertaking by the Company
under a banking facility letter granted to a subsidiary
of the Group to maintain a minimum consolidated
tangible net worth of HK$3,000,000,000 (2021:
HK$3,000,000,000), which has been complied with
during the year. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021.

45. B % )i by B B H KR R BUK

(8)
woAE N
ARBALERNEERE ARRE
SEABRERRNLS  ARHIEE
MERLLE AT RIS FIS
AR EE

AEERBLEEEANEH RHE@AE
ENRREL BEEERNEBIIED
A - REBAABRERLER ~5H
AARMBRERERS MRRREES
RABETHR -BRARBRAIEER 2 —
MM BARERZIRITEREREM
REZEAFBRBEEREBREE
J#183,000,000,000/ 70 (=T = — 4 :
3,000,000,000%& 7£) (RFRNE ESF)
I AREBIEAMINEENZ EARE
keBEZZ-—_F=A=1+—HK=
T =A==t BLFERN TE
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 45. W % W B & P H R R BOR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (#)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) & AE M (5)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, REBUEARBEL R (BAEENHE
which is defined as the Group’s interest-bearing bank ZRITEERE S RIRITES EBH
borrowings, net of cash and bank balances, structured FEx-ZRHRe REBERETHEFERE
deposits, restricted cash and pledged time deposits as a EAREBEERBECBEI L) BEZEER
percentage of the Group’s total equity. The gearing ratios BN c RIEHREREE/LENT -
as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FExT FHET
Interest-bearing bank borrowings i & Z R1TfE & 30 1,629,186 1,638,199
Convertible bonds MR ES 58,171 =
Less: Cash and bank balances i : IR & & iR1T 45 85 26 (279,616) (413,5793)
Structured deposits BEEMETR 20 - (149,649)
Pledged time deposits EEBTEETR 26 (43,473) (44,823)
Net debt FEE 1,364,268 1,030,154
Total equity HERAEE 4,078,405 3,831,208
Gearing ratio BRBEKRE 33.5% 26.9%
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

46. A 2 5 2 W B ik 0 &

RBERR RN Z2HBRRRZE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: A
2022 2021
=—F=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R EMNEIE - T 2,116,604 1,999,575
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 2,116,604 1,999,575
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other receivables, deposits and Hh fE AR K -
prepayments e RFEMRIE 73 1,277
Due from a subsidiary JE Uk — R B B R B3R I8 80,000 80,000
Cash and bank balances Re M7 5,632 126,457
Total current assets MBEEBE 85,705 207,734
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M B ZIRITIEE (124,126) (154,262)
Other payables and accruals HEMNERERRESER (9,343) (8,194)
Due to directors BN EE A (18,102) (94,727)
Total current liabilities mENBERE (151,571) (257,183)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES KRB EETE (65,866) (49,449)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EE#AERARBAR
LIABILITIES 2,050,738 1,950,126
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Convertible bonds R E S (58,171) =
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B ZIRITIEE (101,826) (87,203)
Due to associates FETESE 2 A B FRIR (176,982) (182,597)
Total non-current liabilities RPN A EETE (336,979) (269,800)
Net assets BEFE 1,713,759 1,680,326
EQUITY R
Issued capital B 21T 157,136 138,280
Reserves (note) e (PfIsE) 1,556,623 1,542,046
Total equity W% aE 1,713,759 1,680,326
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 46. & 2\ 2 BB 0 & (a0
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: M 5E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABZHBRENT :
Equity
Share  component Capital Share
premium of convertible  Contributed  redemption option Retained
account bonds surplus reserve reserve profits Total
TRARES
RAEER BRH5 BRES EXBRfRE BRERR REEA @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iR TER AR TER FER ThR FER

A1 April 2020 R-Z-ZFME-A 1,397,359 5 59,759 316 4532 2391 1554357
Loss for the year and total ’EEBBRATE

comprehensive loss for the year 2EREAE - - - - = (18,729) (18,729)
Equity-settled share option arrangements INEREE 2 BRERH - - - - 866 - 866
Issue of shares upon placing of shares RERMBRTHREG 43,265 - - - - - 43,265
Final 2020 dividend ZECTERERS - - - - = (37,719) (37,713)
At 31 March 2021 and at 1 April 2021 R-B--F=f=+-HK

RZB--£RA-A 1,440,624 5 59,759 316 5398 35040 1,542,046

Loss for the year and total AEERFRFERE

comprehensive loss for the year 2HRALE - - - - - (19,928) (19,928)
Equity-settled share option arrangements ~ HEHSE 2 BREZH - - - - 149 - 149
Transfer of share option reserve upon REBRE XM

forfeiture of share options ERERERE - - - - (36) 36 -
Issue of convertible bonds BOTRRES - 16,162 - - - - 16,162
Issue of shares upon subscription of shares RERBEZETHRE 65,335 - - - - = 65,335
Final 2021 dividend “E--FRERE - - (47,141) - - - (47,141)
At 31 March 2022 R=B-=f£zfA=+-§ 1,505,959 16,162 12,618 316 5511 16,057 1,556,623
The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a KRRz EBEHEBTIE—LNL—FN\A
result of the Group reorganisation on 12 August 1991 +—BZAEEEAmMES AEARQT
and represented the difference between the nominal BOIRAEEEBEBEASEEEHAM
value of the share capital issued by the Company and BeWBRARZEHEEFBEZEZR
the combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired BMEBEFEZARBITZFE-

pursuant to the Group reorganisation, less the effects of
the bonus issue of shares in previous years.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z-—F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 46. AN 6 2 M BRI F 9

POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders under certain specific circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

47. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 27 June 2022.

47.

REBEARE-NN-FREE(KE
7)) BRIBSRARETHEEBRIDIKT
PR

BREFRRBERRLERRITEZER
BAVE FHE—THRTHRERHM
A2 AU REMIN 2 @R - %
SRARNEEBRERTERERER
0 (B AR 3R A B RE AR B B s R MR
REEERE G -

BB ok 2 i

BB BRRENR_E-_—_FNA=-++tH
KEESR AW IRES M-



Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group

Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWEME

as at 31 March 2022 are as follows:

Name/location

BB/

Tenure

ERKE

Type

i)

31 March 2022

CE - —HF=ZHA=+—H

R-E-_—F=ZA=+—BHAKEHFAENET
BREMEFBEWT

Approx. gross
floor area

(m?)
BEEEBROH
(EHK)

Effective
% held

BERER
BOL

Stage of
completion

52 A PR BR

Hong Kong
gH

Unit B, 26th Floor

Wyler Centre, Phase Il

200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories
R

RSB B2005%
EfRPOE_H

262B=E

Ground Floor and Cockloft
61 South Wall Road
Kowloon City, Kowloon
JUBE SRR A P 3

G615k ™ M 2

Shop on Ground Floor

No. 188 Hai Tan Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
Rk

BiEa

18855 Hy &

15th Floor and

Car park space No. 5
Young Ya Industrial Building
381-389 Sha Tsui Road
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
MARE

YD IH 78381-389%%
BLTERE

1518 &

T 557 B

Notes:

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

A

Medium term lease

A

Medium term lease

R HE A

Medium term lease

I A

I¥%¥

GES

GES

I¥

1,568

87

114

2,604

i3]

'13.;_\.,:

100

100

60

100

Completed

B

Completed

B

Completed

[R5359

Completed

MEFERI-IT¥ R—EE C-E*




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2022 —ZF_-_—#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -Z - —F=A=+—HAEBFHEHN T

as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: (Continued) EREYEFEOT : (B)
Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
BEEEHEBENH BERESE *
&8/ HRAKE <] (FEFHXK) B TEHER

Hong Kong
gH

Shop No. 1 on G/F Medium term lease  C 104 60 Completed
together with the loft

thereto, Beverly Court

Nos. 151-159 Hai Tan Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon )
NERKY hEITH A [EES BIEK
12 151-1505%

T

#1595 47

BERIEE

5/F and main roof Medium term lease R 50 90 Completed
No. 35 Tsing Yuen Street

Tai Po, New Territories ) \
RN R HITHAY F=x BIERK
TR AT355

hBRFEXRS

Ground Floor, Medium term lease  C 102 100 Completed
No. 102 Main Street Ap Lei Chau

Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong .
B ISANM EATE LY EES BIERK

B5 ) I K B51025%

wr

Shop on Ground and Cockloft Medium term lease  C 89 100 Completed
No. 186A Hai Tan Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon )
JLRERKES R HITH A [EES BEX
7818 47186A

T E R g

Shop on Ground Floor Medium term lease  C 7 100 Completed
No. 270 Ki Lung Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon

JUBERKE R EARE 4 RS EEX
& H52705%

T4

F'I{F

Notes: B

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T%¥ R—F=E C-&%




Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group

as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

LV L

Tenure

ERKE

Type

&5l

Schedule of Principal Properties
ii%%ﬁi
= H

31 March 2022 —ZF=ZZ—#F=H=+—

R-E-_—F=ZA=+—BHAKEHFAENET
RREMEFBEOT : (F)

Approx. gross Effective Stage of

floor area % held completion

(m?)
BEEEBROH BEREE
(EHK) BALk THRER

Hong Kong
g#

Flat F on 1st Floor
Gold Reserved Count
No. 16 Tai Main Lane
Tai Po, New Territories
WRKE

AR E169%

e

—EFE

Ground Floor

No. 355 Sha Tsui Road
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
HREHE

) 1B #E3555%

N

2nd Floor including Flat Roof and
Car Parking Space No. 19 on

Ground Floor
Shui Sum Industrial Building

Castle Peak Road/Kwai Sau Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories
R

SV S

R IEAE2ME

Kot 1957 JAE AL

Lot No 423 on D.D. 292
No. 18 Ko Tong Ha Yeung
Sai Kung, New Territories
HREE

=48 T F185%

EEMI 2NN
292473 R BB 4235%

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

A

Medium term lease

A

Medium term lease

R HIAR A

Medium term lease

R HIAR A

GES

Ix

50 100 Completed

B

53 70 Completed

B

1,082 67 Completed

[R5359

70 90 Completed

[R5359

i3]
MEER: I-IT% R—EE C—HHE

ﬁl{‘:




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2022 —ZF_-_—#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -Z - —F=A=+—HAEBFHEHN T

as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: (Continued) EREYEFEOT : (B)

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion

(m?)
BEEEHEBENH BERER *

8/ HRNtE 5l (FHK) B TEHER
Hong Kong
gH
Ground floor & 1st floor Medium term lease R 83 90 Completed

Lot No. 424 on D.D. 292
No.17 Ko Tong Ha Yeung
Sai Kung North, New Territories

MAAEIL HERFR A T=E BIEK
=T FEITHR

EEMLENN

FE2024) M B BB 4245%

TR —1E

Lot No. 1528 on D.D. 244 Medium term lease R 62 100 Completed

No. 30 3rd Lane, Ho Chung Village

Sai Kung, New Territories

MAEE hETEA Fx 2573014
BRI 853453058

EEMTEND

F 244K B 5152857

Mainland China
B K BE

Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease  C 28,390 100 Completed
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B R HIFR A [SES BEEK
AREBEIERBERR

FEPRERES

Notes: B E -

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T%¥ R—F=E C-&%




Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group

as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

LV L

Tenure

ERKE

Type

&5l

Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2022 —ZF=ZZ—#F=H=+—

FTEWEBE
=+—g

R-E-_—F=ZA=+—BHAKEHFAENET
RREMEFBEOT : (F)

Approx. gross
floor area

(m?)
BEEEBROH
(EHK)

Effective Stage of
% held completion

BERER
Bk TRER

Mainland China
K B

A building at Hua Shan Road
Chaotian Industrial Area
Shilou Town

Panyu District

Guan)gdon Province
URERE

HBE

R

BHIXR
ENK sz —BEF

Imperial Palace
Hong Yi Cun
Baoan South Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

AR B R
gl
H—1
REXE

14 Zu Miao Road
Chancheng District
Foshan Municipal
Il

By &

1B BAER145%

A building at Xi Huan Road
Chaotian Industrial Area
Shilou Town

Panyu District

Guangdong Province
URERE

EBE

AIgE

HHEI¥E

AR —BETF

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

R HIAR A

Long term lease

REHEQ

Medium term lease

REFEA

Medium term lease

ki)

Ix

C/R

GES

T

4,647

4,899

6,838

18,922

B &L -

100 Completed

[R5359

100 Completed

B

100 Completed

BEK

100 Completed

MEFER 1% R—EE C—E*




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2022 —ZF_-_—#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group
as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

Al

Tenure

ERKE

Type

i)

R-E-—F=A=+—BAKEFAENT
RREWMEFBEOT : (F)

Approx. gross
floor area

(m?)
BEEEBEOH
(EHK)

Effective
% held

BERER
BOL

Stage of
completion

52 A PR B}

Mainland China
K B

Carrianna Friendship Square
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
RIS =
ARBEREREREIAR
RS

Block 5, Hui Bo Commercial Centre
Guangzhou South Station

Shibi Street, Panyu District
Guanzhou City

Guangdong Province

BRA

BMmESRAES

M

EIETSE LaRPGY

An industrial complex at

18 Xingye Road

Xiuying District

Haikou City, Hainan Province
RN BmEE/AT

TR 18R — R

Service Apartments Block 3

Jiahui Plaza

Northern portion of Wandao Road
Quhai Community, Wanjiang District
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province
BRERSEM

BEIRfEtE

B

KB A 15

KUAES N

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

REHA

Medium term lease

A

Medium term lease

REHA

Medium term lease

A

C/R

LEYS
T

GES

Ix

C/R

Bx/
FE

4,210

9,203

15,907

3,682

GEE

100

100

65

100

Completed

[R5359

Completed

Completed

[R5359

Completed

WMEBR I -T% R-—EE -C—HEX



Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWE l% %
= H

31 March 2022 —ZF=ZZ—#F=H=+—

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-Z-—F=ZA=+—BAEBFEEE

equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: RZEEYEFIBOT:

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion

(m?)
HEEEHENH BERER

£/ HRME Al (FHK) B THER
Hong Kong
g8
Unit A, 26th Floor and Medium term lease | 812 100 Completed

Car park space Nos. 19, 20, 21,
22, 39 and 40 on 2nd Floor and
Lorry Parking Space No. L21

on 1st Floor, Wyler Centre, Phase |l
200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories
HRER R EITR AT Tx BIERK
KEHEE2005%

EmPLE =5

261EAZE R2EF19%

2055 + 215K ~ 225 -

395% A0SR BRI K

1Lk EHAE M

Unit 18 and 19 on 8th Floor Medium term lease | 298 60 Completed
Wah Sang Industrial Building

Nos. 14-18 Wong Chuk Yeung Street

Shatin, New territories

AW H R EITR AT Tx BIERK
BT EA14-185

EHET¥AE

BE18E R19E

ﬁl{‘:

Notes: e

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial PEFER I-T¥ R—FE C-—HZE




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2022 —ZF_-_—#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZE-—F=F=+—HAEBHEIEAY
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: % -HEMRBZ EEWEFBUOT : (F)
(Continued)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
(m?)
HEEEBROH BERESE
B/ HRMtE Ll (FHK) B THEER

Hong Kong
g

(i) The 12th floor of Tower Two, and ~ Medium term lease | 2,780 87% Completed
(ii) Flat Roof B2 on the 7th floor of

Tower Two

Ever Gain Plaza

No. 88 Container Port Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories

SRR FHITH A I BEK
& 1B 15 A R8sk

KIFHES

=B+ K

H—E+EEBETFAB2

Mainland China
B AR

Nos. 3-6, 5/F Medium term lease  C 1,068 100 Completed
Carrianna Friendship Square

Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RIS B = R HITH A EES BIERK
ARERREEREZA

EEMRERES

hHE3-65%

Notes: e

ﬁl{‘:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I- T R—F= C—&%




Schedule of Principal Properties
ii%%ﬁi
= H

31 March 2022 —ZF=ZZ—#F=H=+—

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZE-—F=F=+—HAEBHEIEAY
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: % -HEMRBZ ESWEFBO T (B)
(Continued)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
(m?)
HEEEBROH BEREE
8B/ HRMtE Ll (FHK) B THEER

Mainland China
K B

Units A, B, Cand D Medium term lease  C 557 100 Completed
14th Floor and Unit South B on

17th Floor, Lianhua Building

Renmin South Road, Luohu District

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B = R HITR AT S BIERK
Ee ARBE

BEXE

14#A B -CKRDE R17EMBE

Room 301-304, 321-326 Long term lease C 1,670 100 Completed
Shenzhen Centre

Commercial Building, Min Tian West

Road, Futian Centre District

Futian District

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RYNE R = REED [EES BIEMK
AR

BETOREAKA

RN LEBRE

301-304% [2321-326 %

14 Zu Miao Road Medium term lease  C 12,954 100 Completed
Chancheng District

Foshan Municipal

Gl FEIFR A EES =354
B R

16 BB K 1457

ﬁﬂ:

Notes: 5]

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T¥ R—F=E C—&%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2022 —ZF_-_—#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZE-—F=F=+—HAEBHEIEAY
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: % -HEMRBZ EEWEFBUOT : (F)
(Continued)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
(m?)
HEEEBROH BERESE
B/ HRMtE Ll (FHK) B THEER

Mainland China
K B

Sales Centre Medium term lease  C 1,739 100 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

HE; R HITHA) G 2EX
BEBLERMAER

B RAB R ACR

ZHP L

Commercial Units numbered 8-S113, Medium term lease  C 2,036 100 Completed
8-S212, 8-S301 and 8-S401 of the

4-storey building, and 10 parking

spaces at basement Level 1

No. 8 Building on Land A3-4

Fifth Avenue,

Runcheng Apartment Complex

Qianxing Road, Xishan District

Kunming, Yunan Province

EMEREHAD R HITR A BE BIEK
7811 [ A B R

B NRELKE

A3-43t 3881 2 M EHE T

#5% /8-S113 - 8-8212 »

8-530118-S401 2 R A B S B s

ARRZEFHEIE 2

10fEfF E iz

ﬁﬂ:

Notes: 5]

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YIEER I-T% R—FE C—B%




Schedule of Principal Properties
ii%%ﬁi
= H

31 March 2022 —ZF=ZZ—#F=H=+—

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the R-E-_—F=ZA=+—HAAEKEFELE

Group as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: R EEMEFFET

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion

(m?)
HEEEHENH BERER

£/ HRME Al (FHK) B THER
Mainland China
B A B
Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease  C/R 212 100 Completed

Junction Renmin Road South
and Chunfeng Road
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

A B R hETE A GEYS 2EK
AREERERBRR F=E

HERRAES

Imperial Palace Long term lease C/R 1563 100 Completed
Hong Yi Cun

Baoan South Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN BE = REBAL GEY4 BEX
BELmK F=E

Ht—#f

BEAE

Notes: B

ﬁfl{F

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial WEER: I-IT% R-—FE C-B%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2022 —ZF_-_—#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the R-ZT-_—F=ZA=+—BAEEFAEL

Group as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: (Continued) EZEEMEFBOT : (&)
Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
(m?)

BEEEHENH BERER
B/ HRME Al (F5HK) Bolk THER
Mainland China
hE K
Leather Trade Centre Medium term lease  C 34,510 100 Completed

East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road B section

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

& /% R EARE 4 RS EEX
BRI R B R

Ew%?‘%[

R AE B EBR

REREZSH L

Building Materials Trade Centre Medium term lease  C 49,157 100 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

; */’é  HARE 4 [EES BIEK
7B B R R B R

Em%?%[

R AR ACR

BN R0

ﬁl{‘:

Notes: e

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T¥ R—F=E C—&%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWE l% %
= H

31 March 2022 —ZF=ZZ—#F=H=+—

Particulars of principal properties under development held by R-E-_—F=ZA=+—HAEEFELE

the Group as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: (Continued) P EFEYEFBOT: (B)
Expected

Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date

(m?)

THER BREE

1t B A® (FFHK) FERL P B Aot BRERBH
Mainland China
h B K B
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 26,069 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road B section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

HE; BE/EE mETRETH TEA
EEBKERMAER

R A B BB

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 77,757 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road F section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

HE; HE/EE METRETH NEH
BEBLERMAE R

LB R A AR EFR

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 22,731 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road C section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang
BE; HE/x WETRETH NiE A
EEB B R MR

IR AB B ECK




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2022 —ZF_-_—#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties under development held by R-E-_—F=ZA=+—HAKEFELE

the Group as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: (Continued) FrZEFEYEFBOT: (B)
Expected

Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date

(m?)

T EE BEREE

1t B A® (FFHXK) 5E RL B B Aot BEIEMBH
Mainland China
B K pE
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 93,643 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road E section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

BEE mE/EE WETRETH TEA
EEBLERMAER

B R A B ER

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 122,577 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road G section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang
BEE HE/Ex WETRETH NiE A
BEBLERMAER

H IR RAB BRI GER
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